
6:30 CALL TO ORDER
6:30 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
6:35 APPROVAL OF AGENDA
6:35

6:40

A.
B.
C.
D.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

E.

F.
G.

H.

I.
J.

K.

L.
M.

N.
O.

6:45 OPEN FORUM 

7:00 STAFF, CONSULTANT AND COUNCIL UPDATES

COUNCIL BUSINESS
New Business

7:15 P.

7:45 Q.
8:15 R.

8:25 S.

8:35 T.

8:40 ADJOURNMENT

The City of Dayton's mission is to promote a thriving community and to provide residents with a safe and 
pleasant place to live while preserving our rural character, creating connections to our natural resources, 

and providing customer service that is efficient, fiscally responsible, and responsive.

REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL - 6:30 P.M.

Is limited to Three minutes for non-agenda items; state your name and 
address; No Council Action will be taken and items will be referred back 
to staff

Approval of Conditional Job Offer for Two Full Time Officers Christian McCarty and 
Josiah Needham and Conditional Job Offer for Part-Time Officer Marlen Salazar 
Approval of Resolution 35-2025; Municipal Concent for Purchase 17060 Dayton 
River Road by Three Rivers Park District 

Approval of a Temporary Liquor License and Gambling Permit for Church of St. 
John the Baptist on August 3rd 

These routine or previously discussed items are enacted with 
one motion. Any questions on items should have those items 
removed from consent agenda and approved separately.

CONSENT AGENDA 

Approval of Resignation from EDA Member Juan Peralta 

Approval of Pay Request 9 for the Wellhouse 5 Project

Budget Discussion for Ideas on 2026 Budget from Council

Dehn's Country Manor

Dayton Bar & Grill

Approval of Pay Application 12 for Well Head Treatment to Magney Construction 

Dayton Gas Stop

AGENDA
CITY OF DAYTON, MINNESOTA

12260 S. Diamond Lake Road, Dayton, MN 55327
Tuesday, May 27, 2025

Approval of Liquor License Renewals

Approval of Council Meeting Minutes of May 13, 2025

Approval of Payment of Claims for May 27, 2025

The invite for Zoom for this meeting can be found on the City's website community calendar

Approval of Work Session Meeting Minutes of May 13, 2025

Life Saving Award- Recognition To Police and Fire For the Efforts on April 08, 2025

Dayton Wine & Spirits
Daytona Country Club

Approval of 113th Avenue/East French Lake Road Moratorium Area Concept Plans

Action Items
Approval of Parkway Neighborhood Infrastructure Design Proposal

Sundance Entertainment Center
Kwik Trip # 1157
Fisher Farms

Ordinance 2025-14; Updating City Code Chapter 31

Approval of Pay Application 1 for Vada Contracting for the Elsie Stephens North 
Pedestrian Bridge Payment
Approval of Pay Application 1 for the 2024 Park Improvement Project Park Irrigation 
Well and Electrical Supply  
Approval of Change Order 3 for MSA Water Trail Contract 
Approval of Pay Application 1 for the 2024 Park Improvement Project Park Irrigation 
Installation 

Approval of Resolution 34-2025; Accepting Donation from John D'Agostini for 
Police Department 

Approval of Feasibility Study and Authorize the Preparation of Plans and 
Specifications for the Dayton Parkway Signals Project 

1



COUNCIL MEETING      CITY OF DAYTON, MINNESOTA 
MAY 13, 2025           12260 SO. DIAMOND LAKE ROAD 
6:30 P.M.         HENNEPIN/WRIGHT COUNTIES 
PAGE 1 OF 4        

CALL TO ORDER 
Fisher called the regular meeting of Dayton City Council to order on May 13, 2025 at 
6:30 PM. 
PRESENT: Dennis Fisher, David Fashant, Stephanie Henderson, Scott Salonek, and 
Sara Van Asten 
ABSENT: None 
ALSO PRESENT: Public Works Superintendent, Marty Farrell; City Engineer, Jason 
Quisberg; Fire Chief, Gary Hendrickson; Police Chief, Paul Enga; City 
Administrator/Finance Director, Zach Doud; Planner II, Hayden Stensgard; City 
Attorney, Amy Schmidt   

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
MOTION: Motion made by Fashant, seconded by Van Asten, to approve the 
agenda. The motion to approve the amended agenda passed 5-0. 

Doud requested two changes to the agenda: 
● Addition of item J1 under Consent: Accepting the resignation of Planning

Commission member Nick Preisler and approving posting to fill the vacant
seat.

● Moving item N before item K.

Presentation Of Fire Poster Winner (Third Grader) 
Fire Chief Hendrickson presented Sharon, a third-grade student at Dayton 
Elementary, as the winner of the fire poster contest for the Chiefs Association. 
Sharon's poster was selected first place out of 120 statewide for third grade 
submissions. She received a $75 check as her prize, and her poster will be featured 
on the cover of the Chiefs Association spring magazine. 

CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Approval of Council Meeting Minutes of April 22, 2025
B. Approval of Local Board of Appeals Meeting Minutes of April 22, 2025
C. Approval of Payment of Claims for May 13, 2025
D. Approval of Resolution 26-2025; Accepting Donation from Spikes and

Houles
E. Approval of Resolution 31-2025; Accepting Donation from Julie

Schoephoerster
F. Approval of Resolution 32-2025; Accepting Donation from Fully Promoted
G. Approval of Resolution 33-2025; Accepting Donation from Magnus Veterans

Foundation
H. Approval of Waiving Fees for Operation Zero

2



COUNCIL MEETING                   CITY OF DAYTON, MINNESOTA 
MAY 13, 2025                                             12260 SO. DIAMOND LAKE ROAD 
6:30 P.M.                               HENNEPIN/WRIGHT COUNTIES 
PAGE 2 OF 4                        
 
I. Approval of Resolution 29-2025; "Blanket" Regarding Part-Time Police 

Officers  
J. Approval of Seasonal Hires for Public Works  

MOTION: Motion made by Fashant, seconded by Henderson, to approve the 
consent agenda. The consent agenda passed 5-0.  

Salonek noted that the donation from Magnus Veterans Foundation used about 25% 
of the allotted budget for such items. Doud acknowledged this and said they would 
be cognizant of how much is spent on these types of donations. 
Fashant inquired about donations related to dog treat stations in parks. Doud and 
Farrell explained that these were sponsorships for treat bins located in 6 different 
park locations, fabricated by public works staff. 
Van Asten noted some discrepancies in the resolution numbers in the packet. Doud 
acknowledged the oversight and apologized for the last-minute preparation. 
Fisher asked for clarification on Item I regarding part-time officers and PERA 
benefits. Enga and Doud explained that this blanket resolution would allow part-time 
officers to have their earnings count towards their PERA retirement top 5 salaries. 

OPEN FORUM 
Thurber Spaanem of 11250 East French Lake Road addressed the council regarding 
his pole barn that burned down last Labor Day weekend. Spaanem was concerned 
about a recent meeting with the planning and community development director 
regarding potential storage business allegations. Spaanem requested approval for a 
17-inch variance to rebuild his garage. Spaanem emphasized that he is not running 
a storage business and is only looking to rebuild what he previously had. 

STAFF, CONSULTANT, AND COUNCIL UPDATES 
Doud provided updates on the Mississippi Trail timeline, an upcoming open house at 
the public works facility, and ongoing discussions about porta-potties in parks. 
Farrell reported on well rehabilitation, water usage statistics, bridge construction 
completion, and park irrigation installation progress. 
Hendrickson announced that six participants passed the physical agility test for the 
police department, and interviews would begin the following Thursday. 
Enga reported that all full-time police officers except one have completed crisis 
intervention training, and the department now has four total negotiators. 
Stensgard mentioned that the planning commission had tabled a decision on exterior 
lighting for the zoning ordinance, which will be revisited in June. 
Council members provided various updates and comments, including Fashant 
mentioning he would be absent for the June 10th meeting. 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 
New Business 
N. Audit Presentation (moved in approval of agenda) 

3



COUNCIL MEETING                   CITY OF DAYTON, MINNESOTA 
MAY 13, 2025                                             12260 SO. DIAMOND LAKE ROAD 
6:30 P.M.                               HENNEPIN/WRIGHT COUNTIES 
PAGE 3 OF 4                        
 
Janelle from berganKDV presented the 2024 audit summary. Janelle reported that 
the city received an unmodified opinion, which is considered the best possible 
outcome. The audit found no instances of non-compliance with Minnesota legal 
compliance requirements. Janelle presented various financial charts and graphs 
showing trends in the city's finances over the past five years. 
K. Easement Discussion on Lawndale (from last meeting) 

MOTION: Motion made by Fisher, seconded by Van Asten, to pull from the table 
for discussion. The motion passed 5-0.  

Schmidt provided legal context, noting the complexities of the current easement 
document and the difficulties in modifying or enforcing specific requirements without 
renegotiating terms. Council members explored various options, including whether 
an easement renegotiation could involve modifying driveway layouts or establishing 
new agreements to balance access rights with the city's code requirements.  
Will Tansey, representing TQ Farms, presented their perspectives on the issue, 
emphasizing the need for a practical solution regarding the shared driveway and the 
potential financial impact of constructing two driveways 
Jonna Duke and Jason Duke of 14661 Lawndale Lane, and Randy Duke of 14651 
Lawndale Lane, expressed their concerns about the burdensome nature of the 
current easement arrangement, highlighting issues of fairness, safety, and the 
private driveway's existing maintenance. Jonna Duke articulated concerns about 
increased wear and tear and safety risks associated with frequent commercial traffic 
and construction vehicles accessing the properties. She requested the city consider 
dissolving the existing easement arrangement to restore access suited to the original 
purpose.  
The council directed staff to reach out to all involved parties to explore the feasibility 
of renegotiating the easement, aiming to achieve a more equitable and sustainable 
solution for impacted property owners. 
L. Quarterly Report for Q1 2025 
Doud presented the Q1 2025 financial report, covering general fund cash balances, 
income statements, and various department budgets. Council members asked 
questions about specific line items and expenditures. Doud noted that the EDA 
budget was not included but could be added in the future if requested by the council. 
M. Bernens Concept Plan 
Stensgard presented a residential concept plan for property owned by Jack and JT 
Bernens. The plan proposed 12 total single-family lots on unsewered land. 
Stensgard shared next steps for the concept plan review. 
John Bernens of 17921 Dayton River Rd provided additional context, explaining 
some of the complexities surrounding their property development goals.  
The council explored various aspects of the plan, addressing concerns about the 
adequacy of lot sizes, potential road connections, and the need for specific 
variances. The applicants were provided with feedback concerning challenges 
related to wetland protection and how these could affect development. The 
conversation also covered park fees, emphasizing their impact on project costs, and 

4



COUNCIL MEETING                   CITY OF DAYTON, MINNESOTA 
MAY 13, 2025                                             12260 SO. DIAMOND LAKE ROAD 
6:30 P.M.                               HENNEPIN/WRIGHT COUNTIES 
PAGE 4 OF 4                        
 
examined the potential for dedicating some of the property's land for a future well 
treatment facility. The council advised that this dedication could aid long-term 
planning and public utility servicing in the area. 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 
Action Items 
O. Resolution 30-2025; Supporting the Placing of Land in the Metropolitan Ag 
Preserve for Salonek and Ordinance 2025-13; Amending Zoning District 

MOTION: Motion made by Fisher, seconded by Fashant, to approve Resolution 
30-2025 and Ordinance 2025-13. Motion passed 4-0, with Salonek abstaining. 

Stensgard explained that this was a formal process for property entering the 
Agricultural Preserve program, which is authorized by state statute. The property 
was previously enrolled in the program but expired in 2022. The applicant will need 
to register with Hennepin County after tonight’s approval. 
P. Approval to Post for Full Time Fire 
Doud presented the request to post for two full-time fire positions. Council members 
expressed various concerns and questions about the proposed staffing model, 
including Van Asten's request for a detailed job description and Henderson's 
concerns about training and scheduling.  
Doud suggested conducting a culture assessment of the fire department to address 
some of the concerns raised during the discussion. The council expressed support 
for this idea and agreed that further discussion on the fire department's staffing 
model would be needed.  

After extensive discussion, no motion was made to approve the posting. 

Adjournment 
With no objections, Fisher declared the meeting adjourned at 9:42pm. 
 
 
Approved: __________________                               Attest: Amy Benting     
 
 

5



WORK SESSION MEETING                  CITY OF DAYTON, MINNESOTA 
MAY 13, 2025                                             12260 SO. DIAMOND LAKE ROAD 
5:00 P.M.                               HENNEPIN/WRIGHT COUNTIES 
PAGE 1 OF 2                        
 

Call to Order 
Fisher called the work session for May 13th to order at 5:00pm. 
PRESENT: Mayor Dennis Fisher, David Fashant, Stephanie Henderson, Scott 
Salonek, and Sara Van Asten 
ABSENT: None 
ALSO PRESENT: Public Works Superintendent, Marty Farrell; Fire Chief, Gary 
Hendrickson; Assistant Fire Chief, Kevin Astrup; Police Chief, Paul Enga; Police 
Lieutenant, Greg Burstad; City Administrator/Finance Director, Zach Doud; City 
Attorney, Amy Schmidt   

Work Session on Fire Department Staffing Model 
Current Staffing Model and Challenges 
Fire Chief Gary Hendrickson presented the current staffing model, which includes 26 
paid-on-call firefighters paged out for all calls 24/7. Hendrickson highlighted 
challenges such as increased demands on people's time, population changes, and a 
decline in civic responsibility affecting volunteer participation. 
Proposed Staffing Model 
Hendrickson proposed a new staffing model: 

● Station 2 staffed from 7 AM to 10 PM Monday-Friday with a minimum of 2 
firefighters 

● Station 2 staffed from 9 AM to 7 PM on weekends with a minimum of 2 
firefighters 

● No staffing between 10 PM and 7 AM daily 
Hendrickson explained that 78% of call volume occurs between 7 AM and 10 PM, 
justifying this staffing approach. 
Call Volume and Demographics 
The fire department responded to 606 calls in the previous year, with 167 fire calls 
and 438 medical calls. The department currently has 26 paid-on-call firefighters, 2 
fire stations, and full-time fire chief and assistant chief positions. 
Fisher inquired about the high per capita budget for Dayton compared to neighboring 
cities. Hendrickson attributed this to the expensive nature of the paid-on-call model, 
including equipment, training, and maintenance costs. 
Proposed Duty Crew Model 
Hendrickson presented a duty crew model that would require firefighters to work 
scheduled shifts at the station. This model aims to provide more predictable staffing 
and improve response times. Council members expressed concerns about the 
feasibility of this model given the current staff's reluctance to commit more time. 
Discussion on Call Types and Response 
Council members questioned the necessity of responding to all call types and 
suggested examining ways to reduce unnecessary responses. Hendrickson 

6



WORK SESSION MEETING                  CITY OF DAYTON, MINNESOTA 
MAY 13, 2025                                             12260 SO. DIAMOND LAKE ROAD 
5:00 P.M.                               HENNEPIN/WRIGHT COUNTIES 
PAGE 2 OF 2                        
 
explained the importance of responding to all calls due to the unpredictable nature of 
emergencies and potential misclassification of calls by dispatchers. 
Consideration of Full-Time Positions 
The council discussed the possibility of adding full-time firefighter positions. Amy 
Lucht, representing Care Resource Connections, shared her experience with a 
similar model in another city and supported the idea of full-time positions to enhance 
community risk reduction efforts and provide consistent staffing. 
Financial Considerations 
Doud provided information on current expenditures for paid-on-call firefighters, 
estimating around $170,000 annually based on the previous year's call volume. The 
council discussed the financial implications of moving to a different staffing model, 
including the potential costs and benefits of full-time positions. 
Next Steps 
No formal decisions were made during the work session. The council agreed to 
continue examining the staffing model options, considering both the operational 
needs of the fire department and the financial impact on the city. 

Adjournment 
With no objections, Fisher declared the meeting was adjourned at 6:22pm. 
 
 
 
Approved: __________________                               Attest: Amy Benting     
 

7



 
Payments to be approved at City Council Meeting May 27 , 2025

Totals
Claims Roster 05-27-2025 911,368.03$        

Total Payments: 911,368.03$        

Checks # 078917-078984

Check # sequence to be approved by City Council from meeting date of 05/27/2025:

8



05/21/2025                 INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF DAYTON MN                                           
                                            EXP CHECK RUN DATES 05/27/2025 - 05/27/2025                                            
                                                BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED                                                 
                                                        BOTH OPEN AND PAID                                                         

Inv Num    Vendor Inv Date Due Date Inv Amt Amt Due Status Jrnlized
Inv Ref#   Description Entered By Post Date

GL Distribution

A-1 OUTDOOR POWER INC 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 181.96 181.96 Open N
PARKS; SOLID BLADE 24.5 (.94) X4 CHOYT 05/20/2025
101-45200-50220               PARKS; SOLID BLADE 181.96

A-1 OUTDOOR POWER INC 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 295.75 295.75 Open N
PARKS; X SERIES STRAIGHT SHAFT TRIMMER CHOYT 05/21/2025
101-45200-50220               PARKS; SHAFT TRIMMER 295.75

ABDO LLP 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 4,825.00 4,825.00 Open N
HR INVESTIGATION MAR-APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-41310-50300               HR INVESTIGATION MAR-APR 2025 4,825.00

AMY BETHKE 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 20.02 20.02 Open N
UB refund for account: 3372 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 20.02

ANDERSON, DAVID & CHERYL 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 5.55 5.55 Open N
UB refund for account: 1977 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 5.55

ASPEN MILLS 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 59.95 59.95 Open N
FD; UNIFORM- KNUTSON CHOYT 02/28/2025
101-42260-50217               FD; UNIFORM- KNUTSON 59.95

BEAUDRY 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 1,286.08 1,286.08 Open N
PW; ULS #2 DYED DIESEL B20- 475.80 CHOYT 05/07/2025
101-43100-50212               PW; ULS #2 DYED DIESEL B20-475.80 1,286.08

BEAUDRY 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 2,056.56 2,056.56 Open N

9



PW; UNLEADED 87 -830.60 CHOYT 05/07/2025
101-43100-50212               PW; UNLEADED 87 -830.60 2,056.56

BOJAN, BRIAN 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 37.72 37.72 Open N
UB refund for account: 5465 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 37.72

C & D OIL SERVICES OF WASECA 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 70.00 70.00 Open N
PW; 55 GALLON DRUM CHOYT 04/17/2025
101-43100-50300               PW; 55 GALLON DRUM 70.00

C. VISION PRODUCTION 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 325.00 325.00 Open N
VIDEO TECH; OPEN HOUSE CHOYT 05/14/2025
226-41900-50430               VIDEO TECH; OPEN HOUSE 325.00

CAMPBELL KNUTSON P.A. 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 8,530.50 8,530.50 Open N
LEGAL FEES-  APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-41640-50304               LEGAL FEES-GENERAL; APR 2025 7,202.80
101-49999-50429               TFL ACQUISITION -APR 2025 1,084.60
411-43100-50304-6180               LEGAL FEES- PROJ 6180  APR 2025 243.10

CAMPBELL KNUTSON P.A. 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 120.00 120.00 Open N
LEGAL FEES-PROJ 6149 APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
411-43100-50304-6149               LEGAL FEES-PROJ 6149 APR 2025 120.00

CAMPBELL KNUTSON P.A. 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 2,896.13 2,896.13 Open N
LEGAL FEES-APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
411-43100-50304-6190               LEGAL FEES-APR 2025 2,896.13

CAMPBELL KNUTSON P.A. 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 720.00 720.00 Open N
PROFESSIONAL SRVS-APR 2025 PROJ 6147 CHOYT 04/30/2025
411-43100-50300-6147               PROFESSIONAL SRVS-PROJ 6147 720.00

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 1,349.85 1,349.85 Open N
ACCOUNT #175337501 INTERNET MAY 2025 CHOYT 05/07/2025
101-42120-50320               LOCATION #243204401- PD; INTERNET 180.00
101-43100-50321               LOCATION #243204401- PW; INTERNET 180.00
101-42260-50320               LOCATION #175337701- FD2; INTERNET 32.90

10



101-41820-50308               LOCATION #175337801; CH/INTERNET; 199.98
601-49400-50321               LOCATION #175337201; WELLHOUSE/INTERNET; 89.98
101-42260-50320               LOCATION #175337601; FD 1/INTERNET; 109.99
101-42120-50320               ACCOUNT# 175351601- PD;NUMBER FORWARDING 15.00
101-41820-50308               LOCATION #175337901- CH/FIBER INTERNET 542.00

CINTAS 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 160.87 160.87 Open N
PW; UNIFORMS CHOYT 05/08/2025
101-43100-50217               PW; UNIFORMS 160.87

CINTAS 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 124.87 124.87 Open N
PW; UNIFORMS CHOYT 05/15/2025
101-43100-50217               PW; UNIFORMS 124.87

CINTAS 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 198.36 198.36 Open N
PW; EYEWASH SERVICE AGREEMENT CHOYT 05/07/2025
101-43100-50580               PW; EYEWASH SERVICE AGREEMENT 198.36

CITY OF MAPLE GROVE 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 50,381.19 50,381.19 Open N
20,733,000 GALLONS WATER USAGE; MAR/APR 2CHOYT 05/19/2025
601-49400-50389               20,733,000 GALLONS WATER USAGE; MAR/APR 50,381.19

CITY OF MONTICELLO 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 208.00 208.00 Open N
PD; ANIMAL CONTROL MAR-APR 2025 CHOYT 05/09/2025
101-42140-50308               PD; ANIMAL CONTROL MAR-APR 2025 208.00

CMT JANITORIAL SERVICES 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 1,602.00 1,602.00 Open N
CONTRACT SERVICES-OFC CLEANING-JUN 2025 CHOYT 05/20/2025
101-41910-50308               CONTRACT SERVICES-OFC CLEANING 602.00
101-41810-50308               CONTRACT SERVICES-OFC CLEANING 1,000.00

COLLINS BROTHERS TOWING OF ST.CLOUD 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 219.65 219.65 Open N
PD; TOW 2023 DODGE DURANGO CHOYT 05/15/2025
101-42120-50220               PD; TOW 2023 DODGE DURANGO 219.65

CONNEXUS ENERGY 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 4,756.03 0.00 Paid Y
COMMERCIAL NEW CONSTRUCTION-11510 PINE   CHOYT 04/25/2025
601-49400-50300               NEW CONSTRUCTION-11510 PINERIDGE WAY N 4,756.03

11



CONNEXUS ENERGY 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 4,516.03 0.00 Paid Y
COMMERCIAL NEW CONSTRUCTION-14462 DALL   CHOYT 04/25/2025
601-49400-50300               NEW CONSTRUCTION-14462 DALLAS LN N 4,516.03

CORE & MAIN 05/14/2025 05/27/2025 11,260.38 11,260.38 Open N
PW; METERS CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-49400-50259               PW; METERS 11,260.38

CORE & MAIN 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 15,729.00 15,729.00 Open N
PW; METERS CHOYT 03/28/2025
601-49400-50530               PW; METERS 7,864.50
602-49400-50530               PW; METERS 7,864.50

CURRENT CUP -ACC. STRUCTURE 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 382.38 382.38 Open N
REFUND ESCROW PROJ 6212-CLOSED CHOYT 05/12/2025
411-00000-20200               REFUND ESCROW: CLOSED PROJECT 382.38

E H RENNER & SONS, INC 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 9,100.00 9,100.00 Open N
PW; ELSIE STEPHENS-2024 PARK IMPROVEMENTSCHOYT 03/31/2025
601-00000-16500               PW; ELSIE STEPHENS-2024 PARK IMPROVEMENT 9,100.00

E H RENNER & SONS, INC 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 72,659.16 72,659.16 Open N
PW; ELSIE STEPHENS-2024 PARK IMPROVEMENTSCHOYT 03/21/2025
601-00000-16500               PW; ELSIE STEPHENS-2024 PARK IMPROVEMENT 72,659.16

EAGLE GARAGE DOOR CO, INC 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 6,040.00 6,040.00 Open N
PW; REPLACED BROKEN SPRINGS & BEARINGS CHOYT 05/05/2025
101-43100-50520               PW; REPLACED BROKEN SPRINGS & BEARINGS 6,040.00

ECKBERG LAMMERS PC 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 117.50 117.50 Open N
PROFESSIONAL SRVS- EDA/TIF APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
225-41710-50300               PROFESSIONAL SRVS- EDA APR 2025 117.50

ECM PUBLISHERS, INC 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 301.87 301.87 Open N
PHN; RELEASE OF FUNDS WATER TRAILS CHOYT 05/15/2025
408-45300-50300-2006               PHN; RELEASE OF FUNDS WATER TRAILS 301.87

12



EHLERS & ASSOCIATES, INC 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 2,100.00 2,100.00 Open N
EHLERS-PROJ 6128 APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
411-43100-50300-6128               EHLERS-PROJ 6128 APR 2025 2,100.00

EHLERS & ASSOCIATES, INC 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 2,058.75 2,058.75 Open N
PROFESSIONAL SRVS; APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-41500-50300               PROFESSIONAL SRVS; APR 2025 2,058.75

ELITE SANITATION 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 2,770.20 2,770.20 Open N
PW; PORTABLE RENTAL CHOYT 05/17/2025
101-45200-50410               PW; PORTABLE RENTAL 2,770.20

ELITE UNLIMITED SOLUTIONS, LLC 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 101.66 101.66 Open N
UB refund for account: 7304 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 101.66

ELIZABETH AL 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 756.40 756.40 Open N
DAC RENTAL DEPOSIT REFUND:EVENT 05.18.25 CHOYT 05/18/2025
101-00000-21716               DAC RENTAL DEPOSIT REFUND:EVENT 05.18.25 756.40

ELIZABETH SIBET 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 6.78 6.78 Open N
UB refund for account: 7033 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 6.78

EMERGENCY APPARATUS 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 54.15 54.15 Open N
FD; DRAIN VALVE CLASS 1 CHOYT 05/12/2025
101-42260-50220               FD; DRAIN VALVE CLASS 1 54.15

FEDERATED CO-OPS INC 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 196.15 196.15 Open N
PARKS; WEED CONTROL CHOYT 05/09/2025
101-45200-50390               PARKS; WEED CONTROL 196.15

FEHN COMPANIES 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 414.24 414.24 Open N
PW; MATERIAL CHOYT 05/16/2025
101-43100-50224               PW; MATERIAL 414.24

GAHLON, BRIAN & NOELLE 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 240.63 240.63 Open N
UB refund for account: 5745 CHOYT 05/12/2025

13



601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 240.63

GUIDANCEPOINT TECHNOLOGIES 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 3,639.96 3,639.96 Open N
IT; SERVICES-COMPUTERS AND SETUP X3 CHOYT 05/08/2025
101-41820-50300               IT; PROFESSIONAL SRVC 590.00
101-41820-50580               OTHER EQUIPMENT; COMPUTERS & ACCESSORIES 3,049.96

GUIDANCEPOINT TECHNOLOGIES 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 994.50 994.50 Open N
IT; PROFESSIONAL SRVS CHOYT 05/16/2025
101-41820-50300               IT; PROFESSIONAL SRVS 994.50

GUIDANCEPOINT TECHNOLOGIES 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 1,819.98 1,819.98 Open N
IT; SUPPLIES-COMPUTER DISPLAYS/HARDWARE CHOYT 05/16/2025
101-41820-50200               IT; SUPPLIES 1,819.98

GUIDANCEPOINT TECHNOLOGIES 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 220.00 220.00 Open N
IT; PROFESSIONAL SRVS-DISPLAY ISSUES CHOYT 05/16/2025
101-41820-50300               IT; PROFESSIONAL SRVS 220.00

HASSAN SAND & GRAVEL, INC 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 2,274.88 2,274.88 Open N
PW; RECYCLED CLASS 5 -142.18 CHOYT 05/07/2025
101-43100-50224               PW; RECYCLED CLASS 5 -142.18 2,274.88

HASSAN SAND & GRAVEL, INC 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 2,348.64 2,348.64 Open N
PW; RECYCLED CLASS 5 PICKED UP CHOYT 05/08/2025
101-43100-50224               PW; RECYCLED CLASS 5 2,348.64

HASSAN SAND & GRAVEL, INC 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 110.83 110.83 Open N
PW; WASHED COARSE SAND CHOYT 05/14/2025
101-45200-50210               PW; WASHED COARSE SAND 110.83

HAWKINS, INC 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 4,230.13 4,230.13 Open N
PW; CHEMICALS CHOYT 05/01/2025
601-49400-50216               PW; CHEMICALS 4,230.13

HAWKINS, INC 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 40.00 40.00 Open N
PW; CHEMICALS CHOYT 05/15/2025
601-49400-50216               PW; CHEMICALS 40.00

14



HENNEPIN COUNTY FIRE CHIEFS 05/14/2025 05/27/2025 1,700.00 1,700.00 Open N
FD; BLUE CARD SIM TRAINING X4 CHOYT 05/13/2025
101-42260-50208               FD; BLUE CARD SIM TRAINING X4 1,700.00

HENNEPIN COUNTY FIRE CHIEFS 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 1,700.00 1,700.00 Open N
FD; BLUE CARD SIM TRAINING X4 CHOYT 05/15/2025
101-42260-50208               FD; BLUE CARD SIM TRAINING X4 1,700.00

HP GROUP HEALTH NON-PATIENT A/R 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 103.35 103.35 Open N
EAP (CUST#12750101) MAY 2025 CHOYT 05/11/2025
101-41810-50205               EAP NON MEMBER(CUST# 12750101); MAY 2025 66.30
101-41810-50205               EAP MEMBER (CUST# 12750101); MAY 2025 37.05

IFFT, DANIEL 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 27.57 27.57 Open N
UB refund for account: 4228 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 27.57

J R ADVANCED RECYCLERS 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 2,115.30 2,115.30 Open N
CITY CLEAN-UP DAY 2025 CHOYT 05/06/2025
101-41650-50388               CITY CLEAN-UP DAY 2025 2,115.30

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 03/31/2025 05/27/2025 89.90 89.90 Open N
Equipment CHOYT 03/31/2025
101-42120-50580               Equipment 89.90

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/04/2025 05/27/2025 501.56 501.56 Open N
Squad Repairs CHOYT 04/04/2025
101-42120-50220               Squad Repairs 501.56

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/07/2025 05/27/2025 14.85 14.85 Open N
Postage CHOYT 04/07/2025
101-42120-50322               Postage 14.85

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/14/2025 05/27/2025 188.99 188.99 Open N
Training CHOYT 04/14/2025
101-42120-50208               Training 188.99

15



J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/15/2025 05/27/2025 399.08 399.08 Open N
Equipment for Firearms Safety CHOYT 04/15/2025
101-42120-50580               Equipment for Firearms Safety 399.08

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/16/2025 05/27/2025 175.76 175.76 Open N
Uniform Allowance CHOYT 04/16/2025
101-42120-50217               Uniform Allowance 175.76

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/22/2025 05/27/2025 5.58 5.58 Open N
Postage CHOYT 04/22/2025
101-42120-50322               Postage 5.58

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/22/2025 05/27/2025 5.58 5.58 Open N
Postage CHOYT 04/22/2025
101-42120-50322               Postage 5.58

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 108.47 108.47 Open N
Uniform Allowance CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-42120-50217               Uniform Allowance 108.47

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/24/2025 05/27/2025 27.02 27.02 Open N
Uniform Allowance CHOYT 04/24/2025
101-42120-50217               Uniform Allowance 27.02

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/29/2025 05/27/2025 238.42 238.42 Open N
Firearms Safety Equip CHOYT 04/29/2025
101-42120-50580               Firearms Safety Equip 238.42

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 75.80 75.80 Open N
Shop Supplies CHOYT 04/01/2025
101-43100-50210               Shop Supplies 75.80

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 65.43 65.43 Open N
Program Supplies CHOYT 04/01/2025
101-41910-50210               Program Supplies 65.43

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/02/2025 05/27/2025 144.14 144.14 Open N
Soil Probe CHOYT 04/02/2025

16



101-45200-50210               Soil Probe 144.14

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/03/2025 05/27/2025 26.98 26.98 Open N
Vehicle FIlters CHOYT 04/03/2025
101-42120-50220               Vehicle FIlters 26.98

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/03/2025 05/27/2025 2,146.41 2,146.41 Open N
Vehicle Filters CHOYT 04/03/2025
101-43100-50220               Vehicle Filters 2,146.41

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/04/2025 05/27/2025 363.75 363.75 Open N
Repair and Maintenance CHOYT 04/04/2025
101-43100-50220               Repair and Maintenance 363.75

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/06/2025 05/27/2025 26.50 26.50 Open N
Office Supplies CHOYT 04/06/2025
101-43100-50210               Office Supplies 26.50

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/07/2025 05/27/2025 129.99 129.99 Open N
Repair and Maintenance CHOYT 04/07/2025
601-49400-50220               Repair and Maintenance 129.99

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/10/2025 05/27/2025 306.25 306.25 Open N
APWA Annual Membership CHOYT 04/10/2025
101-43100-50205               APWA Annual Membership 306.25

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/14/2025 05/27/2025 1,016.50 1,016.50 Open N
Repair and Maintenance CHOYT 04/14/2025
101-43100-50220               Repair and Maintenance 1,016.50

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/21/2025 05/27/2025 17.98 17.98 Open N
Weed Control CHOYT 04/21/2025
101-45200-50210               Weed Control 17.98

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 73.68 73.68 Open N
Office equipment CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-43100-50520               Office equipment 73.68

17



J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/22/2025 05/27/2025 134.04 134.04 Open N
Battery replacement CHOYT 04/22/2025
101-43100-50220               Battery replacement 134.04

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 4.94 4.94 Open N
Parts CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-43100-50210               Parts 4.94

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/28/2025 05/27/2025 122.25 122.25 Open N
Vehicle Parts CHOYT 04/28/2025
101-43100-50220               Vehicle Parts 122.25

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/28/2025 05/27/2025 132.98 132.98 Open N
Maintenance Parts CHOYT 04/28/2025
101-43100-50220               Maintenance Parts 132.98

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/28/2025 05/27/2025 (132.98) (132.98) Open N
Maintenance Parts CHOYT 04/28/2025
101-43100-50220               Maintenance Parts (132.98)

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/29/2025 05/27/2025 5.48 5.48 Open N
Batteries CHOYT 04/29/2025
101-45200-50210               Batteries 5.48

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 03/31/2025 05/27/2025 274.89 274.89 Open N
MCMA Conference Hotel CHOYT 03/31/2025
101-41310-50208               MCMA Conference Hotel 274.89

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/08/2025 05/27/2025 65.00 65.00 Open N
Fashant FR Luncheon CHOYT 04/08/2025
101-41110-50208               Fashant FR Luncheon 65.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/08/2025 05/27/2025 130.00 130.00 Open N
Doud/Benting FR Luncheon CHOYT 04/08/2025
101-41310-50208               Doud/Benting FR Luncheon 130.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/10/2025 05/27/2025 200.54 200.54 Open N
Dept Head Lunch Meeting CHOYT 04/10/2025

18



101-41310-50200               Dept Head Lunch Meeting 200.54

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/11/2025 05/27/2025 9.61 9.61 Open N
Peer Compass Group Lunch CHOYT 04/11/2025
101-41310-50208               Peer Compass Group Lunch 9.61

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/12/2025 05/27/2025 42.35 42.35 Open N
Batteries for Paper Towels and Pens CHOYT 04/12/2025
101-41810-50200               Batteries for Paper Towels and Pens 42.35

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/15/2025 05/27/2025 53.17 53.17 Open N
Window Sign Holders CHOYT 04/15/2025
101-41810-50200               Window Sign Holders 53.17

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/16/2025 05/27/2025 65.00 65.00 Open N
Van Asten FR Luncheon CHOYT 04/16/2025
101-41110-50208               Van Asten FR Luncheon 65.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/17/2025 05/27/2025 464.36 464.36 Open N
Dan Dehn Printer CHOYT 04/17/2025
101-43100-50580               Dan Dehn Printer 464.36

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/19/2025 05/27/2025 27.60 27.60 Open N
Egg Hunt Volunteers Food CHOYT 04/19/2025
101-41910-50211               Egg Hunt Volunteers Food 27.60

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/19/2025 05/27/2025 16.52 16.52 Open N
Egg Hunt Volunteers Food CHOYT 04/19/2025
101-41910-50211               Egg Hunt Volunteers Food 16.52

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/19/2025 05/27/2025 184.80 184.80 Open N
Salonek Ag Preserve Publication CHOYT 04/19/2025
101-41110-50352               Salonek Ag Preserve Publication 184.80

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 9.14 9.14 Open N
Lunch for Meetings CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-41310-50200               Lunch for Meetings 9.14

19



J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 29.15 29.15 Open N
Administrative Appreciation CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-41910-50213               Administrative Appreciation 29.15

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/24/2025 05/27/2025 425.00 425.00 Open N
LMC Conference - Fashant CHOYT 04/24/2025
101-41110-50208               LMC Conference - Fashant 425.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/19/2025 05/27/2025 9.48 9.48 Open N
name plate CHOYT 04/19/2025
101-41120-50210               name plate 9.48

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 8.70 8.70 Open N
microsoft CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-41820-50308               microsoft 8.70

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/26/2025 05/27/2025 52.09 52.09 Open N
Zoom April CHOYT 04/26/2025
101-41500-50205               Zoom April 52.09

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 03/31/2025 05/27/2025 1,188.00 1,188.00 Open N
Clerk Minutes subscription CHOYT 03/31/2025
101-41420-50300               Clerk Minutes subscription 1,188.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/02/2025 05/27/2025 38.24 38.24 Open N
Office Supplies- Laminating Sheets CHOYT 04/02/2025
101-41310-50200               Office Supplies- Laminating Sheets 38.24

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/07/2025 05/27/2025 20.69 20.69 Open N
DYMO labels CHOYT 04/07/2025
101-41410-50210               DYMO labels 20.69

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/07/2025 05/27/2025 85.98 85.98 Open N
Copy Paper 8.5x11 CHOYT 04/07/2025
101-41310-50200               Copy Paper 8.5x11 85.98

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 40.44 40.44 Open N
Office Supplies- coffee CHOYT 04/09/2025

20



101-41310-50200               Office Supplies- coffee 40.44

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 03/31/2025 05/27/2025 180.00 180.00 Open N
Marketing CHOYT 03/31/2025
101-41910-50210               Marketing 180.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 03/31/2025 05/27/2025 464.97 464.97 Open N
Operating Supplies CHOYT 03/31/2025
101-45200-50210               Operating Supplies 464.97

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 03/31/2025 05/27/2025 130.00 130.00 Open N
U OF M-TRAINING CHOYT 03/31/2025
101-43100-50208               U OF M-TRAINING 130.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 412.13 412.13 Open N
Office Supplies CHOYT 04/01/2025
101-43100-50210               Office Supplies 412.13

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/03/2025 05/27/2025 100.49 100.49 Open N
Program supplies CHOYT 04/03/2025
101-41910-50210               Program supplies 100.49

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/03/2025 05/27/2025 4,317.00 4,317.00 Open N
Traffic Counters CHOYT 04/03/2025
101-43100-50580               Traffic Counters 4,317.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/07/2025 05/27/2025 88.00 88.00 Open N
Event Signage CHOYT 04/07/2025
101-41910-50210               Event Signage 88.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/07/2025 05/27/2025 648.20 648.20 Open N
Bucket Broom Parts CHOYT 04/07/2025
101-43100-50220               Bucket Broom Parts 648.20

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/08/2025 05/27/2025 1,068.00 1,068.00 Open N
Operating Supplies CHOYT 04/08/2025
601-49400-50210               Operating Supplies 1,068.00

21



J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/10/2025 05/27/2025 60.91 60.91 Open N
Office Supplies CHOYT 04/10/2025
101-43100-50210               Office Supplies 60.91

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/10/2025 05/27/2025 43.99 43.99 Open N
Office Supplies CHOYT 04/10/2025
101-43100-50210               Office Supplies 43.99

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/14/2025 05/27/2025 520.89 520.89 Open N
Water Sampling Chemicals CHOYT 04/14/2025
601-49400-50210               Water Sampling Chemicals 520.89

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/14/2025 05/27/2025 (510.00) (510.00) Open N
Swank Motion Pics-inv 2433843 CHOYT 04/14/2025
101-41910-50210               Swank Motion Pics-inv 2433843 (510.00)

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/28/2025 05/27/2025 90.00 90.00 Open N
Brush Disposal CHOYT 04/28/2025
101-43100-50224               Brush Disposal 90.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/28/2025 05/27/2025 120.00 120.00 Open N
Brush Disposal CHOYT 04/28/2025
101-43100-50224               Brush Disposal 120.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/29/2025 05/27/2025 122.50 122.50 Open N
FUEL DISTRIBUTION SERVICE FEE CHOYT 04/29/2025
101-43100-50212               FUEL DISTRIBUTION SERVICE FEE 122.50

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/29/2025 05/27/2025 1,220.00 1,220.00 Open N
Erosion Blanket Stapler CHOYT 04/29/2025
101-43100-50224               Erosion Blanket Stapler 1,220.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/08/2025 05/27/2025 50.00 50.00 Open N
Training Generational Differences CHOYT 04/08/2025
101-42260-50208               Training Generational Differences 50.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/12/2025 05/27/2025 83.07 83.07 Open N
Refreshments NWSFA CHOYT 04/12/2025

22



101-42260-50208               Refreshments NWSFA 83.07

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/16/2025 05/27/2025 9.95 9.95 Open N
Elbow for Garden Hose CHOYT 04/16/2025
101-42260-50200               Elbow for Garden Hose 9.95

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/16/2025 05/27/2025 39.06 39.06 Open N
Car Wash CHOYT 04/16/2025
101-42260-50220               Car Wash 39.06

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/17/2025 05/27/2025 310.46 310.46 Open N
T-Mobile Cell Phone Invoice CHOYT 04/17/2025
101-42260-50320               T-Mobile Cell Phone Invoice 310.46

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/21/2025 05/27/2025 336.69 336.69 Open N
Garden Hose  Nozzle  Brass supplies to h CHOYT 04/21/2025
101-42260-50200               Garden Hose  Nozzle  Brass supplies to h 336.69

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/21/2025 05/27/2025 639.63 639.63 Open N
SCBA Facepiece CHOYT 04/21/2025
101-42260-50217               SCBA Facepiece 639.63

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/24/2025 05/27/2025 105.41 105.41 Open N
Costco Membership CHOYT 04/24/2025
101-42260-50205               Costco Membership 105.41

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/24/2025 05/27/2025 28.94 28.94 Open N
Refreshments NWSFA CHOYT 04/24/2025
101-42260-50208               Refreshments NWSFA 28.94

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/26/2025 05/27/2025 118.68 118.68 Open N
Lunch for Training Academy CHOYT 04/26/2025
101-42260-50300               Lunch for Training Academy 118.68

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/25/2025 05/27/2025 35.96 35.96 Open N
Zodiac Spiral Air Plugs CHOYT 04/25/2025
101-42260-50220               Zodiac Spiral Air Plugs 35.96

23



J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 38.87 38.87 Open N
Equipment CHOYT 04/01/2025
101-42120-50580               Equipment 38.87

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/22/2025 05/27/2025 50.00 50.00 Open N
Subscription CHOYT 04/22/2025
101-42120-50205               Subscription 50.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/28/2025 05/27/2025 130.93 130.93 Open N
Uniform Allowance CHOYT 04/28/2025
101-42120-50217               Uniform Allowance 130.93

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/29/2025 05/27/2025 191.20 191.20 Open N
Uniform Allowance CHOYT 04/29/2025
101-42120-50217               Uniform Allowance 191.20

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/02/2025 05/27/2025 69.98 69.98 Open N
Uniform Allowance CHOYT 04/02/2025
101-42120-50217               Uniform Allowance 69.98

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/07/2025 05/27/2025 60.00 60.00 Open N
Subscription CHOYT 04/07/2025
101-42120-50395               Subscription 60.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/21/2025 05/27/2025 699.00 699.00 Open N
Training CHOYT 04/21/2025
101-42120-50208               Training 699.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/02/2025 05/27/2025 21.47 21.47 Open N
Office Supplies CHOYT 04/02/2025
101-41710-50200               Office Supplies 21.47

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/03/2025 05/27/2025 158.00 158.00 Open N
Continuing Education CHOYT 04/03/2025
101-41710-50205               Continuing Education 158.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 03/31/2025 05/27/2025 139.22 139.22 Open N
Office Supplies CHOYT 03/31/2025

24



101-42120-50200               Office Supplies 139.22

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/03/2025 05/27/2025 399.99 399.99 Open N
Crime Prevention Supplies CHOYT 04/03/2025
101-42120-50395               Crime Prevention Supplies 399.99

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/06/2025 05/27/2025 22.91 22.91 Open N
Building Supplies CHOYT 04/06/2025
101-42120-50200               Building Supplies 22.91

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/06/2025 05/27/2025 22.90 22.90 Open N
Building Supplies CHOYT 04/06/2025
101-43100-50210               Building Supplies 22.90

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/06/2025 05/27/2025 10.98 10.98 Open N
Uniform Allowance CHOYT 04/06/2025
101-42120-50217               Uniform Allowance 10.98

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/08/2025 05/27/2025 29.43 29.43 Open N
Training Meal CHOYT 04/08/2025
101-42120-50208               Training Meal 29.43

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 16.98 16.98 Open N
Office Supplies CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-42120-50200               Office Supplies 16.98

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 60.66 60.66 Open N
Training Meal CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-42120-50208               Training Meal 60.66

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 41.00 41.00 Open N
Training Meal CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-42120-50208               Training Meal 41.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 35.14 35.14 Open N
Training Meal CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-42120-50208               Training Meal 35.14

25



J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/10/2025 05/27/2025 47.41 47.41 Open N
Training Meal CHOYT 04/10/2025
101-42120-50208               Training Meal 47.41

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 333.02 333.02 Open N
Lodging Training CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-42120-50208               Lodging Training 333.02

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/10/2025 05/27/2025 499.53 499.53 Open N
Lodging Training CHOYT 04/10/2025
101-42120-50208               Lodging Training 499.53

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/12/2025 05/27/2025 37.99 37.99 Open N
Office Supplies CHOYT 04/12/2025
101-42120-50200               Office Supplies 37.99

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/14/2025 05/27/2025 75.00 75.00 Open N
Training CHOYT 04/14/2025
101-42120-50208               Training 75.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/15/2025 05/27/2025 21.81 21.81 Open N
Building Supplies CHOYT 04/15/2025
101-42120-50200               Building Supplies 21.81

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/15/2025 05/27/2025 21.81 21.81 Open N
Building Supplies CHOYT 04/15/2025
101-43100-50210               Building Supplies 21.81

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/15/2025 05/27/2025 26.68 26.68 Open N
Office Supplies CHOYT 04/15/2025
101-42120-50200               Office Supplies 26.68

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/16/2025 05/27/2025 18.99 18.99 Open N
clerks meeting CHOYT 04/16/2025
101-41310-50200               clerks meeting 18.99

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/17/2025 05/27/2025 25.55 25.55 Open N
Building Supplies CHOYT 04/17/2025

26



101-42120-50200               Building Supplies 25.55

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/17/2025 05/27/2025 25.55 25.55 Open N
Building Supplies CHOYT 04/17/2025
101-43100-50210               Building Supplies 25.55

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/21/2025 05/27/2025 16.79 16.79 Open N
Firearms Safety Equip CHOYT 04/21/2025
101-42120-50580               Firearms Safety Equip 16.79

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/24/2025 05/27/2025 25.99 25.99 Open N
Office Supplies CHOYT 04/24/2025
101-42120-50200               Office Supplies 25.99

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/25/2025 05/27/2025 200.00 200.00 Open N
Subscription March 2025 CHOYT 04/25/2025
101-42120-50205               Subscription March 2025 200.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/28/2025 05/27/2025 53.44 53.44 Open N
Subscription 04/25 to 01/26 CHOYT 04/28/2025
101-42120-50205               Subscription 04/25 to 01/26 53.44

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/02/2025 05/27/2025 491.80 491.80 Open N
Hyper Reach Brochures CHOYT 04/02/2025
101-42130-50308               Hyper Reach Brochures 491.80

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/04/2025 05/27/2025 35.88 35.88 Open N
Car Wash Chief Two CHOYT 04/04/2025
101-42260-50220               Car Wash Chief Two 35.88

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 26.32 26.32 Open N
Spray Glue and Batteries CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-42260-50200               Spray Glue and Batteries 26.32

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/15/2025 05/27/2025 15.73 15.73 Open N
Relay  Electrical Supplies CHOYT 04/15/2025
101-42260-50200               Relay  Electrical Supplies 15.73

27



J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/15/2025 05/27/2025 85.60 85.60 Open N
Car Wash CHOYT 04/15/2025
101-42260-50200               Car Wash 85.60

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/15/2025 05/27/2025 174.10 174.10 Open N
Four Cycle Fuel CHOYT 04/15/2025
101-42260-50212               Four Cycle Fuel 174.10

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/18/2025 05/27/2025 552.97 552.97 Open N
Air Compressor Station Two CHOYT 04/18/2025
101-42260-50223               Air Compressor Station Two 552.97

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/24/2025 05/27/2025 4.50 4.50 Open N
Fasteners CHOYT 04/24/2025
101-42260-50200               Fasteners 4.50

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/08/2025 05/27/2025 2.59 2.59 Open N
Program Supplies CHOYT 04/08/2025
101-41910-50210               Program Supplies 2.59

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/08/2025 05/27/2025 103.12 103.12 Open N
Event Supplies CHOYT 04/08/2025
101-41910-50213               Event Supplies 103.12

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 870.00 870.00 Open N
Event Services CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-41910-50308               Event Services 870.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 22.20 22.20 Open N
Program Supplies CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-41910-50210               Program Supplies 22.20

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/14/2025 05/27/2025 30.87 30.87 Open N
Event Supplies CHOYT 04/14/2025
101-41910-50210               Event Supplies 30.87

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/16/2025 05/27/2025 126.50 126.50 Open N
Event Supplies CHOYT 04/16/2025

28



101-41910-50211               Event Supplies 126.50

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/16/2025 05/27/2025 135.92 135.92 Open N
event supplies CHOYT 04/16/2025
101-41910-50210               event supplies 135.92

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/16/2025 05/27/2025 168.23 168.23 Open N
Employee breakfast supplies CHOYT 04/16/2025
101-41910-50213               Employee breakfast supplies 168.23

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/21/2025 05/27/2025 5.45 5.45 Open N
event supplies CHOYT 04/21/2025
101-41910-50210               event supplies 5.45

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/21/2025 05/27/2025 56.12 56.12 Open N
Event Supplies CHOYT 04/21/2025
101-41910-50210               Event Supplies 56.12

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 03/31/2025 05/27/2025 195.00 195.00 Open N
2025 S-18 Online Code Supplement CHOYT 03/31/2025
101-41710-50321               2025 S-18 Online Code Supplement 195.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 03/31/2025 05/27/2025 114.38 114.38 Open N
CH; Treatment for ants CHOYT 03/31/2025
101-41810-50223               CH; Treatment for ants 114.38

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 411.00 411.00 Open N
PW; Dayton Lgts-Feb 2025 CHOYT 04/01/2025
101-43100-50230               PW; Dayton Lgts-Feb 2025 411.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 299.66 299.66 Open N
PW; AC-Feb 2025 CHOYT 04/01/2025
101-41910-50381               PW; AC-Feb 2025 299.66

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 76.76 76.76 Open N
PW; CSAH 12 Lift-Feb 2025 CHOYT 04/01/2025
601-49400-50381               PW; CSAH 12 Lift-Feb 2025 76.76

29



J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 74.71 74.71 Open N
PW; Dayton Lift-Feb 2025 CHOYT 04/01/2025
602-49400-50381               PW; Dayton Lift-Feb 2025 74.71

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 623.15 623.15 Open N
PW; Well-Feb 2025 CHOYT 04/01/2025
601-49400-50381               PW; Well-Feb 2025 623.15

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 111.91 111.91 Open N
PW; DNR Lift-Feb 2025 CHOYT 04/01/2025
602-49400-50381               PW; DNR Lift-Feb 2025 111.91

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/01/2025 05/27/2025 58.22 58.22 Open N
PW; Ball Field-Feb 2025 CHOYT 04/01/2025
101-45200-50381               PW; Ball Field-Feb 2025 58.22

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/02/2025 05/27/2025 143.70 143.70 Open N
CH; Pest Control CHOYT 04/02/2025
101-41810-50308               CH; Pest Control 143.70

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 508.00 508.00 Open N
PW; ANNUAL FIRE ALARM MONITORING CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-43100-50520               PW; ANNUAL FIRE ALARM MONITORING 508.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 (991.00) (991.00) Open N
REFUND-OVERPAYMENT CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-41810-50300               REFUND-OVERPAYMENT (991.00)

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/09/2025 05/27/2025 (991.00) (991.00) Open N
REFUND-OVERPAYMENT CHOYT 04/09/2025
101-41810-50308               REFUND-OVERPAYMENT (991.00)

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/20/2025 05/27/2025 163.97 163.97 Open N
AC; WASTE MAR 2025 CHOYT 04/20/2025
101-41910-50384               AC; WASTE MAR 2025 163.97

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/20/2025 05/27/2025 400.54 400.54 Open N
CH; WASTE/MAR 2025 CHOYT 04/20/2025

30



101-41810-50384               CH; WASTE/MAR 2025 400.54

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/20/2025 05/27/2025 213.53 213.53 Open N
REPUBLIC; ORGANIC RECYCLING APR 2025 CHOYT 04/20/2025
101-43100-50384               REPUBLIC; ORGANIC RECYCLING APR 2025 213.53

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/20/2025 05/27/2025 400.54 400.54 Open N
REPUBLIC;WASTE/SHREDDING MAR 2025 CHOYT 04/20/2025
101-41810-50384               REPUBLIC;WASTE/SHREDDING MAR 2025 400.54

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/20/2025 05/27/2025 45.00 45.00 Open N
AC; Culligan- Equipment Rental APR 2025 CHOYT 04/20/2025
101-41910-50220               AC; Culligan- Equipment Rental APR 2025 45.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/20/2025 05/27/2025 55.65 55.65 Open N
PW/PD CULLIGAN APR 2025 CHOYT 04/20/2025
101-42120-50220               PW/PD CULLIGAN APR 2025 55.65

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/20/2025 05/27/2025 55.65 55.65 Open N
PW/PD CULLIGAN APR 2025 CHOYT 04/20/2025
101-43100-50220               PW/PD CULLIGAN APR 2025 55.65

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/20/2025 05/27/2025 40.00 40.00 Open N
CULLIGAN; WTR SOFTNER RENTAL-APR 2025 CHOYT 04/20/2025
101-43100-50220               CULLIGAN; WTR SOFTNER RENTAL-APR 2025 40.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/20/2025 05/27/2025 45.00 45.00 Open N
CH;Culligan-WTR SOFTNER RENTAL-APR 2025 CHOYT 04/20/2025
101-41810-50220               CH;Culligan-WTR SOFTNER RENTAL-APR 2025 45.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/22/2025 05/27/2025 218.75 218.75 Open N
Parker Web Services; Web project updates CHOYT 04/22/2025
101-41310-50320               Parker Web Services; Web project updates 218.75

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 342.43 342.43 Open N
16471 S DIAMOND-MAR 2025 CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-43100-50383               16471 S DIAMOND-MAR 2025 342.43

31



J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 484.04 484.04 Open N
12260 S DIAMOND-MAR 2025 CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-41810-50383               12260 S DIAMOND-MAR 2025 484.04

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 353.17 353.17 Open N
18461 DAYTON ST-MAR 2025 CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-41910-50383               18461 DAYTON ST-MAR 2025 353.17

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 99.56 99.56 Open N
15700 BROCKTON-MAR 2025 CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-43100-50383               15700 BROCKTON-MAR 2025 99.56

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 1.95 1.95 Open N
ONLINE FEE TO PAY ONLINE CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-41810-50300               ONLINE FEE TO PAY ONLINE 1.95

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 464.00 464.00 Open N
PD; STREICHERS-9MM CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-42120-50200               PD; STREICHERS-9MM 464.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/23/2025 05/27/2025 23.98 23.98 Open N
PD; STREICHERS-NAME TAGS CHOYT 04/23/2025
101-42120-50217               PD; STREICHERS-NAME TAGS 23.98

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/25/2025 05/27/2025 2,000.00 2,000.00 Open N
PD;BLUE NET-Sharepoint Dev. & Consulting CHOYT 04/25/2025
101-42120-50308               PD;BLUE NET-Sharepoint Dev. & Consulting 2,000.00

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK NA 04/28/2025 05/27/2025 5,450.00 5,450.00 Open N
FD; Hyper Reach 3.1.2025-2.28.2026 CHOYT 04/28/2025
101-42130-50308               FD; Hyper Reach 3.1.2025-2.28.2026 5,450.00

JAAX, KEVIN & DAWN 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 17.32 17.32 Open N
UB refund for account: 1964 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 17.32

JENNA SCHUERMAN & LORA ANDERSON 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 26.10 26.10 Open N
UB refund for account: 6426 CHOYT 05/12/2025

32



601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 26.10

KELLEY CASEY 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 600.00 600.00 Open N
6X12 ALL GOALS SOCCER GOALS W/NEW NETS CHOYT 05/01/2025
101-45200-50530               6X12 ALL GOALS SOCCER GOALS W/NEW NETS 600.00

KL MN 1 LLC 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 133.93 133.93 Open N
UB refund for account: 7343 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 133.93

KODIAK POWER SYSTEMS INC. 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 2,038.00 2,038.00 Open N
PW; REPAIR/MAINT WELL 4 GENERATOR CHOYT 04/30/2025
601-49400-50220               PW; REPAIR/MAINT WELL 4 GENERATOR 2,038.00

KWIK TRIP INC 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 150.72 150.72 Open N
PD; 514204/ CARWASH- FD; MOTOR FUELS CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-42120-50220               PD; 514204/ CARWASH 121.88
101-42260-50212               FD; MOTOR FUELS 28.84

LAUREL TREE FARMS 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 4,238.00 4,238.00 Open N
PW; TREES CHOYT 05/08/2025
101-45200-50530               PW; TREES 4,238.00

LEACH, CHANELL 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 72.70 72.70 Open N
UB refund for account: 2521 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 72.70

LEAGUE OF MN CITIES INSURANCE TRUST 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 2,500.00 2,500.00 Open N
DEDUCTIBLE; CLAIM LMC 000000419508 CHOYT 02/15/2025
101-43100-50361               DEDUCTIBLE; CLAIM LMC 000000419508 2,500.00

LENNAR 05/14/2025 05/27/2025 3,000.00 3,000.00 Open N
14322 BERKSHIRE LA N LANDSCAPE ESCROW RECHOYT 05/14/2025
420-00000-22100               14322 BERKSHIRE LA N LANDSCAPE ESCROW 3,000.00

LENNAR 05/14/2025 05/27/2025 3,000.00 3,000.00 Open N
13764 142ND AVE N LANDSCAPE ESCROW RELEACHOYT 05/14/2025
420-00000-22100               13764 142ND AVE N LANDSCAPE ESCROW RELEA 3,000.00

33



LENNAR 05/14/2025 05/27/2025 3,000.00 3,000.00 Open N
10877 KINGSVIEW LA N LANDSCAPE ESCROW RECHOYT 05/14/2025
420-00000-22100               10877 KINGSVIEW LA N LANDSCAPE ESCROW RE 3,000.00

MAGNEY CONSTRUCTION INC 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 280,900.97 280,900.97 Open N
PAY APP 12;WELL HEAD TREATMENT 4 & 5 CHOYT 05/21/2025
601-00000-16500               PAY APP 12;WELL HEAD TREATMENT 4 & 5 295,685.23
601-00000-20600               RETAINAGE PAYABLE (14,784.26)

MENARDS - MAPLE GROVE 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 600.59 600.59 Open N
PW; IMPROVEMENTS OTHER THAN BLDGS CHOYT 05/15/2025
101-45200-50530               IMPROVEMENTS OTHER THAN BLDGS 600.59

MENARDS - MAPLE GROVE 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 91.06 91.06 Open N
PW; STREET MAINT-REPAIR CHOYT 05/21/2025
101-43100-50224               PW; STREET MAINT-REPAIR 91.06

MENARDS - MAPLE GROVE 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 55.94 55.94 Open N
PARKS; REPAIR/MAINT CHOYT 05/21/2025
101-45200-50220               PARKS; REPAIR/MAINT 55.94

MENESI, TAREK 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 123.29 123.29 Open N
UB refund for account: 4604 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 123.29

METROPOLITAN COUNCIL 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 51,586.39 51,586.39 Open N
177.22 MILLION GAL. WASTE WATER SERVICE JUN CHOYT 05/09/2025
602-49400-50313               177.22 MILLION GAL. WASTE WATER SERVICE 51,586.39

MICHELLE LYNN TIETZ 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 119.73 119.73 Open N
UB refund for account: 5921 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 119.73

MINUTEMAN PRESS 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 2,518.61 2,518.61 Open N
UTILITY BILLING; MAR-MAY 2025 CHOYT 05/20/2025
601-49400-50200               UTILITY BILLING; MAR-MAY 2025 1,259.30
602-49400-50200               UTILITY BILLING; MAR-MAY 2025 1,259.31

34



MONTICELLO ANIMAL CONTROL 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 55.00 55.00 Open N
PD; ANIMAL CONTROL- 4/16 141 AVE N/QUINWO CHOYT 04/16/2025
101-42140-50308               PD; ANIMAL CONTROL- 4/16 141 AVE N/QUINW 55.00

MSA PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, INC. 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 915.00 915.00 Open N
ELSIE STEPHENS PARK MASTER PLAN CHOYT 04/28/2025
405-41900-50300               ELSIE STEPHENS PARK MASTER PLAN 915.00

MSA PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, INC. 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 626.00 626.00 Open N
DAYTON CROW/MISSISSIPPI BOAT ACCESS CHOYT 04/24/2025
408-45300-50300               DAYTON CROW/MISSISSIPPI BOAT ACCESS 626.00

MSA PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, INC. 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 7,343.70 7,343.70 Open N
ELSIE STEPHENS CANOE/KAYAK LAUNCH DEVELOCHOYT 04/24/2025
408-45300-50300-2006               ELSIE STEPHENS CANOE/KAYAK LAUNCH 7,343.70

MSA PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, INC. 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 91,497.50 91,497.50 Open N
ELSIE STEPHENS CANOE/KAYAK LAUNCH DEVELOCHOYT 03/26/2025
408-45300-50300-2006               ELSIE STEPHENS CANOE/KAYAK LAUNCH 91,497.50

MUNNEKE, TYLER 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 127.97 127.97 Open N
UB refund for account: 4602 CHOYT 05/16/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 127.97

MUTUAL OF OMAHA 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 1,419.26 1,419.26 Open N
G000CL6X: STD/LTD PREMIUM-JUN 2025 CHOYT 05/20/2025
101-00000-21705               G000CL6X: STD/LTD PREMIUM-JUN 2025 1,419.26

NELSON, KATHRYN 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 90.13 90.13 Open N
UB refund for account: 3177 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 90.13

NORTH MEMORIAL HEALTH CARE 05/13/2025 05/27/2025 1,700.00 1,700.00 Open N
FD; EMR REFRESHER COURSES MAR-APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-42260-50208               FD; EMR REFRESHER COURSES 1,700.00

PA PIECHOWSKI 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 300.00 300.00 Open N

35



DAC RENTAL DEPOSIT REFUND: 05.10.2025 CHOYT 05/10/2025
101-00000-21716               DAC RENTAL DEPOSIT REFUND: 05.10.2025 300.00

PETERSON COMPANIES, INC 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 2,659.05 2,659.05 Open N
PAY APP 1; 2024 PARK IMPROV. IRRIGATION CHOYT 05/21/2025
405-41900-50530               PAY APP 1; 2024 PARK IMPROV. IRRIGATION 2,799.00
405-00000-20600               RETAINAGE PAYABLE (139.95)

PLAISTED COMPANIES 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 38.47 38.47 Open N
PW; 2"-4" FIELD STONE CHOYT 05/16/2025
101-43100-50210               PW; 2"-4" FIELD STONE 38.47

READY WATT ELECTRIC 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 2,000.00 2,000.00 Open N
PW; REPLACE MODEL 2 HEAD WITH REBUILT CHOYT 05/20/2025
101-42130-50220               PW; REPLACE MODEL 2 HEAD WITH REBUILT 2,000.00

ROGERS TRUE VALUE 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 65.86 65.86 Open N
PW; OPERATING SUPPLIES CHOYT 05/08/2025
101-43100-50210               PW; OPERATING SUPPLIES 65.86

ROGERS TRUE VALUE 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 65.99 65.99 Open N
PW; OPERATING SUPPLIES CHOYT 05/14/2025
101-43100-50210               PW; OPERATING SUPPLIES 65.99

ROGERS TRUE VALUE 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 8.44 8.44 Open N
PW; MISC HARDWARE CHOYT 05/20/2025
601-49400-50220               PW; MISC HARDWARE 8.44

ROGERS TRUE VALUE 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 8.99 8.99 Open N
PW; BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES CHOYT 05/21/2025
101-43100-50520               PW; BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES 8.99

ROZYCKI, RYAN 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 86.00 86.00 Open N
UB refund for account: 3260 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 86.00

SACHIN MEHTA  & SARAH KNIGHT 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 109.31 109.31 Open N
UB refund for account: 5770 CHOYT 05/12/2025

36



601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 109.31

SANKIE FINEBOY 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 450.00 450.00 Open N
DAC RENTAL DEPOSIT REFUND:EVENT 05.17.25 CHOYT 05/17/2025
101-00000-21716               DAC RENTAL DEPOSIT REFUND:EVENT 05.17.25 450.00

SAWYER, ANGELICA & RYAN 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 150.67 150.67 Open N
UB refund for account: 3925 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 150.67

SCHULTZ, CHASE 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 51.82 51.82 Open N
UB refund for account: 5858 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 51.82

SIMMER BROTHER HOMES 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 3,000.00 3,000.00 Open N
15422 111TH AVE N- LANDSCAPE ESCROW RELE CHOYT 05/20/2025
420-00000-22100               15422 111TH AVE LANDSCAPE ESCROW RELEASE 3,000.00

SITE ONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLY 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 749.47 749.47 Open N
PARKS; REPAIR/MAINT CHOYT 05/21/2025
101-45200-50220               PARKS; REPAIR/MAINT 749.47

STERNBERGER, MARLENE 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 20.73 20.73 Open N
UB refund for account: 2028 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 20.73

SUMMIT FIRE PROTECTION 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 508.00 508.00 Open N
PW; ANNUAL FIRE ALARM MONTITORING 2/1/25-1CHOYT 02/28/2025
101-43100-50520               PW; ANNUAL FIRE ALARM MONTITORING 2/1/25 508.00

SUNBELT RENTALS 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 1,335.67 1,335.67 Open N
PW; RENTALS (GENERAL); SCRUBBER CHOYT 05/16/2025
101-43100-50410               PW; RENTALS (GENERAL); SCRUBBER 1,335.67

TASC 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 39.59 39.59 Open N
COBRA ADMIN FEE; JUL 2025 CHOYT 05/17/2025
101-41810-50205               COBRA ADMIN FEE; JUL 2025 39.59

37



TASC 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 184.20 184.20 Open N
PER EMPLOYEE FEE; JUL 2025-SEPT 2025 CHOYT 05/20/2025
101-41810-50205               PER EMPLOYEE FEE; JUL 2025-SEPT 2025 184.20

TOSHIBA BUSINESS SYSTEMS 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 16.28 16.28 Open N
CH; ESTUDIO 2515 FRONT BW/CLR PRINTER FEB-  CHOYT 05/02/2025
101-41820-50308               CH; ESTUDIO 2515 FRONT PRINTER FEB-MAR 16.28

TOSHIBA BUSINESS SYSTEMS 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 131.18 131.18 Open N
FD; ESTUDIO 2525 MAY 2025 BW/CLR CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-42260-50200               FD; ESTUDIO 2525 MAY 2025 BW 3.40
101-42260-50200               FD; ESTUDIO 2525 APR 2025 CLR 127.78

TOSHIBA BUSINESS SYSTEMS 05/09/2025 05/27/2025 133.14 133.14 Open N
CH; ESTUDIO 4525 BACK PRINTER- 1401-BW/330   CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-41820-50308               CH; ESTUDIO 4525 BACK PRINTER- BW 5.74
101-41820-50308               CH; ESTUDIO 4525 BACK PRINTER-CLR 127.40

VADA CONTRACTING LLC 05/21/2025 05/27/2025 162,228.65 162,228.65 Open N
PAY APP 1; 2024 PARK IMPROV. ELSIE STEPHENS   CHOYT 05/21/2025
405-41900-50530               PAY APP 1; 2024 PARK IMPROV ELSIE STEPHE 170,767.00
405-00000-20600               RETAINAGE PAYABLE (8,538.35)

VEIT & COMPANY INC. 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 3,706.61 3,706.61 Open N
CLEAN-UP DAY 2025 CHOYT 05/11/2025
101-41650-50388               CLEAN-UP DAY 2025 3,706.61

VERCHOTA, SIMON 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 108.11 108.11 Open N
UB refund for account: 2372 CHOYT 05/12/2025
601-00000-15550               CREDIT FORWARD 108.11

VERIZON WIRELESS 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 150.12 150.12 Open N
PW;CELL SERVICE;MCM SEWER APR-MAY 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
602-49400-50321               PW;CELL SERVICE;MCM SEWER APR-MAY 150.12

VISA-CH 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 708.46 0.00 Paid Y
5198 VISA CH; APR 2025 CHOYT 05/12/2025
101-41820-50308               CH; DIGIUM CLOUD-PHONE 708.46

38



WATER LABORATORIES, INC 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 583.20 583.20 Open N
WATER TESTING; APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
601-49400-50300               WATER TESTING; APR 2025 583.20

XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 31.50 0.00 Paid Y
51-0013985527-8; CHESHIRE LGT; APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-43100-50230               51-0013985527-8; CHESHIRE LGT; APR 2025 31.50

XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 59.19 0.00 Paid Y
51-0013433451-8;BROCKTON  LGT; APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-43100-50230               51-0013433451-8;BROCKTON  LGT; APR 2025 59.19

XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 2,796.09 0.00 Paid Y
51-0011857801-8;PD/PW BLDG; APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-42120-50381               51-0011857801-8;PD/PW BLDG; APR 2025 1,398.05
101-43100-50381               51-0011857801-8;PD/PW BLDG; APR 2025 1,398.04

XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 31.50 0.00 Paid Y
51-0014297205-1;14641 U.PASS W/RH PKWY; AP  CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-43100-50230               51-0014297205-1;14641 U.PASS W/RH PKWY 31.50

XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 29.94 0.00 Paid Y
51-0013211437-0;SDL TRAIL LIFT; APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
601-49400-50381               51-0013211437-0;SDL TRAIL LIFT; APR 2025 29.94

XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 0.16 0.00 Paid Y
51-0014712973-2; 18160 SIREN;  APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-42130-50381               51-0014712973-2; 18160 SIREN;  APR 2025 0.16

XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 25.98 0.00 Paid Y
51-0014444653-6;14666 146TH AVE S.L. APR 202CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-43100-50230               51-0014444653-6;14666 146TH AVE S.L. APR 25.98

XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 22.36 0.00 Paid Y
51-6970693-8;17320 DAYTON SHED; APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-45200-50381               51-6970693-8;17320 DAYTON SHED; APR 22.36

39



XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 766.63 0.00 Paid Y
51-0013565432-4; 14695 RIVER/WELLHOUSE; AP  CHOYT 04/30/2025
601-49400-50381               51-0013565432-4; 14695 RIVER/WELLHOUSE; 766.63

XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 23.94 0.00 Paid Y
51-0014423188-8;14678 146TH AVE ST LGT; APR CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-43100-50230               51-0014423188-8;14678 146TH AVE ST LGT 23.94

XCEL ENERGY 05/12/2025 05/27/2025 35.01 0.00 Paid Y
51-0013923150-3;HOLLY LN; APR 2025 CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-43100-50230               51-0013923150-3;HOLLY LN; APR 2025 35.01

XCEL ENERGY 05/14/2025 05/27/2025 43.58 43.58 Open N
51-0014473382-9 12000.5 W FRENCH LK APR 20 CHOYT 04/30/2025
459-43100-50300-2001               51-0014473382-9 12000.5 W FRENCH LK 43.58

XCEL ENERGY 05/16/2025 05/27/2025 25.98 25.98 Open N
51-0014444656-9;14748.5 CHESHIRE CT S.L. AP  CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-43100-50230               51-0014444656-9;14748 CHESHIRE CT S.L. 25.98

XCEL ENERGY 05/19/2025 05/27/2025 45.22 45.22 Open N
51-0013348079-5;14430 DAYTON RIVER APR-MA  CHOYT 04/30/2025
101-45200-50381               51-0013348079-5;14430 DAYTON RIVER 45.22

XCEL ENERGY 05/20/2025 05/27/2025 4.19 4.19 Open N
51-5815803-3 F SIREN; APR-MAY 2025 CHOYT 05/20/2025
101-42130-50381               51-5815803-3 F SIREN; APR-MAY 4.19

# of Invoices:             290  # Due:   276           Totals: 913,993.01 900,190.19
# of Credit Memos:           4  # Due:     4           Totals: (2,624.98) (2,624.98)
Net of Invoices and Credit Memos: 911,368.03 897,565.21

*   3 Net Invoices have Credits Totalling: (23,462.56)
--- TOTALS BY PAYMENT CARD ACCOUNT ---

0843 1,373.35
0983 9,077.08
2363 1,755.21
3028 11,492.25

40



3212 828.98
3240 1,521.00
3356 4,660.12
3926 1,757.85
4473 1,997.13
4971 179.47
4983 70.27
5639 2,208.77
8767 411.00
9053 1,386.90

--- TOTALS BY FUND ---

101 - GENERAL FUND 111,221.22 107,487.03
225 - EDA 117.50 117.50
226 - CABLE 325.00 325.00
405 - PARK DEDICATION 165,802.70 165,802.70
408 - PARK TRAIL DEVELOPMENT 99,769.07 99,769.07
411 - DEVELOPER ESCROWS 6,461.61 6,461.61
420 - LANDSCAPE ESCROWS 12,000.00 12,000.00
459 - 2022 TIF STREET IMPROVEMENTS 43.58 43.58
601 - WATER FUND 454,580.41 444,511.78
602 - SEWER FUND 61,046.94 61,046.94

--- TOTALS BY DEPT/ACTIVITY ---

00000 - 370,967.61 370,967.61
41110 - Council 739.80 739.80
41120 - Committees-Commissions 9.48 9.48
41310 - Administration 5,851.58 5,851.58
41410 - Elections 20.69 20.69
41420 - City Clerk 1,188.00 1,188.00
41500 - Finance 2,110.84 2,110.84
41640 - Legal Services 7,202.80 7,202.80
41650 - Recycling Services 5,821.91 5,821.91
41710 - Plannning & Economic Dev 491.97 491.97

41



41810 - Central Services 1,030.81 1,030.81
41820 - Information Technology 8,283.00 7,574.54
41900 - General Govt 174,806.00 174,806.00
41910 - Activity Center 2,981.99 2,981.99
42120 - Patrol and Investigate 9,619.90 8,221.85
42130 - Emergency Mgmt 7,946.15 7,945.99
42140 - Animal Control 263.00 263.00
42260 - Fire Suppression 8,169.96 8,169.96
43100 - Public Works 41,162.13 39,556.97
45200 - Parks 10,557.26 10,534.90
45300 - Trail Development 99,769.07 99,769.07
49400 - Utilities 151,289.48 141,220.85
49999 - Contingency 1,084.60 1,084.60

42



Meeting Date: 05-27-25 
Item: D.

ITEM:

Approval of Liquor Licenses for 2025-2026

PREPARED BY:

Amy Benting, City Clerk

POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED:

Approval of annual liquor licenses

BACKGROUND:

Once all required fees have been paid and background checks have been passed.

The City has received annual liquor licenses application for the following businesses:
Dayton Gas Stop- 3.2 Off-Sale Beer
Dayton Wine and Spirits- Off-Sale Liquor
Daytona Golf- On-Sale and Sunday
Dehn’s County Manor- 3.2 Beer On-Sale and Wine and set
up license.
Sundance Entertainment- On-Sale/ Off-Sale and Sunday
Dayton Bar and Grill- On-Sale and Sunday 
Kwik Trip- Off Sale 

Fisher Farms - 3.2 Beer On-Sale and Wine and Set up license.

CRITICAL ISSUES:

There are no outstanding issues. 

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval of the annual liquor licenses once paperwork and fees are submitted. 

ATTACHMENTS:

None 

43



Meeting Date: 5-27-2025 
Item Number:  F.

PRESENTER:  

Jason Quisberg 

ITEM: 

Wellhouse #5 - Pay Request No. 9 

PREPARED BY:  

Jason Quisberg, Engineering 

POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: 

Approve Pay Request No. 9 for the Wellhouse #5 project 

BACKGROUND: 

See attached engineer’s memo for background and recommendations. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

See attached engineer’s memo for recommendations. 

ATTACHMENT(S): 
Engineer’s memo  
Pay Request No. 9 

44



 

 
 

 

Memo 

To: Martin Farrell, Public Works Director  From: Ash Hammerbeck, PE 

Jason Quisberg, PE 

Project/File: 227704873 Date: May 5, 2025 

    

Subject: Dayton Wellhouse No.5 - Pay Application #9 

 

Council Action Requested 

Staff is recommending Council to approve Pay Application #9 for the Dayton Wellhouse No.5 to Ebert 
Companies in the amount of $127,459.40. 

Summary 

Ebert Companies continued work on the project, including installation of joint sealants, plumbing, 
mechanical, electrical controls and integration, electrical generator, and obtaining the necessary utilities and 
materials. This pay request is for the work performed through 4/30/2025. 

The signed payment request form and pay application is attached for review.  

 
Total Contract Value to Date  $ 1,094,223.29 
Work Completed to Date $ 1,007,141.40 
5% Retainage  $ 50,357.15 
Amount Paid to Date  $ 829,324.85 
Total Pay App #9 $ 127,459.40 

 
 
Engineer’s Recommendation 
 
We have reviewed the request and recommend approving Pay Application #9 to Ebert Companies in the 
amount of $127,459.40 for the work completed and materials stored to date.  

45



5/20/2025

46



47



48



  Meeting Date:05/27/2025 
  Item Number: G. 

 

PRESENTER:  
Chief Enga 
 
ITEM:  
Approve Conditional Job Offer to Christian McCarty to fill the 2025 Budgeted vacancy.  
 
PREPARED BY:  
Chief Enga 
 
POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: 
Approve Conditional Job Offer to Christian McCarty to fill the 2025 Budgeted vacancy. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
During the 2025 City of Dayton Budget Process the City Council approved two Full-Time Hires 
starting July 1st.  The Dayton Police Department would like to offer a Conditional Job Offer to 
Christian McCarty pending Background, Psychological, and Medical to fill the 2025 Budgeted 
Vacancy.  Christian McCarty started his career in Law Enforcement with Sherburne County 
Sheriff’s Office in 2008 and has 17 yrs of experience.  During Christians career he was a School 
Resource Officer, Drug Task Force Investigator, and Field Training Officer.  Christian will bring 
experience and training to assist not only with the Dayton Police Department but the City of 
Dayton. 
 
I am recommending the selected candidate for the full-time officer position beginning June 29th, 
2025, conditional on Psychological, Physical, and background completion.  The full-time police 
officer position would be placed in pay grade PO at step 5 which is $49.68 per hour, plus 6% 
Longevity, per union contract, and would accumulate vacation and sick at the 5-10yr level.  
There would also be the usual one-year probationary period. 
 
CRITICAL ISSUES: 

• The selected candidate Christian McCarty will fill the 2025 Budgeted vacancy 
• The selected candidate Christian McCarty would start at Pay Grade PO, step 5, which is 

$49.68 per hour, plus 6% Longevity, per union contract, with one-year probationary 
period. 

• The selected candidate Christian McCarty would begin with 80 hours of vacation and 120 
hrs of Sick Leave and would accumulate at the 5-10yr level. 

• Conditional offer would be contingent upon completion of Background, Psychological, 
and Medical.  

• Anticipated start date would be June 29th, 2025. 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: 
Budgeted for in 2025 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve Conditional Job Offer to Christian McCarty to fill the 2025 Budgeted vacancy. 

49



  Meeting Date:05/27/2025 
  Item Number: G. 

 

PRESENTER:  
Chief Enga 
 
ITEM:  
Approve Conditional Job Offer to Josiah Needham to fill the 2025 Budgeted vacancy.  
 
PREPARED BY:  
Chief Enga 
 
POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: 
Approve Conditional Job Offer to Josiah Needham to fill the 2025 Budgeted vacancy. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
During the 2025 City of Dayton Budget Process the City Council approved two Full-Time Hires 
starting July 1st.  The Dayton Police Department would like to offer a Conditional Job Offer to 
Josiah Needham pending completing Post License, Background, Psychological, and Medical to 
fill the 2025 Budgeted Vacancy.  Josiah is a recent graduate from Alexandria Technical College 
and will be his first career Law Enforcement job. 
 
I am recommending the selected candidate for the full-time officer position beginning June 29th, 
2025, conditional on Post License, Psychological, Physical, and background completion.  The 
full-time police officer position would be placed in pay grade PO at step 1 which is $40.87 per 
hour, per union contract.  There would also be the usual one-year probationary period. 
 
CRITICAL ISSUES: 

• The selected candidate Josiah Needham will fill the 2025 Budget vacancy. 
• The selected candidate Josiah Needham would start at Pay Grade PO, step 1 which is 

$40.87 per hour, per union contract, with one-year probationary period. 
• Conditional offer would be contingent upon completion of Post License, Background, 

Psychological, and Medical.  
• Anticipated start date would be June 29th, 2025 

 
BUDGET IMPACT: 
Budgeted for in 2025 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve Conditional Job Offer to Josiah Needham to fill the 2025 Budgeted vacancy. 

50



  Meeting Date:05/27/2025 
  Item Number: G. 

 

PRESENTER:  
Chief Enga 
 
ITEM:  
Approve Conditional Job Offer to Marlen Salazar for Part-Time Police Officer  
 
PREPARED BY:  
Chief Enga 
 
POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: 
Approve Conditional Job Offer to Marlen Salazar for Part-Time Police Officer 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The Dayton Police Department would like to offer a Conditional Job Offer for Part-Time Police 
Officer to Marlen Salazar pending completing Post License, Background, Psychological, and 
Medical.  Marlen is a recent graduate from University of MN Crookston and North Hennepin 
Technical College and this will be her first career Law Enforcement job. 
 
I am recommending the selected candidate for the part-time officer position beginning June 29th, 
2025, conditional on Post License, Psychological, Physical, and background completion.  The 
part-time police officer position would be placed in pay grade PO at step 1 which is $40.87 per 
hour.  There would be no benefits provided for the Part-Time Position.  There would also be the 
usual one-year probationary period. 
 
CRITICAL ISSUES: 

• The selected candidate Marlen Salazar would start at Pay Grade PO, step 1 which is 
$40.87 per hour with no benefits, with one-year probationary period. 

• Conditional offer would be contingent upon completion of Post License, Background, 
Psychological, and Medical.  

• Anticipated start date would be June 29th, 2025 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: 
No impact to Budget 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve Conditional Job Offer for Part-Time Police Officer to Marlan Salazar 

51



  Meeting Date: May 27, 2025 
  Item Number: H 

 

ITEM: 
Approval of Purchase for TRPD for 17060 Dayton River Road 
 
APPLICANT:  
Ann Rexine, Principal Planner, Three Rivers Park District 
 
PREPARED BY:  
Jon Sevald, Community Development Director 
 
POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: 
Motion to Approve. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
During the May 6th City Council / Parks Commission Work Session regarding the West 
Mississippi River Regional Trail, the Council indicated support for Three Rivers Park District to 
purchase the Thomas Leannander property, 17060 Dayton River Road. 
 
CRITICAL ISSUES: 
None. 
 
COMMISSION REVIEW / ACTION (IF APPLICABLE): 
N/A 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO COUNCIL GOALS: 
Maintain and Enhance the Natural and Rural Community Connection 

• Facilitate an interconnected trail system 
• Provide and enhance public recreation space 

 
BUDGET IMPACT: 
None. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  
Aerial Photo 
Resolution 35-2025 
  

52



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING   
 
 

Aerial Photo 

 
 

 
May 6, 2025 

53



RESOLUTION No. 35-2025 
 

CITY OF DAYTON 
COUNTY OF HENNEPIN AND WRIGHT 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 
 

A RESOLUTION OF SUPPORT FOR THE ACQUISTION OF 17060 DAYTON RIVER ROAD 
BY THREE RIVERS PARK DISTRICT 

 
 
WEHREAS, the City of Dayton (“City”) participated in and passed Resolution No. 23-2016 in 

support for the West Mississippi River Regional Trail master plan on June 29, 2016; and  
 

WHEREAS, implementation of the West Mississippi River Regional Trail (“Regional Trail”) 
corridor requires acquisition of land sufficient to design, build, operate and maintain a regional trail; and  
 

WHEREAS, 17060 Dayton River Road (PID: 05-120-22-24-0007) was offered for sale to Three 
Rivers Park District; and,  
 

WHEREAS, the property owner has signed a purchase agreement to sell the property to Three 
Rivers Park District on a willing seller basis and intends to close in 2025; and  
 

WHEREAS, Three Rivers Park District is required to obtain municipal consent via Resolution 
when acquiring property; and  
 

WHEREAS, City has reviewed the acquisition of the Property by the Park District and find that 
it is in conformance with the Master Plan; and,  
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Dayton, Minnesota 
approves Three Rivers Park District’s purchase of the property rights of the aforementioned property for 
the West Mississippi River Regional Trail.  
 
 
Adopted by the City Council of the City of Dayton on this 27th day of May, 2025.  
 
 

Dennis Fisher, Mayor  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
Amy Benting, City Clerk  
 
Motion by _______________, Second by _______________.  
Resolution Approved 

54



  Meeting Date: May 27, 2025 
  Item Number: I 

 

ITEM: 
EDA Resignation 
 
APPLICANT:  
N/A 
 
PREPARED BY:  
Jon Sevald, Community Development Director 
 
POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: 
Motion to Accept Resignation of EDA Commissioner Juan Peralta and authorize publicizing 
Vacancy. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Commissioner Juan Peralta resigned his position on the EDA, effective May 19, 2025.  
Commissioner Peralta served as a Business repetitive on the EDA with a term expiring 
December 31, 2025.1 
 
The EDA consists of seven members, at least two of which shall be members of the City 
Council, each appointed by the Mayor and approved by the City Council for a term of six years.  
Vacancies shall be for the unexpired term.  Commissioners shall be members of the Dayton 
business community or residents of the city with business and/or economic development 
experience.2 
 
CRITICAL ISSUES: 
None. 
 
COMMISSION REVIEW / ACTION (IF APPLICABLE): 
None. 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO COUNCIL GOALS: 
N/A 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: 
N/A 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends Approval. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  
Resignation, May 19, 2025 

 
1  Resolution 38-2024 
2  EDA Bylaws, Article 2-Board 

55



From: Juan A. Peralta
To: Amy Benting
Subject: EDA
Date: Monday, May 19, 2025 3:13:48 PM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Amy,
I wanted to let you know that I will be resigning from my position on the EDA, as I will no
longer be employed with Ziegler effective 5/31. That will also be my last day serving as a
member of the EDA.
Please let me know if there is anything else you need from me as I wrap up my time with the
organization. I’ve appreciated the opportunity to be part of the EDA.
 
JUAN PERALTA
Branch Operations Manager

18171 Territorial Road, Dayton, MN 55369
Office 763-335-9102
Mobile 651-500-2099

FACEBOOK INSTAGRAM YOUTUBE LINKEDIN

 
 

56

mailto:Juan.Peralta@zieglercat.com
mailto:ABenting@daytonmn.gov
https://www.facebook.com/ZieglerCAT/
https://www.instagram.com/ziegler_cat/
https://www.youtube.com/user/ZieglerCAT
https://www.linkedin.com/company/ziegler-caterpillar/
https://www.zieglerrental.com/


  Meeting Date: 05-27-2025 
  Item Number: J. 

 

PRESENTER: Marty Farrell 
 
ITEM: 2024 Park Improvement Projects, Elsie Stephens Park North Pedestrian Bridge. 
 
PREPARED BY: Marty Farrell 
 
POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: Approve Payment of Pay Application #1 
to VADA Contracting LLC for a total of $162,228.65. 
 
BACKGROUND: This project was removed from the 2022 Park Improvements Project due to 
increased costs and timeline to get the bridge completed within the project completion date. 

Council awarded the contract for construction of the north pedestrian bridge at Elsie Stephens 
Park at their regular council meeting on 11-12-2024. 

CRITICAL ISSUES: N/A. 
Project Timeline 
Bidding documents available after  October 9 2024 Complete 

Advertising for bids  October 10 2024  Complete 

Bid opening  October 31 2024 Complete 

Contract award  November 12 2024 Completed 

Project Commence after  November 15 2024 Completed 

Substantial completion  June 30 2025 Completed ahead of schedule 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: Project estimate $250,000, Contract for $171,342, Project including 
contingency $183,336 from Fund 601, Contract outstanding balance $9,113.35. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve payment of Pay Application #1 for a total of $162,228.65. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): Work sheet, Pay Application #1. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

57



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

58



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 
 

 

59



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

60



  Meeting Date: 05-27-2025 
  Item Number: K. 

 

PRESENTER: Marty Farrell 
 
ITEM: 2024 Park Improvement Projects, Parks Irrigation well and electrical supply Invoices 
8793 and 8794. 
 
PREPARED BY: Marty Farrell 
 
POLICY DECISION ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: Approve payment of Invoices 8793 and 
8794 
 
BACKGROUND: Staff have been contacted by numerous residents about the quality of the 
grass in the open spaces in the newly developed parks. Staff has explored installation or 
improvement of irrigation systems in five City Parks, Elsie Stephens Park, River Hills Park, Ione 
Gardens, Hayden Hills and Sundance Woods. The irrigation project has been split into 2 distinct 
areas Irrigation system installation, and water supply, the work will be conducted by different 
contractors with the City coordinating the project. 

Council approved advertising for bids at the 09-24-24 regular council meeting. Bids were 
received from Stefl, and Renner well drilling. Council awarded the Contract for Well drilling and 
Electrical to Renner Well drilling at the 10-22-2024 regular Council meeting. 

CRITICAL ISSUES: N/A. 
 
Project Timeline 
Bidding documents available after  September 24th 2024 Complete 

Bid opening  October 15 2024 Complete 

Contract award  October 22 2024 Complete 

Project Commence after  October 22 2024 Complete 

Substantial completion  May 1 2025 Awaiting Electrical Supply 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: Project total cost of $204,777 from Fund 601. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve payment of Invoices 8793 and 8794. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): Project Balance Sheet, Invoice 8793 & 8794 
 

 

 

 

 

 

61



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

62



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 
 

 

63



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

64



  Meeting Date: 05-27-2025  
  Item Number: L. 
 

 

PRESENTER: Marty Farrell 
 
ITEM: MSA Water Trail Contract Amendment #3 
 
PREPARED BY: Marty Farrell 
 
POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: Acceptance of the Water Trail Contract 
Amendment #3. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
Park Commissioners and Staff expressed a desire to enhance the accessibility for residents, to 
the natural resources that we have available in the City of Dayton. One opportunity that has 
been discussed is how to best access the Mississippi and Crow Rivers, for the residents of the 
Dayton. 

Council approved the Water Trail Feasibility Study in October of 2021. Since then there have 
been numerous meetings with Stakeholder groups, Steering committee, presentations to the 
City Council and Park Commission, and an Open House for resident input. This has been an 
exhaustive process, that has taken a significant amount of time but has garnered a significant 
amount of interest from Agencies that have an interest and a presence in Dayton, such as the 
DNR, Three Rivers Park District, Friends of the Mississippi and the National Parks Service.  

The Parks Commission voted unanimously for Council acceptance of the Study. The Water Trail 
Study was accepted by the council at the February 28th meeting in 2023. 

Council Awarded MSA the contract to develop designs for the Elsie Stephens Park canoe/kayak 
launch at the regular council meeting on February 27 2024. Federal funding was not completed 
at this time and in an effort to keep the project moving forward, and be ready to bid once the 
Federal funding became available, it was recommended that the contract be amended to 
include only phases 1, 2, 3, and 5 ($80,550) to get the project bid ready, and pause until the 
Federal funding is released. We are at a stage where the funding has been appropriated, and 
would like to add phases 4 Bidding $5,800, and 6 Construction administration $37,000 back into 
the contract. Construction is projected to start in 2025 with substantial completion expected by 
November of 2025. 

There have been 2 other amendments to the original agreement, amendment 1 was approved 
by the Council at the regular council meeting on 01-14-2025 for $37,000 to expand the scope of 
work to incorporate additional amenities into the design to ensure maximum benefit from the 
Federal funding. Amendment 2 was a small amendment of $1500 for renderings for Park 
Commission and City Council meetings. 
 
CRITICAL ISSUES: Works toward achieving a Strategic Initiative identified by the City Council 
to “Enhance our Connections to the Natural Environment”. 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: Funded from HUD Grant $850,000, National Park Service Grant $100,000, 
CIP Park and Trail Development Fund 408 $250,000. 
 

65



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: To accept the Water Trail Contract Amendment #3 to add back in Phase 
4 Bidding management, and Phase 6 Construction Management $37,000 for a contract total  
including amendments 1 & 2 of $161,850.00. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): Original Water Trail proposal Document, and Amendment 1. 
 

66



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 
67



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

68



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

69



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

 

70



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

71



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

72



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

73



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

74



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 
75



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

76



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

77



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

78



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 
79



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

80



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

81



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

 

82



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

83



  Meeting Date: 05-27-2025 
  Item Number: M. 

 

PRESENTER: Marty Farrell 
 
ITEM: 2024 Park Improvement Projects, Parks Irrigation installation, pay application 1 for 
$2,659.00. 
 
PREPARED BY: Marty Farrell 
 
POLICY DECISION ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: Approve pay application #1 for $2,659.00 
 
BACKGROUND: Staff have been contacted by numerous residents about the quality of the 
grass in the open spaces in the newly developed parks. Staff has explored installation or 
improvement of irrigation systems in five City Parks, Elsie Stephens Park, River Hills Park, Ione 
Gardens, Hayden Hills and Sundance Woods. The irrigation project has been split into 2 distinct 
areas Irrigation system installation, and water supply, the work will be conducted by different 
contractors with the City coordinating the project. 

Council approved advertising for bids at the 09-24-24, meeting. Bids were received from 
Friedges, Peterson Companies, and Albrecht Company. Council awarded the Contract for 
irrigation installation to Peterson Companies at the 10-22-2024 regular Council meeting 

CRITICAL ISSUES: N/A. 
 
Project Timeline 
Bidding documents available after  September 24th 2024 Complete 

Bid opening  October 15 2024 Complete 

Contract award  October 22 2024 Complete 

Project Commence after  October 22 2024 Complete 

Substantial completion  June 1 2025 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: Project including contingency $332,792 from Fund 601. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve payment of Pay Application 1. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S): Project Balance Sheet, pay application 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

84



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

 

 

85



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

 

 

86



- 

PRESENTER: Marty Farrell 
 
ITEM: Well Head treatment pay application #12 from Magney Construction 
 
PREPARED BY: Marty Farrell 
 
POLICY DECISION/ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: Payment of Pay Application #12 for 
$280,900.97. This Pay application is for the Masonry that has been completed so far. 
 
BACKGROUND: The project includes addition of a new building adjacent to Wellhouse No. 4 
that includes horizontal pressure filter equipment. Water from Well 4 and future Well 5 will be 
filtered to remove Iron and Manganese to improve water quality. 
 
CRITICAL ISSUES: Aligns with the Strategic Initiative to “Build and Maintain Quality 
Infrastructure”. 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: 
 
Total Magney Contract budget including change orders 1, 2, 3,  $7,507,755.66 

Magney construction pay application #12                                        $280,900.97 

Total remaining Magney Contract budget                                     $3,282,911.07 

Total remaining project budget                                     $3,722,786.75 

Total remaining project contingency                                         $148,944.34 
 
Project funded from $4,000,000 Federal Grant, $1,750,000 State Grant, and Water Enterprise 
Fund 601. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Accept pay application #12 from Magney Construction for $280,900.97. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  Project balance sheet and Pay application #12. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

87



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

88



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

 

89



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

 

90



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

91



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  Page #  
 
 

 

92



CITY OF DAYTON 
COUNTIES OF HENNEPIN AND WRIGHT 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 
 

RESOLUTION 34-2025 
RESOLUTION ACCEPTING GYM EQUIPMENT FROM JOHN D’AGOSTINI 

 
 WHEREAS, The City of Dayton is generally authorized to accept donations of real and personal 
property pursuant to Minnesota Statutes Section 465.03 for the benefit of its citizens, and is specifically 
authorized to accept gifts and bequests for the benefit of police and fire services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, John D’Agostini donor has donated $11,134 worth of Gym Equipment to the Dayton 
Police Departments Wellness Program; and 
 
 WHEREAS, All such donations have been contributed to assist the city in the establishment and 
operation of police facilities and programs either alone or in cooperation with others, as allowed by law; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, The City Council finds that it is appropriate to accept the donations offered. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THE CITY OF 
DAYTON, MINNESOTA, AS FOLLOWS: 
 1. The donations described above are accepted and shall be used to help with the Police 
Departments Wellness Program. 
 2. The City Clerk is hereby directed to issue receipts to each donor acknowledging the city’s 
receipt of the donor’s donation. 
 
 Adopted by the City Council of the City of Dayton on June 25, 2024. 
 
 
 
 
  ____________________________________ 
  Mayor – Dennis Fisher 
 
    
         
                                                                         

____________________________________ 
           Clerk – Amy Benting  
 

93



  Meeting Date 5-27-25 
  Item: P. 

 

ITEM: 
 
2026 Budget Kick-Off Discussion 
 
PREPARED BY:  
 
Zach Doud, City Administrator 
 
POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: 
 
Direction needed on for 2026 Budget 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Each year the budget is a long drawn-out process of back and forth, for lack of a better term, 
negotiations between staff and council on what the budget should/will look like for the following 
year. This is something that I am looking to try and correct so that everyone does not have 
budget fatigue by the time we adopt a budget in December.  
 
With the above being said, I am looking for direction that can be used when Staff is looking at 
the budget for 2026. This way Staff and Council can look more at what is being provided for 
these numbers versus a conversation of what the number for the tax levy should be for next 
year. Whether the council looks at tax rate or the tax levy, there is typically a number that each 
council member has in mind when beginning the budget process. These numbers are different 
for each of you and that should be respected and anticipated. My goal is to try and get 
something in the budget that a majority of the council can agree on as the tax levy number for 
2026.  
 
Some context needs to be given to the Council in terms of changes from the 2025 budget year 
to the 2026 budget year for the council to give an informed answer for what they would like to 
see for a 2026 budget number. That can be in terms of tax rate (% of home value that taxes are 
used to be calculated) or in terms of tax levy (physical dollars the City receives).   
 
Tax Capacity increase from 2025 to 2026 is 8.10%  
Tax Capacity increase from 2025 to 2026 for just new construction is 6.38% 
 
2025 Tax Rate is 35.441% 
Tax levy needed to keep the 2026 Tax Rate the same as the 2025 Tax Rate is $777,000  
 
For some background and clarifying information, our tax levy is set once a year and cannot be 
changed once it is adopted. No matter how many homes are built in the city or new businesses 
that go up in the city, the tax levy is a static number that is set by the council and is the number 
of dollars that city staff has to work within when operating each day.  
 
 

94



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING   Page 2 of 2 
 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO COUNCIL GOALS: 
 
Foster a Safe and Welcoming Community 
Build and Maintain Quality Infrastructure 
Encourage Diversity and Manage Thoughtful Development 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
This is a directional item that staff is looking to get direction from the Council on.  
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  
 
None  

95



Meeting Date: 05-27-25 
Item: Q. 

ITEM: 
Parkway Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 

PREPARED BY:  
Jason Quisberg, Engineering 

POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: 
Authorize Preparation of Plans and Specifications for the Parkway Neighborhood Infrastructure 
Improvements Project 

BACKGROUND: 
The Parkway Neighborhood development is in process of application reviews/approvals. The 
proposed development includes a significant length of a road and utilities extension to serve the 
property. This extension spans across three parcels: one owned by the Schany Group (known 
as the Dayton Creek Add’n), one owned by the City of Dayton, and the third controlled by the 
proposing developer. 

Through discussions with the developer, it was decided that the City of Dayton would be 
responsible for financing, contracting, and constructing the associated infrastructure from 
Dayton Parkway, through the Schany parcel, and across the City owned parcel, stopping 
at/near the property line common to the City and development parcels. From which, the 
developer would be responsible through the development area. 

To accomplish this, the infrastructure design needs to be developed as city documents and bid 
competitively, in accordance with state statutes. A proposal for the engineering work associated 
with this effort was requested of Stantec. Attached is a proposal for design, bidding, and 
construction services on this project. 

Please see the proposal for additional information, including a depiction of the project area, 
design/project assumptions, anticipated costs, and schedule.  

RECOMMENDATION: 
Should Council desire to proceed with the project, it is recommended that the attached proposal 
be accepted and the preparation of plans and specifications be authorized.  

ATTACHMENT(S):  
Stantec Proposal for Engineering Services – Parkway Neighborhood Roadway Extension 

96



 

 

 
 

 

Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 
One Carlson Parkway North, Suite 100 
Plymouth MN  55447-4440  

May 5, 2025 

Dayton City Council 

12260 S Diamond Lake Rd 

Dayton, MN 55327 

Reference: Parkway Neighborhood Roadway Extension 

Dear Dayton City Council, 

As requested, Stantec has prepared a project scope, schedule, and budget for the Parkway Neighborhood 
Roadway Extension project. 

BACKGROUND AND IMPROVEMENTS  
 
A roadway extension from Dayton Parkway to the proposed Parkway Neighborhood development is needed 

to support the development (PID 3112022340009). The roadway extension is proposed to start at an 

unnamed road stub on an adjacent property (PID 3112022330009) and extend through City property (PID 

3112022340007) to the proposed development.  

 

The full roadway design will be completed by Stantec, from the unnamed road stub at Dayton Parkway to 

near the eastern limits of the City property. The roadway east of the easter limits of the City property  will be 

designed and constructed by the Developer and Developer’s Engineer.  

 

The preliminary opinion of probable project costs is approximately $3.0 million. This is a very high-level 

calculated cost that will need to be verified through a more detailed design and eventual public bid if the 

project were to move forward. 

 

SCOPE OF WORK 
 
The scope for this project is broken down into three tasks.   

 

TASK 1 – DATA COLLECTION, DESIGN/PLANS & SPECIFICATIONS -$105,000 
 
Task 1 includes services related to the preparations of bidding documents for this project.  This includes the 

collection of existing site data, design, and the production of construction plans and technical specifications.  

Wetland delineations and wetland permitting will be coordinated separate from this scope. The scope 

includes the following: 

• Coordinate additional Geotechnical investigation, as needed (costs for the soil borings and 
geotechnical report are not included in this scope and will be invoiced directly to the City) 

• Collection of preliminary survey, as needed. 

• Develop detailed opinion of probable costs/cost estimates 

97



May 5, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 2 of 6  

Reference: Parkway Neighborhood Roadway Extension 

 

 
  

 

• Prepare design plans and specifications 

Deliverables will include construction plans, specifications, refined opinion of probable 

construction costs.   

 

Upon completion of work included in Task 1, City will have the opportunity to direct if the project should 

continue to the bidding stage. 

 

TASK 2 – BIDDING - $4,000 
 
This task involves the coordination of soliciting contractor bids for the construction of the improvement 

project.  This includes advertisement of the project, completion of the bid opening process, and preparation 

of a tabulation of the received bids along with a recommendation for award. 

 

Deliverables will include a contractor bid tabulation and award recommendation. 

 

At the completion of bidding, should bids be found favorable, Council can award a contract and proceed 

with construction of the project.  If bids are not found favorable or if other circumstances arise detrimental to 

the City, Council can reject the bid to avoid any further cost obligations to the project. 

 
TASK 3 – CONSTRUCTION SERVICES -$95,000 
 
If the project continues to construction, construction services can be provided to coordinate the project 

through this stage.  Construction activities typically involved in construction projects such as this include: 

• Coordinating and leading a preconstruction meeting and routine construction progress meetings 

• Construction survey staking 

• Construction observation to verify compliance with city standards and technical specifications 

• Quantity tracking and preparation of contractor pay requests 

• Evaluation of contractor change order requests, and processing of these requests as appropriate 

• Communications with project stakeholders, impacted property owners, and City staff as needed 

• Documentation of material testing, plan deviations, events within the project area, etc. 

• Project closeout and preparation of record plan drawings 

Deliverables include record plan drawings. 

COMPENSATION 
 

The following is our anticipated budget by task. All tasks will be billed on a time and materials basis not to 

exceed the total fee listed without prior authorization from the City. Invoices will reflect the actual effort it 

takes to complete the scope of work proposed. If any design information can be provided by the developing 

parcels in the area, the scope of work may be reduced. The following are not included within the fee and 

98



May 5, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 3 of 6  

Reference: Parkway Neighborhood Roadway Extension 

 

 
  

 

are the City’s responsibility: administrative review, application/permit fees, review fees, and reproduction 

fees. 

 

No. Task Name Estimated Fee 

1 Data Collection, Design/Plans & Specifications $105,000 

2 Bidding $4,000 

3 Construction Services $95,000 

 Estimated Total $204,000 

 
ASSUMPTIONS 
 
Note the following assumptions were made in preparation of this proposal.  If any of these assumptions are 

found inaccurate, the level of effort required to complete the tasks as outlined may change, potentially with 

great significance: 

1. Stormwater management plans certified by a licensed Professional Engineer will be provided by the 

Developer’s Engineer. An Elm Creek Watershed Management Commission permit will be applied 

for and obtained by the Developer.  
2. An NPDES permit will be applied for and obtained by the Contractor. 
3. Topographic survey for design will be using survey data from previous efforts related to this project 

area and supplemented with partial survey data as part of this project.   
4. Soil boring data for design will be using soil data from previous efforts related to this project area. 

Additional soil borings may be required and will be obtained under a separate contract. 
Geotechnical services are not included with this scope. 

5. ROW/easement acquisition or appraisals are not included with this scope.  

6. Land rights/site access for PID 3112022330009 will be coordinated by the City.  

7. Street lighting design will be provided.  

 

SCHEDULE 
 

It is expected the plans and specifications will be prepared over the summer, finalized late 2025, allowing a 

spring 2026 bid.  

 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

The scope of services will be performed in accordance with the Master Services agreement between 
Stantec and the City of Dayton.  Please indicate your acceptance of this scope of work by signing on page 
5. 

We appreciate the opportunity to continue to work with the City of Dayton and to contribute to the success 
of ongoing infrastructure projects.  Please do not hesitate to contact us with any questions. 

99



May 5, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 4 of 6  

Reference: Parkway Neighborhood Roadway Extension 

 

 
  

 

Regards, 

STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES INC. 

 

 

 
  

  
 

Jason Quisberg PE 
Senior Associate, Senior Civil Engineer 
Phone: 763-252-6873 
Mobile: 952-334-0542 
jason.quisberg@stantec.com 

Mark Schroeher PE 

Associate, Senior Civil Engineer 
Phone: (651) 395-5216 
Mobile: 952-334-2838 
mark.schroeher@stantec.com 

 

100



May 5, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 5 of 6  

Reference: Parkway Neighborhood Roadway Extension 

 

 
  

 

By signing this proposal, the City of Dayton authorizes Stantec to proceed with the services herein 

 

described. 
 

This proposal is accepted and agreed on the _______ of ________________________, _________. 

                                                                            Day                            Month                          Year    

 

 

Per:  _____________________________________City of Dayton________________________________ 

                                                                         Client Company Name 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Print Name & Title 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Signature 

 
 
 

 

 

 

  

101



May 5, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 6 of 6  

Reference: Parkway Neighborhood Roadway Extension 

 

 
  

 

Attachment A: Project Location 

 

 

 

 

 

 

102



 

  

 

Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 
One Carlson Parkway North, Suite 100 
Plymouth MN  55447-4440  

May 20, 2025 

Dayton City Council 
12260 S Diamond Lake Rd 
Dayton, MN 55327 

Reference: 113th Avenue/East French Lake Road Moratorium Area Concept Plans 

Dear Dayton City Council, 

As requested, Stantec has prepared a project scope, schedule, and budget to assist in concept planning for 
the 113th Avenue/East French Lake Road Moratorium area. 

BACKGROUND AND IMPROVEMENTS  
 
Recently the Oppidan Concept Plan went to both Planning Commission and City Council leading to 
discussions regarding the proposed street layout for the site and surrounding areas. The Council elected to 
move forward with a 6-month moratorium to evaluate potential roadway layouts and land uses. A 
conceptual figure of the area with street layouts, building layouts, and land uses was requested as a part of 
this evaluation.  
 
Following the concept planning, the developers will determine the final roadway and site layouts as they 
develop their individual development plans.  
 
SCOPE OF WORK 
 
The scope for this project is broken down into two tasks.  
 
 
TASK 1 – Concept Plan Development - $11,800 
 
Stantec will create two separate concept plans for the 113th Ave/East French Lake Road Area. Those 
alternatives will include a plan incorporating the extension of the 113th Ave as well as a separate alternative 
which reviews the layout incorporating an east west connector street from Dayton Parkway to East French 
Lake Road.  
 
The site plans will include conceptual road layouts, building/parking areas, lot layouts for single family 
areas, approximated pond sizes, and general land use for the areas shown. These plans will be based on 
industry standards and similar development within the City of Dayton.  
 
Deliverables will include the concept plans described above. 
 

103



May 20, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 2 of 4  

Reference: 113th/East French Lake Road Moratorium Area Concept Plan  

 

  

 

TASK 2 – Concept Plan Summary and Preferred Concept Update - $3,500 
 
Stantec will prepare a summary of the two conceptual layouts which will be presented to the City Council for 
their review and discussion. We will present the potential benefits and drawbacks to the alternatives for this 
discussion. Following that meeting, Stantec will incorporate feedback from the necessary stakeholders in 
updating one of the conceptual layouts as the preferred layout.  
 
 
Deliverables will include the memo described above. 
 
The estimated total cost for the work described above is $15,300. 
 
ASSUMPTIONS 
 
Note the following assumptions were made in preparation of this proposal. If any of these assumptions are 
found inaccurate, the level of effort required to complete the tasks as outlined may change, potentially with 
great significance: 

1. Topographic survey and other design data will be from public sources and no field data collection 
will be required.   

2. The conceptual plan will depict potential road and lot layouts and will not include a grading 
component. As development occurs, the final grading of the parcels within this area will need to be 
determined by the end users.  

3. No stormwater calculations will be completed with this task. Pond sizes will be approximated based 
on industry standards and similar developments. 

SCHEDULE 
 
It is expected that the concept figures will be ready for discussions at a June or July Council Meeting. With 
the revised concept to follow approximately a month later. The memo would follow shortly after Council 
elects to finalize the layout. 
 
 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

The scope of services will be performed in accordance with the Master Services agreement between 
Stantec and the City of Dayton.  Please indicate your acceptance of this scope of work by signing below. 

We appreciate the opportunity to continue to work with the City of Dayton and to contribute to the success 
of ongoing infrastructure projects.  Please do not hesitate to contact us with any questions. 

 
 

104



May 20, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 3 of 4  

Reference: 113th/East French Lake Road Moratorium Area Concept Plan  

 

  

 

Regards, 

STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES INC. 

 
 
 
 
  
Jason Quisberg PE 
Senior Associate, Senior Civil Engineer 
Phone: 763-252-6873 
Mobile: 952-334-0542 
jason.quisberg@stantec.com 

Mark Schroeher PE 
Associate, Senior Civil Engineer 
Phone: (651) 395-5216 
Mobile: 952-334-2838 
mark.schroeher@stantec.com 

 

 

By signing this proposal, the City of Dayton authorizes Stantec to proceed with the services herein 
 
described. 
 

This proposal is accepted and agreed on the _______ of ________________________, _________. 
                                                                            Day                            Month                          Year    
 
 
Per:  _________________________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                         Client Company Name 
 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Print Name & Title 
 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Signature 

 
 
 

 

105



May 20, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 4 of 4  

Reference: 113th/East French Lake Road Moratorium Area Concept Plan  

 

  

 

Attachment A: Moratorium Area 

 

106



Meeting Date: 05-27-2025 
Item: S. 

ITEM: 
Dayton Parkway Traffic Signals: CSAH 81–Brockton Lane 

PREPARED BY:  
Jason Quisberg, Engineering 

POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: 
Authorize preparation of plans and specifications for the Dayton Parkway Traffic Signals project 

BACKGROUND: 
A project involving the signalization of the intersections between I-91 and Brockton Lane and I-
94 and CSAH 81 was discussed last summer. These improvements would support currently 
proposed and future development in the area, along with current users as these intersections 
provide access to Dayton Parkway, and ultimately, I-94.  

The attached memo (previously shared) includes some background relating to the intersections 
along Dayton Parkway, along with some potential project costs and funding options for 
signalizing the currently uncontrolled intersections. Note that some of the anticipated funding 
sources have changed since the memo was drafted, but otherwise, the memo remains largely 
accurate.  

Council authorized a feasibility study in August 2024. The primary intent of the feasibility study 
was to satisfy the statue requirement related to Chapter 429, that used for imposing special 
assessments for funding of the project. 

The currently anticipated project funding no longer utilizes special assessments. Instead, a 
combination of Municipal State Aid (MSA), direct developer contributions, and city and/or other 
user contributions are expected. 

Because special assessments are no longer being considered for this project, the technical 
study/report completed is no longer needed to satisfy statute requirements. However, the report 
does document warrant for the project and provides justification for the improvements proposed. 
A copy of the report is included for reference. 

The engineering proposal provided includes scope to prepare bidding documents, i.e. plans and 
specifications, as well as to coordinate public bidding for the project. Construction services can 
be discussed once that phase of the project nears. Note: Construction inspection coordination 
with Hennepin County will be discussed during the design process; this could change the scope 
of services required of Stantec for the project. 

See the attached report and engineering proposal for additional project information, including 
general scope, budget, and schedule. 

107



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING   Page 2 of 2 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the engineering proposal for the preparation of plans and specifications for the 
proposed project. 

 

ATTACHMENT(S):  
Memo: Dayton Parkway Intersections – Signalization (project description and background) 
Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements – Feasibility Report 
Engineering Proposal for Dayton Parkway Traffic Signals – Preparation of Plans & Specs 

108



 

 
 

 

Memo 

To: Jon Sevald, CD Director 

City of Dayton 

From: Jason Quisberg 

Click or tap here to enter text. 

Project/File: 193806765 Date: May 23, 2024 

 

Reference: Dayton Parkway Intersections - Signalization 

The Dayton Parkway Interchange was opened in 2022. Construction included signalization of the Dayton 
Parkway connection at Brockton Lane (CR-101), as well as at the two access ramp intersections; with the 
connection at CSAH-81 having already been signalized. The expectation has been that the future/planned 
intersection between Brockton Lane and the interchange would be signalized when the area develops, and 
the existing Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersection would be signalized when warranted. 

 

There are currently proposed developments that require access to the future/planned intersection. 
Additionally, there are currently proposed developments that will put additional pressure on the Holly 
Lane/Territorial Road intersection, to a magnitude that is expected to trigger warrants for signalization. 
Therefore, it is recommended that intersection controls at both intersections be considered as these 
expected developments move towards construction.  

 

109



May 23, 2024 
Jon Sevald 
Page 2 of 3  

Reference: Dayton Parkway Intersections - Signalization 

 
 

 

Anticipated Project Budget: 

For budgeting purposes, we are estimating $1,500,000 for a project to construct signal systems at these 
two intersections ($750,000 for each intersection). Below are some potential considerations for when 
evaluating possible funding sources for this project. 

Future (Westerly) Intersection:  

It could be argued the sole benefit from signalizing this intersection is to improve access from the (future) 
adjacent developments utilizing this intersection as their primary, and only, means of access. Therefore, it 
seems reasonable that costs for the improvements be funded via the developments utilizing the intersection 
for access. The level of funding responsibility, entirely covering the project costs, or limited to a portion of 
the costs, will need to be determined.  

The parcels expected to benefit from signalizing this intersection include: 

1. Brockton Rush Creek Partners 
2. Schany Group – North Parcel 
3. Schany Group – South Parcel 
4. City of Dayton Parcel (note: potential sale of this parcel under consideration) 
5. Gordon Roberg (Dayton Parkway Neighborhood development) 

Existing Holly Ln/Territorial Rd (Easterly) Intersection: 

Benefit to signalization at this intersection would be more widespread as it is an existing four-legged 
intersection serving both regional and local traffic on the minor legs. Therefore, it is expected that the entire 
costs associated with the signalization of this intersection would not be the responsibility of a single user, or 
even limited number of users (developments).  

Assigning cost responsibility to new developments based on contributing “proportionate share” of the traffic 
at the intersection might be an appropriate method for partially funding the improvements. For example, 
based on the latest traffic counts, approximately 6,065 vehicles utilize this intersection on a daily basis. 
Utilizing the Institute of Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, the anticipated trips that would be 
generated with the Kwik Trip and Opus developments are 8,644 vehicles/day and 467 vehicles/day 
respectively. It should be noted that it is expected that 99%+ of the trips generated, for both sites, will utilize 
this intersection for access to the development sites. 

Therefore, it could be said that Kwik Trip traffic comprises of 59% (8,644 of the would be 14,709 total) of the 
vehicles utilizing the intersection. Similarly, Opus traffic comprises of 7% (467 of the would be 6,532 total). 
Translated to the share of estimated costs, based on the $750,000 budgetary estimate, the cost 
responsibility would be $442,500 for Kwik Trip and $52,500 for Opus. This leaves $275,000 ($750,000-
$422,500-$52,500) to be funded by the city. 

 

 

 

110



May 23, 2024 
Jon Sevald 
Page 3 of 3  

Reference: Dayton Parkway Intersections - Signalization 

 
 

 

Potential Funding Sources: 

1. Chapter 429 Special Assessments  
2. Direct developer contribution (via development agreements) 
3. Special Area Charges  
4. Tax Increment Financing (TIF) 
5. City transportation fund 
6. Municipal State Aid fund 

It might be appropriate to utilize multiple funding sources, whether the signals are constructed as part of the 
same project, or as separate projects, as it may not be reasonable for any single source to cover the entire 
project costs. 

Recommendation: 

It is recommended that a project to signalize these two intersections be initiated sooner rather than later 
such that the signals can be in place prior to the currently proposed developments need the benefit of the 
intersection control for adequate access. Stantec can help establish the project scope and timeline, and 
provide a proposal for the engineering component of the project if desired. 

 

Respectfully, 

STANTEC CONSULTING SERVICES INC. 

Jason Quisberg  
Senior Associate, Senior Civil Engineer 
Phone: (763) 252-6873 
jason.quisberg@stantec.com 

Attachment: [Attachment] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

111



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Dayton Parkway 
Traffic Signal Improvements 

Feasibility Report 

S
ta

n
te

c
 C

o
n

s
u

lt
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 I
n

c
. 

Prepared for: 
City of Dayton, MN 

Prepared by: 
Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 

May 20, 2025 

Project/File: 
Stantec No. 193807255 

112



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 

 Project: 193807255 
 

Revision Description Author Date Quality 

Check 

Date Independent 

Review 

Date 

0 Initial Draft A. Capets 12/23/24 E. Terhaar 12/23/24 J. Quisberg 12/23/24 

1 Final Draft E. Terhaar 5/20/2025 T. Fidler 5/20/2025 J. Quisberg 5/20/2025 

        

 
 

113



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 

 Project: 193807255 
 

The conclusions in the Report titled Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements are Stantec’s 

professional opinion, as of the time of the Report, and concerning the scope described in the Report. The 

opinions in the document are based on conditions and information existing at the time the scope of work 

was conducted and do not consider any subsequent changes. The Report relates solely to the specific 

project for which Stantec was retained and the stated purpose for which the Report was prepared. The 

Report is not to be used or relied on for any variation or extension of the project, or for any other project 

or purpose, and any unauthorized use or reliance is at the recipient’s own risk. 

Stantec has assumed all information received from the City of Dayton (the “Client”) and third parties in the 

preparation of the Report to be correct. While Stantec has exercised a customary level of judgment or 

due diligence in the use of such information, Stantec assumes no responsibility for the consequences of 

any error or omission contained therein. 

This Report is intended solely for use by the Client in accordance with Stantec’s contract with the Client. 

While the Report may be provided by the Client to applicable authorities having jurisdiction and to other 

third parties in connection with the project, Stantec disclaims any legal duty based upon warranty, 

reliance or any other theory to any third party, and will not be liable to such third party for any damages or 

losses of any kind that may result. 

I hereby certify that this plan, specification, or report was prepared by me or under my direct supervision 

and that I am a duly Licensed Professional Engineer under the laws of the state of Minnesota. 

 

Prepared by   

(signature) 

Edward Terhaar, PE1 

Date: May 20, 2025 License Number: 24441 
 

Reviewed by   

(signature) 

Tom Fidler, PE 
Date: May 20, 2025 License Number: 26124 
 

Approved by   

(signature) 

Jason Quisberg, PE 
Date: May 20, 2025 License Number: 44315

114



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
Table of Contents 

 Project: 193807255 i
 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary .................................................................................................................................... ii 
1 Project History ............................................................................................................................. 1 
2 Project Area Characteristics ...................................................................................................... 1 
2.1 Existing Conditions ........................................................................................................................ 1 
2.1.1 Future Roadway Intersection ........................................................................................................ 1 
2.1.2 Holly Lane/Territorial Road Intersection ........................................................................................ 2 
2.2 Ongoing Developments ................................................................................................................. 3 

3 Proposed Improvements ............................................................................................................ 4 
3.1 Curb Modifications ......................................................................................................................... 4 
3.2 Traffic Signals ................................................................................................................................ 4 
3.2.1 Signal Warrant Analysis ................................................................................................................ 5 

4 Impact of Proposed Improvements ........................................................................................... 9 
5 Estimated Costs and Funding .................................................................................................... 9 
6 Finance ......................................................................................................................................... 9 
7 Project Schedule ......................................................................................................................... 9 
8 Feasibility and Recommendation ............................................................................................ 10 
 
List of Tables 
Table 1 – Trip Generation around Future Roadway Intersection.................................................................. 6 
Table 2 – Trip Generation around Holly/Territorial Intersection .................................................................... 7 
Table 3 – Proposed Project Schedule ........................................................................................................ 10 
 

List of Figures 
Figure 1 – Location Map ............................................................................................................................. iii 
Figure 2 – Future Roadway Intersection Layout ...................................................................................... 2 
Figure 3 – Holly Lane/Territorial Road Intersection Layout .................................................................... 3 
 

List of Appendices 
Appendix A – PEAK HOUR TURNING MOVEMENT COUNTS 
Appendix B – MNDOT TRAFFIC FORECAST 
Appendix C – ITE TRIP GENERATION DEVELOPMENT REPORTS 
Appendix D – SIGNAL WARRANT ANALYSIS 
 
 

115



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
Executive Summary 

 Project: 193807255 ii
 

Executive Summary 

The proposed project consists of traffic signal and related improvements at the following intersections: 

1. Dayton Parkway and Holly Lane/Territorial Road 

2. Dayton Parkway and Future Development Roadway 

New traffic signals are proposed for both intersections including infrastructure to accommodate 

interconnection at a future date. The location of the proposed intersections is shown on Figure 1. 

The total project cost for the proposed intersection improvements is $1,500,000.  Funding up to 

$1,000,000 is available from Municipal State Aid (MSA), and the balance will be paid with a combination 

of direct developer contributions and city funds.  The project is deemed necessary, cost-effective, 

feasible, and should benefit the existing and future users of the corridor. 

  

116



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
Executive Summary 

 Project: 193807255 iii
 

 

Figure 1 – Location Map 

117



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
1 Project History 

 Project: 193807255 1
 

1 Project History 

The Dayton Parkway interchange with Interstate 94 (I-94) at Exit 210 was opened in 2022. Construction 

of the diverging diamond interchange (DDI) included signalization of both ramp terminals and the Dayton 

Parkway connection at Brockton Lane (CR 101) to the west. Dayton Parkway at CSAH 81 northeast of 

the interchange area is currently signalized. The expectation has been that the future/planned intersection 

between Brockton Lane and the interchange would be signalized when the areas north and south of 

Dayton Parkway develop, and the existing Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersection would be signalized 

when warranted. 

The City of Dayton (the City) is currently reviewing development proposals that would utilize the future 

intersection west of the interchange. Additionally, there are proposed developments that are anticipated 

to increase volume at the Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersection to a magnitude that is expected to 

trigger warrants for signalization. 

The Dayton City Council initiated the project and ordered the preparation of a feasibility report for two 

traffic signals at the Future Roadway and Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersections on August 12, 2024, 

with Resolution No. 39-2024. 

This report is based on field observations, record drawing information, available online resources, aerial 

imagery, and past work completed by Stantec. 

 

2 Project Area Characteristics 

The Dayton Parkway interchange is located in the southwest of Dayton, Minnesota. The interchange is a 

DDI with signalized ramp terminal intersections. The two study intersections are located along the Dayton 

Parkway corridor with signals at the Dayton Parkway intersections with Brockton Lane and CSAH 81. The 

Future Roadway intersection is located approximately 900 feet west of the I-94 eastbound ramps signal 

and the Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersection is located approximately 1,300 feet east of the I-94 

westbound ramps signal. Characteristics of these intersections are further described below. 

2.1 Existing Conditions 

2.1.1 Future Roadway Intersection 

The existing intersection at Dayton Parkway & the Future Roadway is a four-leg intersection. Dayton 

Parkway is a four-lane divided road that has a posted speed limit of 40 mph, and while it is currently 

classified as local, it is expected to be upgraded in the future. The eastbound and westbound approaches 

are Dayton Parkway, which each have two through lanes, one left-turn lane, and one right-turn lane. The 

118



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
2 Project Area Characteristics 

 Project: 193807255 2
 

Future Roadway has not yet been constructed but will serve as primary access to adjacent 

developments. The northbound and southbound approaches are the Future Roadway, which are each 

planned to have one through lane, one left-turn lane, and one right-turn lane. A shared-use path is 

present on the north side of Dayton Parkway with a marked crossing on the north leg of the Future 

Roadway. Additional crossings are anticipated across Dayton Parkway when the Future Roadway is 

constructed. The existing intersection layout is shown on Figure 12. 

The land use around the intersection is undeveloped but is anticipated to be a mixture of commercial and 

residential uses. Details on this development are shown in Section 2.2. 

 

Figure 2 – Future Roadway Intersection Layout 

2.1.2 Holly Lane/Territorial Road Intersection 

The existing intersection at Dayton Parkway & Holly Lane/Territorial Road is a four-leg, two-way stop-

controlled (TWSC) intersection. Holly Lane and Territorial Road are two-lane undivided roads classified 

as local with posted speed limits of 30 mph. Dayton Parkway is a four-lane divided road that has a posted 

speed limit of 40 mph and is currently classified as local, pending future reclassification. The intersection 

is at an angle, so for this study, the eastbound and westbound approaches are considered Dayton 

Parkway, which each have two through lanes, one left-turn lane, and one right-turn lane. The northbound 

approach is Holly Lane and the southbound approach is Territorial Road, which each have one through 

119



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
2 Project Area Characteristics 

 Project: 193807255 3
 

lane, one left-turn lane, and one right-turn lane. Stop control is present on Holly Lane and Territorial 

Road. Shared-use paths are present in all quadrants except the southeast quadrant with a marked 

crossing on the north leg/Territorial Road and an unmarked crossing on the west leg/Dayton Parkway, 

which has a median refuge. The existing intersection layout is shown on Figure 13. 

The land use around the intersection is still developing but is generally commercial and light industrial.  

Currently the commercial establishment occupies the northwest quadrant, the southeast and southwest 

are currently under construction with a warehouse and truck stop/convenience store respectively. The 

northeast quadrant is currently vacant. 

 

Figure 3 – Holly Lane/Territorial Road Intersection Layout 

2.2 Ongoing Developments 

Ongoing developments surrounding the two study intersections are anticipated to necessitate 

signalization. The developments are described below. 

On the north and south sides of Dayton Parkway surrounding the Future Roadway intersection, significant 

developments are proposed to occupy the vacant parcels. This includes the Southwest Dayton and 

Dayton Parkway Neighborhood developments which consist of residential and commercial uses. These 

developments were examined and analyzed by Stantec in February 2023 and April 2024 and were 

120



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
3 Proposed Improvements 

 Project: 193807255 4
 

documented in the memos titled ‘Traffic Operations Information for Southwest Dayton Development’ and 

‘Traffic Impact Study for The Parkway Neighborhood in Dayton, MN’, respectively. The Future Roadway 

intersection is expected to be both developments’ primary and only means of access to the roadway 

network. The following uses are proposed in the developments: 

• 6 Apartment buildings – 320, 230, 220, 210, 180, and 105 units 

• Gas station and convenience store – 10 vehicle fueling positions (VFP) 

• 2 Retail centers – 24,000 and 6,000 square feet (sf) 

• Coffee shop with drive through – 2,000 sf 

• Liquor store – 9,000 sf 

• Supermarket – 44,000 sf 

• Pharmacy with drive through – 13,000 sf 

Near the Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersection two developments are proposed. The parcel in the 

southwest quadrant will be occupied by a Kwik Trip truck stop/gas station and convenience store with 20 

VFP for passenger cars and 5 VFP for trucks. The parcel in the southeast quadrant will be occupied by 

an Opus combined warehouse/office building with a total square footage of 132,000 sf. Approximately 

80% of the building was estimated to be occupied by warehouse. The Holly Lane/Territorial Road 

intersection is expected to be both developments’ primary access to the roadway network. 

 

3 Proposed Improvements 

This feasibility report primarily focuses on the signals anticipated at the two study intersections, however 

additional improvements may be necessary to accommodate the needs of the existing roadway network 

and the future developments. 

3.1 Curb Modifications 

At the intersection of Dayton Parkway & the Future Roadway, curb radii in each quadrant will be modified 

to accommodate turning trucks.  This work is anticipated to be completed in summer 2025 prior to the 

installation of signals. 

3.2 Traffic Signals 

The Dayton Parkway intersections with the Future Roadway and with Holly Lane/Territorial Road are 

proposed to be signalized. Signals will be designed to meet Hennepin County standards and will include 

pedestrian signals that meet Public Right-of-Way Accessibility Guidelines (PROWAG) where existing and 

future pedestrian crossings are present. 

121



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
3 Proposed Improvements 

 Project: 193807255 5
 

3.2.1 Signal Warrant Analysis 

Existing turning movement counts at the study intersections were used to perform the signal warrant 

analysis. 13-hour counts were collected by Quality Counts at the Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersection 

on Thursday, January 18, 2024 under the Stantec project for the ‘Dayton Intersection Inventory and 

Safety Assessment’ and at the Future Roadway intersection on Thursday, February 22, 2024 under the 

Stantec project for the ‘Traffic Impact Study for The Parkway Neighborhood in Dayton, MN’. Detailed 

turning movement count data is provided in Appendix A. 

Volume forecasts were developed to assess the impact of volume growth in the analysis. A growth rate 

was determined by using historical AADT data from MnDOT’s Traffic Mapping Application (TMA) at two 

locations along CSAH 81 near the study intersections and inputting this data into the Minnesota 

Equivalent Single Axle Load (MnESAL) Traffic Forecasting Tool. The annual growth rate was calculated 

to be 1.70%. The year 2029 was selected to represent the full build-out condition of the proposed 

developments, when the signals are anticipated to be necessary. The resultant 2024 to 2029 growth 

factor applied to existing volumes is 1.088 or an 8.8% increase over five years. Detailed forecast 

calculations are provided in Appendix B. 

Volumes generated by the developments were estimated and added to the 2029 forecasted volumes. 

This combined volume scenario was used as the basis for the signal warrant analysis. 

Trip Generation 

New development trips were calculated based on characteristics of the proposed development and data 

presented in Trip Generation, 11th Edition, published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE). 

These calculations result in trips generated in the AM and PM peak hours of adjacent street traffic. Trip 

generation estimates for the Southwest Dayton and Dayton Parkway Neighborhood developments around 

the Future Roadway intersection were presented in the ‘Traffic Impact Study for The Parkway 

Neighborhood in Dayton, MN’ report and are also shown in Table 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

122



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
3 Proposed Improvements 

 Project: 193807255 6
 

   Table 1 – Trip Generation around Future Roadway Intersection 

Land Use Size 
Weekday 

Daily 

Weekday AM Peak Hour Weekday PM Peak Hour 

In Out Total In Out Total 
 

Apartments 

(ITE code 221) 
320 units 1,435 27 91 118 76 49 125  

Apartments 230 units 1,044 20 65 85 55 35 90  

Apartments 220 units 999 19 62 81 52 34 86  

Apartments 210 units 953 18 60 78 50 32 82  

Apartments 180 units 817 15 52 67 43 27 70  

Apartments 105 units 477 9 30 39 25 16 41  

Gas Station 

(ITE code 945) 
10 VFP 2,651 80 81 161 92 92 184  

Retail 

(ITE code 822) 
24,000 sf 1,307 34 23 57 79 79 158  

Retail 6,000 sf 327 8 6 14 20 20 40  

Coffee Shop 

(ITE code 937) 
2,000 sf 1,067 88 84 172 39 39 78  

Liquor Store 

(ITE code 899) 
9,000 sf 965 4 1 5 75 75 150  

Supermarket 

(ITE code 850) 
44,000 sf 4,129 74 52 126 197 197 394  

Pharmacy 

(ITE code 881) 
13,000 sf 1,409 25 24 49 67 66 133  

Total Trips 17,580 421 631 1,052 870 761 1,631  

  

123



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
3 Proposed Improvements 

 Project: 193807255 7
 

 
Trip generation estimates for the Kwik Trip and Opus developments around the Holly Lane/Territorial 
Road intersection are shown in Table 2. Reports for these developments from the ITE Trip Generation 
web app are shown in Appendix C. 
 

   Table 2 – Trip Generation around Holly/Territorial Intersection 

Land Use Size 
Weekday 

Daily 

Weekday AM Peak Hour Weekday PM Peak Hour 

In Out Total In Out Total 
 

Opus 

Warehouse 

(ITE code 710) 
105,600 sf 286 14 4 18 5 14 19  

Office 

(ITE code 150) 
26,400 sf 205 35 5 40 6 32 38  

Kwik Trip 

Gas Station 

(ITE code 945) 
20 VFP 6,915 316 316 632 269 269 538  

Truck Stop 

(ITE code 950) 
5 VFP 1,120 34 36 70 41 36 77  

Total Trips  399 361 760 321 351 672  

Trip Distribution 

Trip distribution percentages for the development trips were established based on the nearby roadway 

network, existing and expected future traffic patterns, and location of the subject development in relation 

to major attractions and population concentrations.  

From the ‘Traffic Impact Study for The Parkway Neighborhood in Dayton, MN’ report, developments 

around the Future Roadway intersection are distributed as follows: 

Residential Trips 

• 70% to/from east of the intersection (I-94, Dayton Parkway, CSAH 81) 

• 30% to/from west of the intersection (Brockton Lane, Dayton Parkway) 

Commercial Trips 

• 50% to/from east of the intersection (I-94, Dayton Parkway, CSAH 81) 

• 50% to/from west of the intersection (Brockton Lane, Dayton Parkway) 

Developments around the Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersection are distributed as follows: 

Opus Trips 

• 65% to/from west of the intersection (I-94, Dayton Parkway) 

• 30% to/from east of the intersection (CSAH 81, Dayton Parkway) 

• 5% to/from north of the intersection (Territorial Road) 

Kwik Trip Trips 

• 73% to/from west of the intersection (I-94, Dayton Parkway) 

• 25% to/from east of the intersection (CSAH 81, Dayton Parkway) 

• 2% to/from north of the intersection (Territorial Road) 

124



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
3 Proposed Improvements 

 Project: 193807255 8
 

MN MUTCD Signal Warrants 

Signal warrant analysis was completed to determine if traffic signal warrants from the Minnesota Manual 

on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MN MUTCD) will be met under 2029 build year traffic conditions. 

Generally, justification for a traffic signal consists of the following nine warrants. 

Warrant 1 – Eight-hour Vehicular Volume  

Warrant 2 – Four-hour Vehicular Volume 

Warrant 3 – Peak Hour 

Warrant 4 – Pedestrian Volume 

Warrant 5 – School Crossing 

Warrant 6 – Coordinated Signal System 

Warrant 7 – Crash Experience 

Warrant 8 – Roadway Network 

Warrant 9 – Intersection Near a Grade Crossing 

Initially, since only the AM and PM peak hours of traffic were estimated from the developments, only 

Warrant 3, conditions A and B were examined. The criteria for Warrant 3, condition A are for the total 

entering volume to be greater than 800 vehicles per hour (VPH), the minor street leg with the higher 

volume to be greater than 150 VPH, and for higher-volume minor street leg total peak hour delay to be 

greater than 5 vehicle-hours. Delay is based on calculations from the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), 

which were determined in this analysis using Synchro software. The criterion for Warrant 3, condition B is 

for at least one hour to exceed the volume threshold curve. 

The 2029 volumes and delay at the Future Roadway intersection exceed the thresholds for Warrant 3, 

both conditions and thus a traffic signal is justified. The volumes and delay at the Holly Lane/Territorial 

Road intersection exceed the threshold for Warrant 3, condition A only, and while this is enough to justify 

a traffic signal, further examination was conducted to verify the findings. Warrants 1 (all conditions) and 2 

were examined. Using ITE trip time-of-day distribution data, the peak hour volumes of development were 

extrapolated for more hours of the day. This results in Warrant 1, condition A also being exceeded for 

greater than eight hours, thus a traffic signal is confirmed to be justified. Detailed signal warrant analysis 

and threshold criteria are shown in Appendix D. 

Since the original traffic analysis, the construction of Kwik Trip at Dayton Parkway and Territorial Road 

has been accelerated to occur in 2025. Therefore, additional analysis with adjusted traffic volumes for 

2025 and 2026 was conducted. This results in a smaller amount of background growth on each leg while 

the trips generated by the Kwik Trip remain the same as presented in the original analysis. Under the 

2025 and 2026 conditions, the volumes and delay at the Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersection still 

exceed the threshold for Warrant 3, condition A only, therefore the signal is still justified. The additional 

analysis of Warrant 1, condition A is not met in 2025 but is met in 2026 with one additional year of 

background growth. The signal at the Future Roadway intersection is dependent on the development at 

that location and would not meet warrants in 2025 or 2026 without the development. Detailed signal 

warrant analysis and threshold criteria are shown in Appendix D. 

 

125



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
4 Impact of Proposed Improvements 

 Project: 193807255 9
 

4 Impact of Proposed Improvements 

The installation of the proposed signals is anticipated to create minimal impact on the intersections during 

their construction. All roadways will remain open to traffic with only short-term delays and traffic impacts 

anticipated. Disruptions will be limited to partial lane closures if necessary. 

Upon completion of the signals, minimal impacts to through traffic on Dayton Parkway are anticipated. 

Installing two new traffic signals means additional maintenance will be required by Public Works staff 

since the signals will be owned and operated by the city. To offset this additional maintenance, an 

operation and maintenance agreement should be discussed with Hennepin County. 

5 Estimated Costs and Funding 

Based on research from past similar signal projects in Hennepin County and other locations nearby, the 

estimated cost for a signal system is approximately $750,000 per intersection, bringing the total estimated 

project cost to approximately $1,500,000. 

6 Finance 

The currently anticipated funding sources for the project include the following: 

• Municipal State Aid (MSA): The project has been assigned MSA project number SAP 229-112-

005.  MSA funds up to $1,000,000 have been verified available for this project. 

• Direct developer contribution: Direct contribution, in the amount of approximately $440,000, has 

been incorporated into the Kwik Trip developers agreement. Similar contributions are being 

discussed with other current developments and existing businesses in the area. 

• Local Funds (City of Dayton contributions): The remaining balance of the project costs will be 

covered by City funds. 

7 Project Schedule 

Table 3 shows the proposed project schedule for the traffic signals and ancillary work at the Future 

Roadway and Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersections. This is an approximate schedule that is subject to 

change based on equipment availability and development timelines. 

 

 

126



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
8 Feasibility and Recommendation 

 Project: 193807255 10
 

   Table 3 – Proposed Project Schedule 

Activity Anticipated Date 

 
Present Report/Authorize Design May 2025  

Approve Plans/Authorize Bids July 2025  

 Review Bids/Approve Contract August 2025  

Begin Construction September 2025  

Substantial Completion October 2025  

8  Feasibility and Recommendation 

Based on the MN MUTCD signal warrant analysis, traffic signals are justified at the Dayton Parkway & 

Future Roadway and the Dayton Parkway & Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersections using 2029 

forecasted, full development build-out volumes. The proposed project is necessary for development traffic 

to operate acceptably and thus should be constructed and completed prior to opening the developments. 

The project is technically and financially feasible, cost-effective, and beneficial to the existing and future 

users of the corridor.  

 

 

 

127



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 

 Project: 193807255 
 

Appendices 
 

128



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
Appendix A – PEAK HOUR TURNING MOVEMENT COUNTS 

 Project: 193807255 A-1

 

Appendix A – PEAK HOUR TURNING MOVEMENT 

COUNTS 

  

129



Type of peak hour being reported: Intersection Peak Method for determining peak hour: Total Entering Volume

LOCATION: Territorial Rd/Holly Ln -- Dayton Pkwy QC JOB #: 16454203
CITY/STATE: Dayton, MN DATE: Thu, Jan 18 2024

66 51

53 2 11

269 42 4 177

214 0.89 166

271 15 7 241

49 6 16

24 71

Peak-Hour: 3:15 PM -- 4:15 PM
Peak 15-Min: 3:30 PM -- 3:45 PM

9.1 15.7

3.8 100 18.2

11.2 16.7 0 12.4

18.7 10.2

21 66.7 71.4 19.1

22.4 16.7 25

70.8 22.5

0

0 0

0

0 0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0 0

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A N/A

N/A

15-Min Count
Period 

Beginning At

Territorial Rd/Holly Ln
(Northbound)

Territorial Rd/Holly Ln
(Southbound)

Dayton Pkwy
(Eastbound)

Dayton Pkwy
(Westbound) Total Hourly

Totals
Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U

6:00 AM 4 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 3 27 6 0 4 19 2 0 67
6:15 AM 5 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 9 33 3 0 3 35 3 0 94
6:30 AM 3 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 13 31 10 0 1 25 2 0 88
6:45 AM 6 1 3 0 1 0 4 0 22 56 9 0 6 25 2 0 135 384
7:00 AM 1 0 0 0 1 1 3 0 17 41 21 0 5 33 1 0 124 441
7:15 AM 6 0 5 0 1 2 7 0 12 56 13 0 9 49 1 0 161 508
7:30 AM 6 0 3 0 0 1 8 0 11 66 10 0 4 34 3 0 146 566
7:45 AM 7 0 1 0 1 1 2 0 10 62 12 0 6 34 1 0 137 568
8:00 AM 3 0 3 0 0 2 3 0 4 44 11 0 8 31 1 0 110 554
8:15 AM 4 1 3 0 0 0 5 0 7 45 10 0 6 46 2 0 129 522
8:30 AM 4 0 1 0 1 0 4 0 6 41 3 0 5 42 3 0 110 486
8:45 AM 2 0 2 0 0 0 6 0 6 42 4 0 3 36 2 0 103 452
9:00 AM 8 0 0 0 2 0 8 0 9 36 10 0 2 29 1 0 105 447
9:15 AM 6 1 0 0 1 0 4 0 5 28 7 2 0 45 2 0 101 419
9:30 AM 6 2 1 0 2 1 3 0 8 34 5 0 5 34 0 0 101 410
9:45 AM 7 0 0 0 1 2 5 0 6 42 5 0 3 26 1 0 98 405

10:00 AM 7 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 3 29 2 0 3 30 0 0 78 378
10:15 AM 6 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 3 18 5 0 3 23 2 0 67 344
10:30 AM 2 2 2 0 1 2 4 0 9 30 6 0 0 20 0 0 78 321
10:45 AM 2 0 2 0 3 1 4 0 6 31 1 0 1 23 2 0 76 299
11:00 AM 5 2 3 0 7 2 5 0 6 25 7 0 0 30 4 0 96 317
11:15 AM 8 0 4 0 1 1 8 0 6 32 8 1 3 21 3 0 96 346
11:30 AM 4 2 13 0 5 0 4 0 6 30 14 0 1 25 4 0 108 376
11:45 AM 6 2 4 0 2 1 6 0 5 36 4 0 5 32 4 0 107 407
12:00 PM 8 1 4 0 2 0 6 0 3 31 8 0 1 23 0 0 87 398
12:15 PM 6 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 5 37 3 0 9 32 2 0 97 399
12:30 PM 3 0 9 0 2 2 10 0 11 39 6 0 4 26 3 0 115 406
12:45 PM 4 4 5 0 3 3 4 0 9 38 12 1 1 22 1 0 107 406
1:00 PM 8 1 2 0 6 0 6 0 8 36 5 0 4 18 5 0 99 418
1:15 PM 7 0 7 0 5 1 4 0 4 63 4 0 7 20 2 0 124 445
1:30 PM 5 1 0 0 0 0 5 0 5 59 6 1 4 22 0 0 108 438
1:45 PM 3 0 4 0 3 0 1 0 6 40 3 0 4 23 1 0 88 419
2:00 PM 8 1 5 0 2 0 8 0 9 40 8 0 3 31 0 0 115 435
2:15 PM 8 1 5 0 3 0 7 0 8 50 8 0 2 37 1 0 130 441
2:30 PM 14 2 4 0 2 0 6 0 7 54 5 0 1 41 2 0 138 471
2:45 PM 16 1 4 0 1 0 7 0 6 53 5 0 1 26 2 0 122 505
3:00 PM 6 2 6 0 0 0 9 0 4 63 7 0 2 25 1 0 125 515
3:15 PM 13 1 3 0 1 0 11 0 6 59 5 0 3 36 0 0 138 523

Page 1 of 2 130



3:30 PM 14 1 4 0 3 0 13 0 15 64 2 1 0 46 2 0 165 550
3:45 PM 5 2 4 0 1 1 7 0 14 53 5 0 2 48 2 0 144 572
4:00 PM 17 2 5 0 6 1 22 0 6 38 3 0 2 36 0 0 138 585
4:15 PM 15 1 4 0 1 1 10 0 2 52 1 0 0 42 2 0 131 578
4:30 PM 18 6 3 0 4 0 7 0 9 51 1 0 1 41 4 0 145 558
4:45 PM 6 0 1 0 2 1 5 0 5 50 2 0 0 45 1 0 118 532
5:00 PM 10 2 8 0 9 0 16 0 4 39 3 0 0 42 5 0 138 532
5:15 PM 4 0 3 0 5 0 3 0 3 49 5 0 2 23 0 0 97 498
5:30 PM 1 4 4 0 0 1 7 0 2 61 3 0 0 31 1 0 115 468
5:45 PM 1 1 2 0 1 0 3 0 4 41 1 0 1 22 2 0 79 429
6:00 PM 4 0 4 0 0 0 6 0 3 37 2 0 1 32 0 0 89 380
6:15 PM 1 0 0 0 0 1 4 0 2 30 4 0 1 17 0 0 60 343
6:30 PM 6 1 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 46 4 0 2 21 0 0 84 312
6:45 PM 4 0 2 0 0 0 5 0 1 35 4 0 0 15 0 0 66 299

15-Min Count
Period 

Beginning At

Territorial Rd/Holly Ln
(Northbound)

Territorial Rd/Holly Ln
(Southbound)

Dayton Pkwy
(Eastbound)

Dayton Pkwy
(Westbound) Total Hourly

Totals
Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U

Peak 15-Min
Flowrates

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
TotalLeft Thru Right U Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U Left Thru Right U

All Vehicles 56 4 16 0 12 0 52 0 60 256 8 4 0 184 8 0 660
Heavy Trucks 4 0 4 4 0 4 12 44 4 0 16 0 92

Buses
Pedestrians 0 0 0 0 0

Bicycles 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scooters

Comments:

Report generated on 1/23/2024 11:57 AM SOURCE: Quality Counts, LLC (http://www.qualitycounts.net) 1-877-580-2212

Page 2 of 2 131



 

April 2024 4-4  

  

 
 

 

 

 

132



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
Appendix B – MNDOT TRAFFIC FORECAST 

 Project: 193807255 B-1

 

Appendix B – MNDOT TRAFFIC FORECAST 

  

133



LEAST SQUARES WORKSHEET SEGMENT A1

ROUTE: CSAH 81 SP#:  DATE : 04/10/25

LOCATION: Seq # 42993

BASE YEAR: 2024   FORECAST YEAR: 2044 # of lanes 2

COUNTED 

YEAR

FLOW MAP 

AADT (SEG A)

850

880

880

1350

1998 8000 1150

2000 8750 1000

2003 11700 1150

2005 11400 1100

2007 13600 1100

2009 14000 1100

2011 14600 1000

2013 16400

2015 18200

2017 15500

2019 15100

2021 16476

LEAST SQUARES BASED FORECASTS:

Year AADT Calc ADT Calc

2021 17839 -1363 16476

2024 18966 17603 17602.95

2044 26479 25116 23623.45

Statistics AADT

R 2 0.80 YEAR AADT YEAR AADT

SLOPE 375.65 2021 16480 2021 16480

INTERCEPT -741349 2024 17600 2024 17350

N 12 2044 25120 2044 23170

1.77%

COUNTY COUNTY FACTOR GROWTH PROFILE

HENNEPIN 0.83 LOW GROWTH AREA

County Adjustment Factors were 

developed to Apply to Projected AADT. 

They are based on 1992-2007 VMT, 

Population, Labor Force, Household, and 

Employment Data.

Slope Over Base Year Slope Over Base Year

2.13% 1.68%

Brockton to Territorial

Raw Least Squares 

Forecasts

Demographically 

Adjusted Forecasts

NOTE:

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

1990 2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050

Historical AADT Least Squares Demographically Adjusted Forecasts

134



LEAST SQUARES WORKSHEET SEGMENT A1

ROUTE: CSAH 81 SP#:  DATE : 04/10/25

LOCATION: Seq # 74935

BASE YEAR: 2024   FORECAST YEAR: 2044 # of lanes 2

COUNTED 

YEAR

FLOW MAP 

AADT (SEG A)

850

880

880

1350

1150

1000

1150

2003 12300 1100

2005 11200 1100

2007 12700 1100

2009 13900 1000

2011 15200

2013 20000

2015 19500

2017 16100

2019 16200

LEAST SQUARES BASED FORECASTS:

Year AADT Calc ADT Calc

2019 18567 -2367 16200

2024 20650 18283 18283.33

2044 28983 26617 24817.26

Statistics AADT

R 2 0.55 YEAR AADT YEAR AADT

SLOPE 416.67 2019 16200 2019 16200

INTERCEPT -822683 2024 18280 2024 17730

N 9 2044 26620 2044 23840

1.89%

COUNTY COUNTY FACTOR GROWTH PROFILE

HENNEPIN 0.83 LOW GROWTH AREA

County Adjustment Factors were 

developed to Apply to Projected AADT. 

They are based on 1992-2007 VMT, 

Population, Labor Force, Household, and 

Employment Data.

Slope Over Base Year Slope Over Base Year

2.28% 1.72%

E of Territorial

Raw Least Squares 

Forecasts

Demographically 

Adjusted Forecasts

NOTE:

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050

Historical AADT Least Squares Demographically Adjusted Forecasts

135



EASTBOUND APPROACH WESTBOUND APPROACH

Street Name: Dayton Street Name: Dayton

Count Date: 22-Feb-24 Date: 22-Feb-24

Stantec File #: 193807255 Posted Speed: 40

Posted Speed: 40

Approach Type: Major Children/Seniors: No

# of Lanes: 4

Volume Adjustments: Volume Adjustments:

Right Turns: 100% Right Turns: 100%

Through: 100% Through: 100%

Left Turns: 100% Left Turns: 100%

EB Volumes by Hour: Pedestrians By Hour WB Volumes by Hour: Pedestrians By Hour

Lefts Through Rights Number Lefts Through Rights Number

12 - 1 AM 0 0 0 0 12 - 1 AM 0 12 - 1 AM 0 0 0 0 12 - 1 AM 0

1 - 2 AM 0 0 0 0 1 - 2 AM 0 1 - 2 AM 0 0 0 0 1 - 2 AM 0

2 - 3 AM 0 0 0 0 2 - 3 AM 0 2 - 3 AM 0 0 0 0 2 - 3 AM 0

3 - 4 AM 0 0 0 0 3 - 4 AM 0 3 - 4 AM 0 0 0 0 3 - 4 AM 0

4 - 5 AM 0 0 0 0 4 - 5 AM 0 4 - 5 AM 0 0 0 0 4 - 5 AM 0

5 - 6 AM 0 0 0 0 5 - 6 AM 0 5 - 6 AM 0 0 0 0 5 - 6 AM 0

6 - 7 AM 0 0 0 0 6 - 7 AM 0 6 - 7 AM 0 0 0 0 6 - 7 AM 0

7 - 8 AM 108 561 77 746 7 - 8 AM 0 7 - 8 AM 108 163 128 399 7 - 8 AM 0

8 - 9 AM 0 0 0 0 8 - 9 AM 0 8 - 9 AM 0 0 0 0 8 - 9 AM 0

9 - 10 AM 0 0 0 0 9 - 10 AM 0 9 - 10 AM 0 0 0 0 9 - 10 AM 0

10 - 11 AM 0 0 0 0 10 - 11 AM 0 10 - 11 AM 0 0 0 0 10 - 11 AM 0

11 - 12 PM 0 0 0 0 11 - 12 PM 0 11 - 12 PM 0 0 0 0 11 - 12 PM 0

12 - 1 PM 0 0 0 0 12 - 1 PM 0 12 - 1 PM 0 0 0 0 12 - 1 PM 0

1 - 2 PM 0 0 0 0 1 - 2 PM 0 1 - 2 PM 0 0 0 0 1 - 2 PM 0

2 - 3 PM 0 0 0 0 2 - 3 PM 0 2 - 3 PM 0 0 0 0 2 - 3 PM 0

3 - 4 PM 224 431 148 803 3 - 4 PM 0 3 - 4 PM 229 391 267 887 3 - 4 PM 0

4 - 5 PM 0 0 0 0 4 - 5 PM 0 4 - 5 PM 0 0 0 0 4 - 5 PM 0

5 - 6 PM 0 0 0 0 5 - 6 PM 0 5 - 6 PM 0 0 0 0 5 - 6 PM 0

6 - 7 PM 0 0 0 0 6 - 7 PM 0 6 - 7 PM 0 0 0 0 6 - 7 PM 0

7 - 8 PM 0 0 0 0 7 - 8 PM 0 7 - 8 PM 0 0 0 0 7 - 8 PM 0

8 - 9 PM 0 0 0 0 8 - 9 PM 0 8 - 9 PM 0 0 0 0 8 - 9 PM 0

9 - 10 PM 0 0 0 0 9 - 10 PM 0 9 - 10 PM 0 0 0 0 9 - 10 PM 0

10 - 11 PM 0 0 0 0 10 - 11 PM 0 10 - 11 PM 0 0 0 0 10 - 11 PM 0

11 - 12 AM 0 0 0 0 11 - 12 AM 0 11 - 12 AM 0 0 0 0 11 - 12 AM 0

Lefts Total Lefts Total

332 1,549 337 1,286

21% 26%

Rights Conflicting Rights Conflicting

0 0 0 0

77 286 128 355

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

148 460 267 312

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

2024 2024

Growth Rate 1.70% Growth Rate 1.70%

2029 1.0879 2029 1.0879

EB Lefts Through Rights WB Lefts Through Rights

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

108 561 77 0 108 163 128 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

224 431 148 0 229 391 167 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

136



NORTHBOUND APPROACH SOUTHBOUND APPROACH

Street Name: Future Rd Street Name: Future Rd

Date: 22-Feb-24 Date: 22-Feb-24

Posted Speed: 30 Posted Speed: 30

Approach Type: Minor Children/Seniors: No

# of Lanes: 2

Volume Adjustments: Volume Adjustments:

Right Turns: 0% Right Turns: 0%

Through: 100% Through: 100%

Left Turns: 100% Left Turns: 100%

NB Volumes by Hour: Pedestrians By Hour SB Volumes by Hour: Pedestrians By Hour

Lefts Through Rights Number Lefts Through Rights Number

12 - 1 AM 0 0 0 0 12 - 1 AM 0 12 - 1 AM 0 0 0 0 12 - 1 AM 0

1 - 2 AM 0 0 0 0 1 - 2 AM 0 1 - 2 AM 0 0 0 0 1 - 2 AM 0

2 - 3 AM 0 0 0 0 2 - 3 AM 0 2 - 3 AM 0 0 0 0 2 - 3 AM 0

3 - 4 AM 0 0 0 0 3 - 4 AM 0 3 - 4 AM 0 0 0 0 3 - 4 AM 0

4 - 5 AM 0 0 0 0 4 - 5 AM 0 4 - 5 AM 0 0 0 0 4 - 5 AM 0

5 - 6 AM 0 0 0 0 5 - 6 AM 0 5 - 6 AM 0 0 0 0 5 - 6 AM 0

6 - 7 AM 0 0 0 0 6 - 7 AM 0 6 - 7 AM 0 0 0 0 6 - 7 AM 0

7 - 8 AM 126 5 224 131 7 - 8 AM 0 7 - 8 AM 165 5 116 170 7 - 8 AM 0

8 - 9 AM 0 0 0 0 8 - 9 AM 0 8 - 9 AM 0 0 0 0 8 - 9 AM 0

9 - 10 AM 0 0 0 0 9 - 10 AM 0 9 - 10 AM 0 0 0 0 9 - 10 AM 0

10 - 11 AM 0 0 0 0 10 - 11 AM 0 10 - 11 AM 0 0 0 0 10 - 11 AM 0

11 - 12 PM 0 0 0 0 11 - 12 PM 0 11 - 12 PM 0 0 0 0 11 - 12 PM 0

12 - 1 PM 0 0 0 0 12 - 1 PM 0 12 - 1 PM 0 0 0 0 12 - 1 PM 0

1 - 2 PM 0 0 0 0 1 - 2 PM 0 1 - 2 PM 0 0 0 0 1 - 2 PM 0

2 - 3 PM 0 0 0 0 2 - 3 PM 0 2 - 3 PM 0 0 0 0 2 - 3 PM 0

3 - 4 PM 126 5 181 131 3 - 4 PM 0 3 - 4 PM 242 5 213 247 3 - 4 PM 0

4 - 5 PM 0 0 0 0 4 - 5 PM 0 4 - 5 PM 0 0 0 0 4 - 5 PM 0

5 - 6 PM 0 0 0 0 5 - 6 PM 0 5 - 6 PM 0 0 0 0 5 - 6 PM 0

6 - 7 PM 0 0 0 0 6 - 7 PM 0 6 - 7 PM 0 0 0 0 6 - 7 PM 0

7 - 8 PM 0 0 0 0 7 - 8 PM 0 7 - 8 PM 0 0 0 0 7 - 8 PM 0

8 - 9 PM 0 0 0 0 8 - 9 PM 0 8 - 9 PM 0 0 0 0 8 - 9 PM 0

9 - 10 PM 0 0 0 0 9 - 10 PM 0 9 - 10 PM 0 0 0 0 9 - 10 PM 0

10 - 11 PM 0 0 0 0 10 - 11 PM 0 10 - 11 PM 0 0 0 0 10 - 11 PM 0

11 - 12 AM 0 0 0 0 11 - 12 AM 0 11 - 12 AM 0 0 0 0 11 - 12 AM 0

Lefts Total Lefts Total

252 667 407 746

38% 55%

Rights Conflicting Rights Conflicting

0 0 0 0

224 746 116 399

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

181 803 213 887

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0

2024 2024

Growth Rate 1.70% Growth Rate 1.70%

2029 1.0879 2029 1.0879

NB Lefts Through Rights SB Lefts Through Rights

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

126 5 224 0 165 5 116 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

126 5 181 0 242 5 213 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

137



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
Appendix C – ITE TRIP GENERATION DEVELOPMENT REPORTS 

 Project: 193807255 C-2

 

Appendix C – ITE TRIP GENERATION 

DEVELOPMENT REPORTS 

  

138



Land Use: 150
Warehousing

Description
A warehouse is primarily devoted to the storage of materials, but it may also include office and 
maintenance areas. High-cube transload and short-term storage warehouse (Land Use 154), high-
cube fulfillment center warehouse (Land Use 155), high-cube parcel hub warehouse (Land Use 
156), and high-cube cold storage warehouse (Land Use 157) are related uses.

Additional Data
The technical appendices provide supporting information on time-of-day distributions for this 
land use. The appendices can be accessed through either the ITETripGen web app or the trip 
generation resource page on the ITE website (https://www.ite.org/technical-resources/topics/trip-
and-parking-generation/).

The sites were surveyed in the 1980s, the 1990s, the 2000s, and the 2010s in California, 
Connecticut, Minnesota, New Jersey, New York, Ohio, Oregon, Pennsylvania, and Texas.

Source Numbers
184, 331, 406, 411, 443, 579, 583, 596, 598, 611, 619, 642, 752, 869, 875, 876, 914, 940, 1050

94 Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition • Volume 3
139



Warehousing
(150)

Vehicle Trip Ends vs: 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
On a: Weekday

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 31

Avg. 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA: 292
Directional Distribution: 50% entering, 50% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

1.71 0.15 - 16.93 1.48

Data Plot and Equation

0 1000 2000 3000 4000
0

2000

4000

6000

Average RateStudy Site Fitted Curve

Fitted Curve Equation: T = 1.58(X) + 38.29 R²= 0.92

X = 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

95General Urban/Suburban and Rural (Land Uses 000–399)
140



Warehousing
(150)

Vehicle Trip Ends vs: 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
On a: Weekday,

Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic,
One Hour Between 7 and 9 a.m.

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 36

Avg. 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA: 448
Directional Distribution: 77% entering, 23% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

0.17 0.02 - 1.93 0.19

Data Plot and Equation

0 1000 2000 3000 4000
0

200

400

600

Average RateStudy Site Fitted Curve

Fitted Curve Equation: T = 0.12(X) + 23.62 R²= 0.69

X = 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

96 Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition • Volume 3
141



Warehousing
(150)

Vehicle Trip Ends vs: 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
On a: Weekday,

Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic,
One Hour Between 4 and 6 p.m.

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 49

Avg. 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA: 400
Directional Distribution: 28% entering, 72% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

0.18 0.01 - 1.80 0.18

Data Plot and Equation

0 1000 2000 3000 4000
0

200

400

600

Average RateStudy Site Fitted Curve

Fitted Curve Equation: T = 0.12(X) + 26.48 R²= 0.65

X = 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

97General Urban/Suburban and Rural (Land Uses 000–399)
142



707

Land Use: 710
General Office Building

Description
A general office building is a location where affairs of businesses, commercial or industrial 
organizations, or professional persons or firms are conducted. An office building houses multiple 
tenants that can include, as examples, professional services, insurance companies, investment 
brokers, a banking institution, a restaurant, or other service retailers. A general office building 
with a gross floor area of 10,000 square feet or less is classified as a small office building (Land 
Use 712). Corporate headquarters building (Land Use 714), single tenant office building (Land 
Use 715), medical-dental office building (Land Use 720), office park (Land Use 750), research and 
development center (Land Use 760), and business park (Land Use 770) are additional related uses.

Additional Data
If two or more general office buildings are in close physical proximity (within a close walk) and 
function as a unit (perhaps with a shared parking facility and common or complementary tenants), 
the total gross floor area or employment of the paired office buildings can be used for calculating 
the site trip generation. If the individual buildings are isolated or not functionally related to one 
another, trip generation should be calculated for each building separately.

For study sites with reported gross floor area and employees, an average employee density of 
3.3 employees per 1,000 square feet GFA (or roughly 300 square feet per employee) has been 
consistent through the 1980s, 1990s, and 2000s. No sites counted in the 2010s reported both GFA 
and employees.

The average building occupancy varies considerably within the studies for which occupancy data 
were provided. The reported occupied gross floor area was 88 percent for general urban/suburban 
sites and 96 percent for the center city core and dense multi-use urban sites.

The technical appendices provide supporting information on time-of-day distributions for this 
land use. The appendices can be accessed through either the ITETripGen web app or the trip 
generation resource page on the ITE website (https://www.ite.org/technical-resources/topics/trip-
and-parking-generation/).

The average numbers of person trips per vehicle trip at the eight center city core sites at which 
both person trip and vehicle trip data were collected are as follows:

•	 2.8 during Weekday, Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic, one hour between 7 and 9 a.m.

•	 2.9 during Weekday, AM Peak Hour of Generator

•	 2.9 during Weekday, Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic, one hour between 4 and 6 p.m.

•	 3.0 during Weekday, PM Peak Hour of Generator

General Urban/Suburban and Rural (Land Uses 400–799)
143



The average numbers of person trips per vehicle trip at the 18 dense multi-use urban sites at 
which both person trip and vehicle trip data were collected are as follows:

•	 1.5 during Weekday, Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic, one hour between 7 and 9 a.m.

•	 1.5 during Weekday, AM Peak Hour of Generator

•	 1.5 during Weekday, Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic, one hour between 4 and 6 p.m.

•	 1.5 during Weekday, PM Peak Hour of Generator

The average numbers of person trips per vehicle trip at the 23 general urban/suburban sites at 
which both person trip and vehicle trip data were collected are as follows:

•	 1.3 during Weekday, Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic, one hour between 7 and 9 a.m.

•	 1.3 during Weekday, AM Peak Hour of Generator

•	 1.3 during Weekday, Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic, one hour between 4 and 6 p.m.

•	 1.4 during Weekday, PM Peak Hour of Generator

The sites were surveyed in the 1980s, the 1990s, the 2000s, the 2010s, and the 2020s in Alberta 
(CAN), California, Colorado, Connecticut, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, Kentucky, Maine, 
Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, 
Ontario (CAN)Pennsylvania, Texas, Utah, Virginia, and Washington.

Source Numbers
161, 175, 183, 184, 185, 207, 212, 217, 247, 253, 257, 260, 262, 273, 279, 297, 298, 300, 301, 302, 
303, 304, 321, 322, 323, 324, 327, 404, 407, 408, 419, 423, 562, 734, 850, 859, 862, 867, 869, 883, 
884, 890, 891, 904, 940, 944, 946, 964, 965, 972, 1009, 1030, 1058, 1061

708 Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition • Volume 4
144



General Office Building
(710)

Vehicle Trip Ends vs: 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
On a: Weekday

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 59

Avg. 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA: 163
Directional Distribution: 50% entering, 50% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

10.84 3.27 - 27.56 4.76

Data Plot and Equation

0 200 400 600 800
0

2000

4000

6000

Average RateStudy Site Fitted Curve

Fitted Curve Equation: Ln(T) = 0.87 Ln(X) + 3.05 R²= 0.78

X = 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

709General Urban/Suburban and Rural (Land Uses 400–799)
145



General Office Building
(710)

Vehicle Trip Ends vs: 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
On a: Weekday,

Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic,
One Hour Between 7 and 9 a.m.

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 221

Avg. 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA: 201
Directional Distribution: 88% entering, 12% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

1.52 0.32 - 4.93 0.58

Data Plot and Equation

0 1000 2000
0

1000

2000

Average RateStudy Site Fitted Curve

Fitted Curve Equation: Ln(T) = 0.86 Ln(X) + 1.16 R²= 0.78

X = 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

710 Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition • Volume 4
146



General Office Building
(710)

Vehicle Trip Ends vs: 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
On a: Weekday,

Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic,
One Hour Between 4 and 6 p.m.

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 232

Avg. 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA: 199
Directional Distribution: 17% entering, 83% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

1.44 0.26 - 6.20 0.60

Data Plot and Equation

0 1000 2000
0

1000

2000

Average RateStudy Site Fitted Curve

Fitted Curve Equation: Ln(T) = 0.83 Ln(X) + 1.29 R²= 0.77

X = 1000 Sq. Ft. GFA

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

711General Urban/Suburban and Rural (Land Uses 400–799)
147



Land Use: 945
Convenience Store/Gas Station

Description
A convenience store/gas station is a facility with a co-located convenience store and gas station. 
The convenience store sells grocery and other everyday items that a person may need or want as 
a matter of convenience. The gas station sells automotive fuels such as gasoline and diesel.

A convenience store/gas station is typically located along a major thoroughfare to optimize 
motorist convenience. Extended hours of operation (with many open 24 hours, 7 days a week) are 
common at these facilities.

The convenience store product mix typically includes pre-packaged grocery items, beverages, 
dairy products, snack foods, confectionary, tobacco products, over-the-counter drugs, and 
toiletries. A convenience store may sell alcohol, often limited to beer and wine. Coffee and pre-
made sandwiches are also commonly sold at a convenience store. Made-to-order food orders are 
sometimes offered. Some stores offer limited seating.

The sites in this land use include both self-pump and attendant-pumped fueling positions and 
both pre-pay and post-pay operations.

Convenience store (Land Use 851), gasoline/service station (Land Use 944), and truck stop (Land 
Use 950) are related uses.

Land Use Subcategory
Multiple subcategories were added to this land use to allow for multi-variable evaluation of sites 
with single-variable data plots. All study sites are assigned to one of three subcategories, based 
on the number of vehicle fueling positions (VFP) at the site: between 2 and 8 VFP, between 9 and 
15 VFP, and between 16 and 24 VFP. For each VFP range subcategory, data plots are presented 
with GFA as the independent variable for all time periods and trip types for which data are 
available. The use of both GFA and VFP (as the independent variable and land use subcategory, 
respectively) provides a significant improvement in the reliability of a trip generation estimate 
when compared to the single-variable data plots in prior editions of Trip Generation Manual.

Further, the study sites were also assigned to one of three other subcategories, based on the 
gross floor area (GFA) of the convenience store at the site: between 2,000 and 4,000 square 
feet, between 4,000 and 5,500 square feet, and between 5,500 and 10,000 square feet. For each 
GFA subcategory range, data plots are presented with VFP as the independent variable for all 
time periods and trip types for which data are available. The use of both VFP and GFA (as the 
independent variable and land use subcategory, respectively) provides a significant improvement 
in the reliability of a trip generation estimate when compared to the single-variable data plots in 
prior editions of Trip Generation Manual.

864 Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition • Volume 5
148



When analyzing the convenience store/gas station land use with each combination of GFA and 
VFP values as described above, the two sets of data plots will produce two estimates of site-
generated trips. Both values can be considered when determining a site trip generation estimate.

Data plots are also provided for three additional independent variables: AM peak hour traffic 
on adjacent street, PM peak hour traffic on adjacent street, and employees. These independent 
variables are intended to be analyzed as single independent variables and do not have sub-
categories associated with them. Within the data plots and within the ITETripGen web app, these 
plots are found under the land use subcategory “none.”

Additional Data
ITE recognizes there are existing convenience store/gas station sites throughout North America 
that are larger than the sites presented in the data plots. However, the ITE database does not 
include any site with more than 24 VFP or any site with gross floor area greater than 10,000 
square feet. Submission of trip generation data for larger sites is encouraged.

The technical appendices provide supporting information on time-of-day distributions for this 
land use. The appendices can be accessed through either the ITETripGen web app or the trip 
generation resource page on the ITE website (https://www.ite.org/technical-resources/topics/trip-
and-parking-generation/).

The sites were surveyed in the 1980s, the 1990s, the 2000s, and the 2010s in Alberta (CAN), 
Arkansas, California, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Indiana, Iowa, Kentucky, Maryland, 
Massachusetts, Minnesota, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, 
South Dakota, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Washington, and Wisconsin.

Source Numbers
221, 245, 274, 288, 300, 340, 350, 351, 352, 355, 359, 385, 440, 617, 718, 810, 813, 844, 850, 853, 
864, 865, 867, 869, 882, 883, 888, 904, 926, 927, 936, 938, 954, 960, 962, 977, 1004, 1024, 1025, 
1027, 1052

865General Urban/Suburban and Rural (Land Uses 800–999)
149



Convenience Store/Gas Station - GFA (5.5-10k)
(945)

Vehicle Trip Ends vs: Vehicle Fueling Positions
On a: Weekday

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 1

Avg. Num. of Vehicle Fueling Positions: 12
Directional Distribution: 50% entering, 50% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per Vehicle Fueling Position
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

345.75 345.75 - 345.75 ***

Data Plot and Equation Caution – Small Sample Size

0 10 20
0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

Average RateStudy Site

Fitted Curve Equation: Not Given R²= ***

X = Number of Vehicle Fueling Positions

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

880 Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition • Volume 5
150



Convenience Store/Gas Station - GFA (5.5-10k)
(945)

Vehicle Trip Ends vs: Vehicle Fueling Positions
On a: Weekday,

Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic,
One Hour Between 7 and 9 a.m.

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 29

Avg. Num. of Vehicle Fueling Positions: 14
Directional Distribution: 50% entering, 50% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per Vehicle Fueling Position
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

31.60 12.58 - 49.31 9.10

Data Plot and Equation

0 10 20 30
0

200

400

600

800

Average RateStudy Site

Fitted Curve Equation: Not Given R²= ***

X = Number of Vehicle Fueling Positions

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

881General Urban/Suburban and Rural (Land Uses 800–999)
151



Convenience Store/Gas Station - GFA (5.5-10k)
(945)

Vehicle Trip Ends vs: Vehicle Fueling Positions
On a: Weekday,

Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic,
One Hour Between 4 and 6 p.m.

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 29

Avg. Num. of Vehicle Fueling Positions: 14
Directional Distribution: 50% entering, 50% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per Vehicle Fueling Position
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

26.90 15.50 - 45.25 6.87

Data Plot and Equation

0 10 20 30
0

200

400

600

Average RateStudy Site

Fitted Curve Equation: Not Given R²= ***

X = Number of Vehicle Fueling Positions

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

882 Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition • Volume 5
152



Land Use: 950
Truck Stop

Description
A truck stop is a facility located adjacent to an interstate highway interchange that provides 
commercial vehicle fueling, space and supplies for self-service vehicle maintenance, and other 
services specific to the needs of truckers (e.g., showers, on-site truck parking area). The facility 
typically contains a convenience store, restroom facilities, and one or more restaurants (either 
fast-food or high-turnover sit-down). Gasoline/service station (Land Use 944) and convenience 
store/gas station (Land Use 945) are related uses.

Additional Data
The trip generation data presented for this land use constitute commercial truck trips only.

The independent variable used in the data plots (vehicle fueling positions) refers to only the 
commercial fueling lanes at the truck stop.

The convenience store, restrooms, and restaurant(s) associated with a truck stop typically are 
also open to the general motoring public. The site often also includes vehicle fueling positions 
for the general motoring public. Additional information is needed in order to estimate non-truck 
vehicle trips generated by truck stops.

The truck trip generation rates per vehicle fueling position appear unreasonably high considering 
the length of time a trucker needs to fuel a vehicle. However, the detailed information provided in 
the data sources support the validity of the truck counts. It is apparent that not all trucks entering 
or exiting the truck stop are refueled. In those circumstances, the trucker could be using other 
services provided by the truck stop.

The technical appendices provide supporting information on time-of-day distributions for this 
land use. The appendices can be accessed through either the ITETripGen web app or the trip 
generation resource page on the ITE website (https://www.ite.org/technical-resources/topics/trip-
and-parking-generation/).

The sites were surveyed in the 2000s and the 2010s in Colorado, Florida, Tennessee, Vermont, and 
Virginia.

To assist in the future analysis of this land use, it is important that the number of gasoline and 
diesel pumps at the study site be reported. It is also important to collect additional information 
on the number of non-truck trips generated at these sites.

Source Numbers
721, 913, 920, 927

940 Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition • Volume 5
153



Truck Stop
(950)

Truck Trip Ends vs: Vehicle Fueling Positions
On a: Weekday

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 2

Avg. Num. of Vehicle Fueling Positions: 9
Directional Distribution: 50% entering, 50% exiting

Truck Trip Generation per Vehicle Fueling Position
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

224.00 205.75 - 240.22 ***

Data Plot and Equation Caution – Small Sample Size

0 2 4 6 8 10
0

1000

2000

3000

Average RateStudy Site

Fitted Curve Equation: Not Given R²= ***

X = Number of Vehicle Fueling Positions

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

941General Urban/Suburban and Rural (Land Uses 800–999)
154



Truck Stop
(950)

Truck Trip Ends vs: Vehicle Fueling Positions
On a: Weekday,

Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic,
One Hour Between 7 and 9 a.m.

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 4

Avg. Num. of Vehicle Fueling Positions: 9
Directional Distribution: 49% entering, 51% exiting

Truck Trip Generation per Vehicle Fueling Position
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

13.97 11.63 - 16.67 2.09

Data Plot and Equation

0 2 4 6 8 10
0

100

200

Average RateStudy Site Fitted Curve

Fitted Curve Equation: T = 39.00(X) - 219.00 R²= 0.69

X = Number of Vehicle Fueling Positions

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

942 Trip Generation Manual 11th Edition • Volume 5
155



Truck Stop
(950)

Truck Trip Ends vs: Vehicle Fueling Positions
On a: Weekday,

Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic,
One Hour Between 4 and 6 p.m.

Setting/Location: General Urban/Suburban
Number of Studies: 7

Avg. Num. of Vehicle Fueling Positions: 8
Directional Distribution: 53% entering, 47% exiting

Truck Trip Generation per Vehicle Fueling Position
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

15.42 11.88 - 21.75 3.10

Data Plot and Equation

0 2 4 6 8 10
0

100

200

Average RateStudy Site

Fitted Curve Equation: Not Given R²= ***

X = Number of Vehicle Fueling Positions

T 
= 

Tr
ip

s 
En

ds

943General Urban/Suburban and Rural (Land Uses 800–999)
156



Dayton Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements 
Appendix D – SIGNAL WARRANT ANALYSIS 

 Project: 193807255 D-3

 

Appendix D – SIGNAL WARRANT ANALYSIS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

157



Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis - 2029

Count Date: Project No.: Traffic Signal Warrant Summary: Project No.:

Major Street Approaches: Minor Street Approaches: Warrant 1 - Eight Hour Vehicular Volume

Eastbound: Dayton Northbound: Future Rd Condition A: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 1 hour. Eight hours required.

Number of Lanes: 4 Number of Lanes: 2 Criteria - Major Street 600 Minor Street 200

Approach Speed: 40 Approach Speed: 30 Condition B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 2 hours. Eight hours required.

Total App. Vehicles: 1,549 Total App. Vehicles: 667 Criteria - Major Street 900 Minor Street 100

Rt Turn Percentage: 100% Rt Turn Percentage: 0% Condition A+B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 2 hours. Requires volumes to meet 80

percent of requirement of A and of B for eight hours, not necessary the same eight hours.

Westbound: Dayton Southbound: Future Rd Criteria - Major Street 480 720 Minor Street 160 80

Number of Lanes: 4 Number of Lanes: 2

Approach Speed: 40 Approach Speed: 30 Warrant 2 - Four Hour Vehicular Volume

Total App. Vehicles: 1,286 Total App. Vehicles: 746 Not satisfied. Required values reached for 2 hours. Four hours required.

Rt Turn Percentage: 100% Rt Turn Percentage: 0% See chart for criteria.

Analysis of Warrant 1:  8-Hour Volumes Warrant 3 - Peak Hour Vehicular Volume

Condition A: Satisfied.

Hour Major Minor Street Criteria - Total Approach Volume: 800

Begin (Total) Volume Direction Rank      - Minor Street High Side Volume: 150

12 AM 0 0 NB 3      - Minor Street High Side Delay:        5 vehicle-hours

1 AM 0 0 NB 3 Condition B: Satisfied. Required values reached for 1 hour. One hour required.

2 AM 0 0 NB 3 See chart for criteria.

3 AM 0 0 NB 3

4 AM 0 0 NB 3 Warrant 4 - Pedestrian Volume

5 AM 0 0 NB 3 Not examined.

6 AM 0 0 NB 3 Criteria - Pedestrian volume crossing the major street is at least 100 per hour

7 AM 1145 170 SB 2         for any 4 hours or at least 190 during any one hour.

8 AM 0 0 NB 3   

9 AM 0 0 NB 3 Warrant 5 - School Crossing

10 AM 0 0 NB 3 Not examined.

11 AM 0 0 NB 3 Criteria - At least 20 students crossing during the highest crossing hour.

12 PM 0 0 NB 3      - Consider implementing other measures, such as warning signs and flashers,

1 PM 0 0 NB 3         school speed zones, school crossing guards, or a grade-separated crossing.

2 PM 0 0 NB 3      - Do not apply at locations where distance to nearest signal is less than 300 feet.

3 PM 1690 247 SB 1

4 PM 0 0 NB 3 Warrant 6 - Coordinated Signal System

5 PM 0 0 NB 3 Not examined

6 PM 0 0 NB 3 Criteria - Adjacent traffic control signals do not provide the necessary degree

7 PM 0 0 NB 3         of platooning.

8 PM 0 0 NB 3      - Proposed and adjacent traffic control signals will collectively provide a 

9 PM 0 0 NB 3         progressive operation.

10 PM 0 0 NB 3      - Warrant should not be used where resultant spacing of traffic control

11 PM 0 0 NB 3         signals would be less than 1,000 feet.

Condition A is the Minimum Vehicular Volume Warrant.

Condition B is the Interruption of Continuous Traffic Warrant.

Condition A+B is the combination of Conditions A and B at 80%.

22-Feb-24 22-Feb-24 193807255

Condition A+B

Meets Criteria?

Condition A

Meets Criteria?

Condition B

Meets Criteria?

  

  

  

193807255

  

  

  

  

  

- - -BOTH- - -

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 Major St 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

- - -BOTH- - -

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

- - -BOTH- - -

  

  

  

  

  

 

- - -A + B- - -

  

  

  

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

- - -A + B- - -

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Page 1 of 2

158



Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis - 2029

Traffic Signal Warrant Summary: Project No.: Traffic Signal Warrant Graphs: Project No.:

Warrant 7 - Crash Experience

Not examined.

Criteria - 5 or more correctable crashes, and

        - Vehicular volumes meeting 80 percent of Warrant 1 condition A or B, or.

        - Pedestrian volumes meeting 80 percent of Warrant 4 conditions.

Warrant 8 - Roadway Network

Not examined.

Criteria - Total existing entering volume of at least 1,000 vehicles per hour during 

        the peak hour of a typical weekday.

     - 5-year projected traffic volumes that meet one or more of Warrants 1, 2, 

        and 3 during an average weekday.

     - Common intersection of two or more major routes.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-Feb-24 22-Feb-24193807255 193807255

Figure 4C-1

Warrant 2 - Four-Hour Vehicular Volume

Warrant 3 - Peak-Hour Vehicular Volume

Figure 4C-3

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

ee
t 

V
o
lu

m
e 

(H
ig

h
 A

p
p

ro
ac

h
 O

n
ly

)

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches)

Warrant Threshold

Intersection Volumes

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800 2000

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

ee
t 

V
o
lu

m
e 

(H
ig

h
 A

p
p
ro

ac
h
 O

n
ly

)

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches)

Warrant Threshold

Intersection Volumes

Page 2 of 2

159



Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis - 2029

Count Date: 18-Jan-24 Project No.: Traffic Signal Warrant Summary: 18-Jan-24 Project No.:

Major Street Approaches: Minor Street Approaches: Warrant 1 - Eight Hour Vehicular Volume

Eastbound: Dayton Southbound: Territorial Condition A: Satisfied. Required values reached for 9 hours. Eight hours required.

Number of Lanes: 4 Number of Lanes: 2 Criteria - Major Street 600 Minor Street 200

Approach Speed: 40 Approach Speed: 30 Condition B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 1 hour. Eight hours required.

Total App. Vehicles: 5,630 Total App. Vehicles: 534 Criteria - Major Street 900 Minor Street 100

Rt Turn Percentage: 100% Rt Turn Percentage: 0% Condition A+B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 3 hours. Requires volumes to meet 80

percent of requirement of A and of B for eight hours, not necessary the same eight hours.

Westbound: Dayton Northbound: Holly Criteria - Major Street 480 720 Minor Street 160 80

Number of Lanes: 4 Number of Lanes: 2

Approach Speed: 40 Approach Speed: 30 Warrant 2 - Four Hour Vehicular Volume

Total App. Vehicles: 2,844 Total App. Vehicles: 4,256 Not satisfied. Required values reached for 2 hours. Four hours required.

Rt Turn Percentage: 100% Rt Turn Percentage: 0% See chart for criteria.

Analysis of Warrant 1:  8-Hour Volumes Warrant 3 - Peak Hour Vehicular Volume

Condition A: Satisfied.

Hour Major Minor Street Criteria - Total Approach Volume: 800

Begin (Total) Volume Direction Rank      - Minor Street High Side Volume: 150

12 AM 0 0 SB 14      - Minor Street High Side Delay:        5 vehicle-hours

1 AM 0 0 SB 14 Condition B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 0 hours. One hour required.

2 AM 0 0 SB 14 See chart for criteria.

3 AM 0 0 SB 14

4 AM 0 0 SB 14 Warrant 4 - Pedestrian Volume

5 AM 0 0 SB 14 Not examined.

6 AM 564 175 NB 13 Criteria - Pedestrian volume crossing the major street is at least 100 per hour

7 AM 945 292 NB 2         for any 4 hours or at least 190 during any one hour.

8 AM 705 233 NB 7   

9 AM 604 222 NB 10 Warrant 5 - School Crossing

10 AM 485 197 NB 11 Not examined.

11 AM 572 226 NB 9 Criteria - At least 20 students crossing during the highest crossing hour.

12 PM 624 250 NB 6      - Consider implementing other measures, such as warning signs and flashers,

1 PM 625 230 NB 8         school speed zones, school crossing guards, or a grade-separated crossing.

2 PM 682 260 NB 4      - Do not apply at locations where distance to nearest signal is less than 300 feet.

3 PM 781 276 NB 3

4 PM 743 332 NB 1 Warrant 6 - Coordinated Signal System

5 PM 649 254 NB 5 Not examined

6 PM 495 197 NB 11 Criteria - Adjacent traffic control signals do not provide the necessary degree

7 PM 0 0 SB 14         of platooning.

8 PM 0 0 SB 14      - Proposed and adjacent traffic control signals will collectively provide a 

9 PM 0 0 SB 14         progressive operation.

10 PM 0 0 SB 14      - Warrant should not be used where resultant spacing of traffic control

11 PM 0 0 SB 14         signals would be less than 1,000 feet.

Condition A is the Minimum Vehicular Volume Warrant.

Condition B is the Interruption of Continuous Traffic Warrant.

Condition A+B is the combination of Conditions A and B at 80%.

A ONLY

A ONLY

A ONLY

A ONLY

 

 

A ONLY

A ONLY

A ONLY

- - -A + B- - -

- - -A + B- - -

A ONLY

A ONLY

 

 

 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

- - -BOTH- - -

 

 

 

 

 

 

A ONLY

- - -A + B- - -

  

  

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

  

 Minor St 

  

  

  

  

  

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

  

  

  

193807255

  

 Minor St 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

  

  

  

Condition A+B

Meets Criteria?

Condition A

Meets Criteria?

Condition B

Meets Criteria?

  

  

  

193807255

Page 1 of 2

160



Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis - 2029

Traffic Signal Warrant Summary: 18-Jan-24 Project No.: Traffic Signal Warrant Graphs: 18-Jan-24 Project No.:

Warrant 7 - Crash Experience

Not examined.

Criteria - 5 or more correctable crashes, and

        - Vehicular volumes meeting 80 percent of Warrant 1 condition A or B, or.

        - Pedestrian volumes meeting 80 percent of Warrant 4 conditions.

Warrant 8 - Roadway Network

Not examined.

Criteria - Total existing entering volume of at least 1,000 vehicles per hour during 

        the peak hour of a typical weekday.

     - 5-year projected traffic volumes that meet one or more of Warrants 1, 2, 

        and 3 during an average weekday.

     - Common intersection of two or more major routes.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Warrant 3 - Peak-Hour Vehicular Volume

Figure 4C-4

193807255 193807255

Figure 4C-1

Warrant 2 - Four-Hour Vehicular Volume

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

ee
t 

V
o
lu

m
e 

(H
ig

h
 A

p
p
ro

ac
h

 O
n

ly
)

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches)

Warrant Threshold

Intersection Volumes

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800 2000

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

ee
t 

V
o
lu

m
e 

(H
ig

h
 A

p
p
ro

ac
h
 O

n
ly

)

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches)

Warrant Threshold

Intersection Volumes

Page 2 of 2

161



Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis - 2025

Count Date: 18-Jan-24 Project No.: Traffic Signal Warrant Summary: 18-Jan-24 Project No.:

Major Street Approaches: Minor Street Approaches: Warrant 1 - Eight Hour Vehicular Volume

Eastbound: Dayton Southbound: Territorial Condition A: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 6 hours. Eight hours required.

Number of Lanes: 4 Number of Lanes: 2 Criteria - Major Street 600 Minor Street 200

Approach Speed: 40 Approach Speed: 30 Condition B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 1 hour. Eight hours required.

Total App. Vehicles: 5,418 Total App. Vehicles: 501 Criteria - Major Street 900 Minor Street 100

Rt Turn Percentage: 100% Rt Turn Percentage: 0% Condition A+B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 2 hours. Requires volumes to meet 80

percent of requirement of A and of B for eight hours, not necessary the same eight hours.

Westbound: Dayton Northbound: Holly Criteria - Major Street 480 720 Minor Street 160 80

Number of Lanes: 4 Number of Lanes: 2

Approach Speed: 40 Approach Speed: 30 Warrant 2 - Four Hour Vehicular Volume

Total App. Vehicles: 2,713 Total App. Vehicles: 4,213 Not satisfied. Required values reached for 2 hours. Four hours required.

Rt Turn Percentage: 100% Rt Turn Percentage: 0% See chart for criteria.

Analysis of Warrant 1:  8-Hour Volumes Warrant 3 - Peak Hour Vehicular Volume

Condition A: Satisfied.

Hour Major Minor Street Criteria - Total Approach Volume: 800

Begin (Total) Volume Direction Rank      - Minor Street High Side Volume: 150

12 AM 0 0 SB 14      - Minor Street High Side Delay:        5 vehicle-hours

1 AM 0 0 SB 14 Condition B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 0 hours. One hour required.

2 AM 0 0 SB 14 See chart for criteria.

3 AM 0 0 SB 14

4 AM 0 0 SB 14 Warrant 4 - Pedestrian Volume

5 AM 0 0 SB 14 Not examined.

6 AM 539 173 NB 13 Criteria - Pedestrian volume crossing the major street is at least 100 per hour

7 AM 909 290 NB 2         for any 4 hours or at least 190 during any one hour.

8 AM 675 232 NB 7   

9 AM 579 220 NB 10 Warrant 5 - School Crossing

10 AM 468 196 NB 11 Not examined.

11 AM 550 223 NB 9 Criteria - At least 20 students crossing during the highest crossing hour.

12 PM 598 248 NB 6      - Consider implementing other measures, such as warning signs and flashers,

1 PM 598 228 NB 8         school speed zones, school crossing guards, or a grade-separated crossing.

2 PM 653 257 NB 4      - Do not apply at locations where distance to nearest signal is less than 300 feet.

3 PM 747 273 NB 3

4 PM 714 327 NB 1 Warrant 6 - Coordinated Signal System

5 PM 624 252 NB 5 Not examined

6 PM 477 196 NB 11 Criteria - Adjacent traffic control signals do not provide the necessary degree

7 PM 0 0 SB 14         of platooning.

8 PM 0 0 SB 14      - Proposed and adjacent traffic control signals will collectively provide a 

9 PM 0 0 SB 14         progressive operation.

10 PM 0 0 SB 14      - Warrant should not be used where resultant spacing of traffic control

11 PM 0 0 SB 14         signals would be less than 1,000 feet.

Condition A is the Minimum Vehicular Volume Warrant.

Condition B is the Interruption of Continuous Traffic Warrant.

Condition A+B is the combination of Conditions A and B at 80%.

A ONLY

A ONLY

 

A ONLY

 

 

A ONLY

A ONLY

A ONLY

- - -A + B- - -

A ONLY

A ONLY

 

 

 

 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

- - -BOTH- - -

 

 

 

 

 

 

A ONLY

- - -A + B- - -

  

  

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

  

 Minor St 

  

  

  

  

  

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

  

  

  

193807255

  

 Minor St 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

 Minor St 

  

  

  

Condition A+B

Meets Criteria?

Condition A

Meets Criteria?

Condition B

Meets Criteria?

  

  

  

193807255

Page 1 of 2

162



Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis - 2025

Traffic Signal Warrant Summary: 18-Jan-24 Project No.: Traffic Signal Warrant Graphs: 18-Jan-24 Project No.:

Warrant 7 - Crash Experience

Not examined.

Criteria - 5 or more correctable crashes, and

        - Vehicular volumes meeting 80 percent of Warrant 1 condition A or B, or.

        - Pedestrian volumes meeting 80 percent of Warrant 4 conditions.

Warrant 8 - Roadway Network

Not examined.

Criteria - Total existing entering volume of at least 1,000 vehicles per hour during 

        the peak hour of a typical weekday.

     - 5-year projected traffic volumes that meet one or more of Warrants 1, 2, 

        and 3 during an average weekday.

     - Common intersection of two or more major routes.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Warrant 3 - Peak-Hour Vehicular Volume

Figure 4C-4

193807255 193807255

Figure 4C-1

Warrant 2 - Four-Hour Vehicular Volume

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

ee
t 

V
o
lu

m
e 

(H
ig

h
 A

p
p
ro

ac
h

 O
n

ly
)

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches)

Warrant Threshold

Intersection Volumes

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800 2000

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

ee
t 

V
o
lu

m
e 

(H
ig

h
 A

p
p
ro

ac
h
 O

n
ly

)

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches)

Warrant Threshold

Intersection Volumes

Page 2 of 2

163



Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis - 2026

Count Date: 18-Jan-24 Project No.: Traffic Signal Warrant Summary: 18-Jan-24 Project No.:

Major Street Approaches: Minor Street Approaches: Warrant 1 - Eight Hour Vehicular Volume

Eastbound: Dayton Southbound: Territorial Condition A: Satisfied. Required values reached for 8 hours. Eight hours required.

Number of Lanes: 4 Number of Lanes: 2 Criteria - Major Street 600 Minor Street 200

Approach Speed: 40 Approach Speed: 30 Condition B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 1 hour. Eight hours required.

Total App. Vehicles: 5,476 Total App. Vehicles: 513 Criteria - Major Street 900 Minor Street 100

Rt Turn Percentage: 100% Rt Turn Percentage: 0% Condition A+B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 3 hours. Requires volumes to meet 80

percent of requirement of A and of B for eight hours, not necessary the same eight hours.

Westbound: Dayton Northbound: Holly Criteria - Major Street 480 720 Minor Street 160 80

Number of Lanes: 4 Number of Lanes: 2

Approach Speed: 40 Approach Speed: 30 Warrant 2 - Four Hour Vehicular Volume

Total App. Vehicles: 2,746 Total App. Vehicles: 4,229 Not satisfied. Required values reached for 2 hours. Four hours required.

Rt Turn Percentage: 100% Rt Turn Percentage: 0% See chart for criteria.

Analysis of Warrant 1:  8-Hour Volumes Warrant 3 - Peak Hour Vehicular Volume

Condition A: Satisfied.

Hour Major Minor Street Criteria - Total Approach Volume: 800

Begin (Total) Volume Direction Rank      - Minor Street High Side Volume: 150

12 AM 0 0 SB 14      - Minor Street High Side Delay:        5 vehicle-hours

1 AM 0 0 SB 14 Condition B: Not satisfied. Required values reached for 0 hours. One hour required.

2 AM 0 0 SB 14 See chart for criteria.

3 AM 0 0 SB 14

4 AM 0 0 SB 14 Warrant 4 - Pedestrian Volume

5 AM 0 0 SB 14 Not examined.

6 AM 546 174 NB 13 Criteria - Pedestrian volume crossing the major street is at least 100 per hour

7 AM 918 291 NB 2         for any 4 hours or at least 190 during any one hour.

8 AM 683 232 NB 7   

9 AM 586 221 NB 10 Warrant 5 - School Crossing

10 AM 472 197 NB 11 Not examined.

11 AM 556 224 NB 9 Criteria - At least 20 students crossing during the highest crossing hour.

12 PM 606 249 NB 6      - Consider implementing other measures, such as warning signs and flashers,

1 PM 607 229 NB 8         school speed zones, school crossing guards, or a grade-separated crossing.

2 PM 661 258 NB 4      - Do not apply at locations where distance to nearest signal is less than 300 feet.

3 PM 754 273 NB 3

4 PM 722 328 NB 1 Warrant 6 - Coordinated Signal System

5 PM 630 253 NB 5 Not examined

6 PM 481 197 NB 11 Criteria - Adjacent traffic control signals do not provide the necessary degree

7 PM 0 0 SB 14         of platooning.

8 PM 0 0 SB 14      - Proposed and adjacent traffic control signals will collectively provide a 

9 PM 0 0 SB 14         progressive operation.

10 PM 0 0 SB 14      - Warrant should not be used where resultant spacing of traffic control

11 PM 0 0 SB 14         signals would be less than 1,000 feet.

Condition A is the Minimum Vehicular Volume Warrant.

Condition B is the Interruption of Continuous Traffic Warrant.

Condition A+B is the combination of Conditions A and B at 80%.

193807255

Condition A+B

Meets Criteria?

Condition A

Meets Criteria?

Condition B

Meets Criteria?

  

  

  

193807255

  

 Minor St 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

 Minor St 

  

  

  

  

  

  

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

- - -BOTH- - -

  

  

  

  

  

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

  

 Minor St 

  

  

 Minor St 

- - -BOTH- - -

 

 

 

 

 

 

A ONLY

- - -A + B- - -

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 Minor St 

 

A ONLY

A ONLY

A ONLY

- - -A + B- - -

- - -A + B- - -

A ONLY

A ONLY

 

 

 

A ONLY

A ONLY

 

A ONLY

 

Page 1 of 2

164



Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis - 2026

Traffic Signal Warrant Summary: 18-Jan-24 Project No.: Traffic Signal Warrant Graphs: 18-Jan-24 Project No.:

Warrant 7 - Crash Experience

Not examined.

Criteria - 5 or more correctable crashes, and

        - Vehicular volumes meeting 80 percent of Warrant 1 condition A or B, or.

        - Pedestrian volumes meeting 80 percent of Warrant 4 conditions.

Warrant 8 - Roadway Network

Not examined.

Criteria - Total existing entering volume of at least 1,000 vehicles per hour during 

        the peak hour of a typical weekday.

     - 5-year projected traffic volumes that meet one or more of Warrants 1, 2, 

        and 3 during an average weekday.

     - Common intersection of two or more major routes.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

193807255 193807255

Figure 4C-1

Warrant 2 - Four-Hour Vehicular Volume

Warrant 3 - Peak-Hour Vehicular Volume

Figure 4C-4

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

ee
t 

V
o
lu

m
e 

(H
ig

h
 A

p
p
ro

ac
h

 O
n

ly
)

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches)

Warrant Threshold

Intersection Volumes

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800 2000

M
in

o
r 

S
tr

ee
t 

V
o
lu

m
e 

(H
ig

h
 A

p
p
ro

ac
h
 O

n
ly

)

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches)

Warrant Threshold

Intersection Volumes

Page 2 of 2

165



 

 

 
 

 

Stantec is a global leader in sustainable 
architecture, engineering, and environmental 
consulting. The diverse perspectives of our 
partners and interested parties drive us to 
think beyond what’s previously been done on 
critical issues like climate change, digital 
transformation, and future-proofing our cities 
and infrastructure. We innovate at the 
intersection of community, creativity, and 
client relationships to advance communities 
everywhere, so that together we can redefine 
what’s possible. 

166



 

  

  

 

Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 
One Carlson Parkway North, Suite 100 
Plymouth MN  55447-4440 

May 20, 2025 

Dayton City Council 
12260 S Diamond Lake Rd 
Dayton, MN 55327 

Dear Dayton City Council, 

As requested, Stantec has prepared a project scope, schedule, and budget proposal for the Dayton 
Parkway Traffic Signal Improvements project. The scope includes survey, design of preparations of plans 
for the proposed improvements of the two (2) intersections for installation of traffic signals, and 
administration of bid letting.  

Background 

The Dayton Parkway Interchange was opened in 2022. Construction included signalization of the 

Dayton Parkway connection at Brockton Lane (CR-101), as well as at the two access ramp 

intersections; with the connection at CSAH-81 having already been signalized. The expectation has 

been that the future/planned intersection between Brockton Lane and the interchange would be 

signalized when the area develops, and the existing Holly Lane/Territorial Road intersection would be 

signalized when warranted. 

There are currently proposed developments that require access to the future/planned intersection. 

Additionally, there are currently proposed developments that will put additional pressure on the Holly 

Lane/Territorial Road intersection, to a magnitude that is expected to trigger warrants for signalization. 

The feasibility report was recently completed with recommendations for signals at both intersections.  

 

Scope of Work 

Task 1 – Project Management 

1.1 – Project Coordination and Administration 

This task includes activities to oversee the project components including budget and schedule. Direction is 

provided to maintain expectations and follow the quality management process to produce and deliver high 

quality deliverables.  We will monitor the project schedule to meet critical dates for approvals and project 

benchmarks. We will manage the project within the programmed budget, provide quality control assurance, 

and help achieve compliance with state and federal laws, rules, and regulations. 

 

1.2 – Quality Management 

167



May 20, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 2 of 4 

Reference: Dayton Parkway Traffic Signals 

  

 
  

 

Stantec will administer a project specific Quality Management Plan (QMP), which addresses specific project 

needs and deliverables. The basic format for the quality certification will be a design criteria conformance 

check, independent peer review, and verification format. Upon completion of the quality check process, the 

project manager will sign and date items as approved. Stantec will meet our ISO 9001 certification 

requirements and internal Design Bid Build QMP. Stantec uses Bluebeam Revu for the quality reviews of 

the report and design plan deliverables.   

Task 1 – Deliverables Summary 

• Monthly Invoicing, status, and progress reports 

• Maps, drawings, agendas, and minutes for meetings as needed. 

 

Task 2 – Survey 

2.1 – Existing Information 

Stantec will collect and review available mapping, including aerial photographs, right-of- way mapping, 

recorded plats, easements, utility base maps, development plans, and record plans, agency standards, and 

design details. We will review the information assembled to confirm its adequacy and supplement the 

information with field surveys if needed. 

2.2 – Private Utilities 

Stantec will collect and review existing utility information and perform a Gopher State One Call (GSOC) 

request for information. All public and private utility information will be reviewed for adequacy and 

supplemented with field surveys as necessary. 

2.3 – Survey 

Stantec will conduct a field survey for Dayton Pkwy at each intersection (2 locations total) to pick up utilities 

and supplement existing data available.  

Task 2 – Deliverables Summary 

• Topographical drawings in AutoCAD format 

 

Task 3 – Signal Design and Final Plans 

3.1 – ADA Plans 

Stantec will provide intersection and ADA plans for the revised curb radiuses as coordinated with the 

developers.  Intersection revisions are only anticipated at the west intersection. 

 

168



May 20, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 3 of 4 

Reference: Dayton Parkway Traffic Signals 

  

 
  

 

 

 

3.2 – Signal Design, Plans and Specifications 
 
Stantec will complete a signal design and develop plans in accordance with Hennepin County and State Aid 
Standards. Stantec will prepare a specification package, including MNDOT’s Division SS – Signals. 

Task 3 – Deliverables Summary 

• Final State Aid approved plans for ADA and Signal Improvements 

• Specification Package and Division SS  

 

Task 4 – Bid Letting 

4.1 – Bid Letting 

This task involves the coordination of soliciting contractor bids or quotes for the construction of the 

improvement project.  This includes advertisement of the project, completion of the bid opening process, 

and preparation of a tabulation of the received bids along with a recommendation for award. 

Task 4 – Deliverables Summary 

• Deliverables will include a contractor bid tabulation and award recommendation. 

 

Fee and Schedule 

Project Budget 

We estimate the fee to provide the scope as described to be outlined below. 
 

Task Task Cost 

Task 1 – Project Management $ 3,200 

Task 2 – Survey $ 5,600 

Task 3 – Signal Design, Final Plans and 
Specifications $ 29,000 

Task 4 – Bid Letting $ 3,500 

Subtotal $ 42,300 

  

Subconsultants & Reimbursable Expenses $2,000 

                                                                              
Total $ 43,300  

 

169



May 20, 2025 
Dayton City Council 
Page 4 of 4 

Reference: Dayton Parkway Traffic Signals 

  

 
  

 

Stantec will complete this scope of work according to the Master Service Agreement and previous practices 
with the City of Dayton.  
 
Any changes to the project scope or estimated hours to complete the work will be communicated to the city 
in a timely fashion. Stantec will not proceed with additional services or services outside of the scope of work 
contained in this letter without approval from the City.  

Project Schedule 

Notice to Proceed  June 2025 
Final Plans    July 2025 
Bid opening   August 2025 
Construction   September 2025 

We hope this letter defines the of scope work and the estimated fee of services to your satisfaction.  On 

behalf of our Stantec team, we thank you for this opportunity to be of service to your community.   

Regards, 

Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 

 

  
 

  

Theresa Maahs-Henderson PE  
Principal, Business Center 
Operations Leader 
Phone: 612.712.2083  
Theresa.maahs@stantec.com 

 

 

 Jason Quisberg PE  
City Engineer 
Phone: 763.252.5673  
jason.quisberg@stantec.com 

 

 

 
By signing this proposal, City of Dayton authorizes Stantec to proceed with the services herein described 
and the work will be completed in accordance with the existing Master Service Agreement.  
 
This proposal is accepted and agreed on the ___________ day of _________, _________.  

  

Per:      __________________________                  

    

  

 _____________________________  __________________________ 

Print Name & Title     Signature 

170



  Meeting Date: 5/27/25 
  Item Number:  T. 

 

ITEM:  
 
Ordinance 2025-14; updating City code Chapter 31   
 
PREPARED BY:  
 
Amy Benting, Assistant City Administrator/City Clerk 
 
POLICY DECISION / ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED: 
 
Approval of Ordinance 2025-14; updating City code Chapter 31   
 
BACKGROUND: 

Staff has evaluated the scope and requirements involved in reviewing and updating the 
City Code. This undertaking is substantial and would involve significant costs if 
outsourced to an external consultant. 

As an alternative, staff recommends a phased, internal approach in which City Code is 
reviewed and updated chapter by chapter. This method would allow progress to be 
made incrementally within current resources, while also providing an opportunity for City 
Council to engage in the review process and gain a comprehensive understanding of 
the Code. This approach can continue until the task is completed or until funding 
becomes available for full outsourcing. 
 

ACTION: 
 
Approval of Ordinance 2025-14; updating City code Chapter 31  
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  
 
Ordinance 2025-14  

171



ORDINANACE 2025-14 

CITY OF DAYTON 

HENNEPIN AND WRIGHT COUNTIES, MINNESOTA 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING DAYTON CITY CODE CHAPTER 31 MAYOR AND COUNCIL  

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAYTON DOES ORDAIN: 

SECTION 1 AMENDMENT. DAYTON CITY CODE CHAPTER 31 MAYOR AND COUNCIL IS 
HEREBY amended by adding the following underlined language and deleting the following 
strikethrough language, which reads as follows: 

CHAPTER 31: MAYOR AND COUNCIL 

Section 

   31.01   Meetings 

   31.02   Presiding officer 

   31.03   Minutes 

   31.04   Order of business 

   31.05   Quorum and voting 

   31.06   Ordinances, resolutions, motions, petitions and communications 

   31.07   Committees 

   31.08   Suspension or amendment of rules 

   31.09   Salary and expense reimbursement 

   31.10   Vacancy 

 

§ 31.01 MEETINGS. 

   (A)   Regular meetings. Regular meetings of the Council shall be held on the second 
Tuesday of each calendar month at 7:00 6:30p.m. Any regular meeting falling upon a 
holiday shall be held on the next following business day or rescheduled at the previous 
Council meeting and will take place at the same scheduled time and place. A second 
monthly meeting shall be held on the fourth Tuesday of each calendar month at 7:00 6:30 
p.m. All meetings of the City Council shall adjourn at 11:00 p.m., unless a majority of the 
quorum present agree to continue past that time. This second monthly meeting may be 
held on a day other than Tuesday, or cancelled at the option of the Council. The 

172



determination of any date changes or cancellation with regard to the second monthly 
meeting shall be made at the regular monthly meeting or by notice as provided in division 
(B) below. All meetings including special meetings shall be held in the City Hall unless 
another public location is designated by the Council. 

   (B)   Special meetings. Special meetings of the Council will be called by the Mayor or by 
any two members of the Council by writing filed with the Clerk. At least one day before the 
meeting, the Clerk shall notify each member of the time, place and purpose of the meeting 
by causing written notice thereof to be delivered to him or her personally or by leaving a 
copy at the home of some person of suitable age and discretion. Special meetings may be 
held without prior written notice when all Council members are present at the meeting or 
consent thereto in writing. Such consent shall be filed with the Clerk prior to the beginning 
of the meeting. Any special meeting attended by all the Council members shall be a valid 
meeting for the transaction of any business that may come before the meeting. All special 
meetings must be preceded by a notice of such meeting being posted at City Hall. and two 
other public places. 

   (C)   First meeting. At the first regular Council meeting in January of each year, the Council 
shall: 

      (1)   Designate the depositories of city funds; 

      (2)   Designate the official newspaper; 

      (3)   Choose an acting Mayor from the Council members who shall perform the duties of 
the Mayor during the disability or absence of the Mayor from the city or, in case of a 
vacancy in the Office of the Mayor, until a successor has been appointed and qualifies; and 

      (4)   Appoint such officers and employees and such members of boards, commissions 
and committees as may be necessary. 

   (D)   Open to public. All Council meetings, including special and adjourned meetings, shall 
be open to the public in accordance with the State Open Meeting Law, M.S. §§ 13D.01 et 
seq., as it may be amended from time to time. 

§ 31.02 PRESIDING OFFICER. 

   (A)   The Mayor. The Mayor shall preside at all meetings of the Council. In the absence of 
the Mayor, the acting Mayor shall preside. In the absence of both, the Clerk shall call the 
meeting to order and shall preside until the Council members present at the meeting 
choose one of their number to act temporarily as presiding officer. 

   (B)   Duties. The presiding officer shall preserve order, enforce the rules of procedure 
herein prescribed and determine, without debate, subject to the final decision of the 
Council on appeal, all questions of procedure and order. Except as otherwise provided by 
statute or by these rules, the proceedings of the Council shall be conducted in accordance 
with Robert’s Rules of Order Revised. 

   (C)   Appeals from Chair. Any member may appeal to the Council from a ruling of the 
presiding officer. If the appeal is seconded, the member may speak once solely on the 

173



question involved, and the presiding officer may explain his or her ruling, but no other 
Council member shall participate in the discussion. The appeal shall be sustained if it is 
approved by the majority of the members present exclusive of the presiding officer. 

   (D)   Participation. The Mayor or such other members of the Council as may be presiding 
may move, second and debate from the Chair. The presiding officer shall not be deprived of 
any of the privileges of a Council member by reason of his or her acting as the presiding 
officer. 

§ 31.03 MINUTES. 

   (A)   Clerk to keep. Minutes of each Council meeting shall be kept by the Clerk, Deputy 
Clerk or other designated person. Ordinances, resolutions and claims need not be recorded 
in full in the minutes if they appear in other permanent records of the Clerk and can be 
accurately identified from the description given in the minutes. 

   (B)   Approval. The minutes of each meeting shall be reduced to typewritten form and 
shall be signed by the Clerk; copies thereof shall be delivered to each Council member. At 
the next regular Council meeting following such delivery, approval of the minutes shall be 
considered by the Council. The minutes need not be read aloud, but the presiding officer 
shall call for any additions or corrections. If there is no objection to the proposed addition 
or correction, it may be made without a vote of Council. If there is an objection, the Council 
shall vote upon the addition or correction. If there are no additions or corrections, the 
minutes shall stand approved. 

 

§ 31.04 ORDER OF BUSINESS. 

   (A)   Order of business. Each meeting of the Council shall convene at the time and place 
appointed therefor. Council business shall be conducted in the following order: 

      (1)   Call to order; 

      (2)   Approval of minutes; 

      (3)   Open forum; 

      (4)   Payment of claims; 

      (5)   Public hearings; 

      (6)   Consent agenda; 

      (7)   Petitions, requests and communications; 

      (8)   Ordinances and resolutions; 

      (9)   Reports of officers, boards and committees; 

      (10)   Unfinished business; 

174



      (11)   New business; 

      (12)   Miscellaneous; and 

      (13)   Adjournment. 

   (B)   Variance of order. The order of proceedings may be altered by motion or consensus 
of the Council. 

   (C) (A)  Agenda. An agenda of business for each regular Council meeting shall be prepared 
and filed in the office of the Clerk not later than the Wednesday next preceding the meeting. 
The agenda shall be prepared in accordance with the order of business and copies thereof 
shall be delivered to each Council member and to the City Attorney as far in advance of the 
meeting as time for preparation will permit. No item of business shall be considered unless 
it appears on the agenda for the meeting, but the Council may, by motion, in its discretion, 
consider matters not appearing on the agenda. 

   (D) (B)  Consent agenda. Any number of items of a routine nature, including, but not 
limited to, license renewals, authorizations for purchase and other matters not requiring 
Council debate, may be placed on the consent agenda by the Clerk in the preparation of the 
agenda. The consent agenda shall have the description of the item considered, costs, if any, 
and such other information as is necessary to enable the Council to render a decision. All, 
or any, of the items on the consent agenda may be moved as a whole with one motion. 
Failure to adopt or pass an item on the consent agenda will cause it to be placed under the 
new business category of the agenda for that meeting and considered at that time. 

   (E) (C)  Open forum. There shall be reserved at the beginning of each Council meeting a 
period of 20 minutes, or such shorter period as needed, at approximately 7:10 p.m., for any 
person to address the Council on city matters. Each speaker shall be registered and be 
limited to five three minutes, or as set by the Mayor. The Council will not take action on any 
items initially raised during the open forum, except in the case of emergency, other than 
placement on a later agenda or referral to an appropriate city officer or employee. 

§ 31.05 QUORUM AND VOTING. 

   (A)   Quorum and punishment for non-attendance. At all Council meetings, the majority of 
all the Council members elected shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, 
but a smaller number may adjourn from time to time. 

   (B)   Voting. The votes of the members of any question pending before the Council may be 
by voice vote, standing vote or in any other manner of voting which signifies the intention 
of the members, and the names of those voting for and against the question shall be 
recorded in the minutes. If any member, being present, does not vote, the minutes, as to his 
or her name, shall be marked “Present - Not Voting”. 

   (C)   Requisite majority. A majority vote of all members of the Council shall be necessary 
for approval of any ordinance unless a larger number is required by statute. Except as 
otherwise provided by statute, a majority vote of a quorum shall prevail in all other cases. 

 

175



§ 31.06 ORDINANCES, RESOLUTIONS, MOTIONS, PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS. 

   (A)   Presentation. Every ordinance and resolution shall be presented in writing and shall 
be read in full before a vote is taken thereon, but reading in full may be dispensed with by 
unanimous consent. All motions shall be recorded in the minutes and stated in full before 
they are submitted to a vote by the presiding officer. All petitions addressed to the Council 
shall be in writing and shall be read in full upon presentation to the Council, but reading in 
full may be dispensed with by unanimous consent. Other communications addressed to the 
Council shall be summarized, but, upon the request of any Council member, shall be read in 
full. They shall then be recorded in the minutes by title when designated and filed in their 
respective categories in the office of the Clerk. 

   (B)   Signing and filing. Every ordinance and resolution passed by the Council shall be 
signed by the Mayor, attested by the Clerk and filed by him or her in the ordinance or 
resolution book. Proof of publication of every ordinance shall be attached to and filed with 
the ordinance. 

   (C)   Repealers. 

      (1)   Every ordinance which repeals any section or part of this code shall set forth the 
section number of the section in part thereof to be repealed. Every ordinance or resolution 
repealing a previous ordinance, not within this code, or resolution or a section or division 
thereof shall give the number, if any, and the title of the ordinance or resolution to be 
repealed in whole or in part. 

      (2)   No ordinance or resolution or subdivision or section thereof shall be amended by 
reference to title alone, but such amending ordinance shall set forth as much of the text as 
is necessary to set forth for the Council intent of the amendment. 

(1978 Code, § 201.06) (Ord. 79-2, passed 2-20-1979) 

 

§ 31.07 COMMITTEES. 

   (A)   The Council may create such committees, standing or special, as it deems necessary. 

   (B)   Such committees shall consist of as many members and perform such duties as the 
Council may require. 

(1978 Code, § 201.07) 

 

§ 31.08 SUSPENSION OR AMENDMENT OF RULES. 

   These rules, or any of them, may be temporarily suspended by a majority vote of all of the 
Council members, and shall not be repealed or amended, except by a majority vote of the 
whole Council after notice has been given at some preceding Council meeting. 

(1978 Code, § 201.08) 

176



 

§ 31.09 SALARY AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT. 

   (A)   Salary established.  

      (1)   The City Council shall be compensated at a rate equal to the median amount of 
other cities with populations of 1,000 people both larger and smaller than the city’s 
population rounded to the nearest thousand. City Council stipend amount shall be 
recalculated and go into effect the January following a general election. Example, if the city 
is at 5,300 population, then the City Council compensation shall be set at the median 
amount of other cities with populations from 4,000 - 6,000 people.  

      (2)   All salaries shall be payable in two equal semi-annual installments in June and 
December. 

   (B)   Expense reimbursement. The Mayor and each Council member shall be reimbursed 
at the rate established from time to time for city staff members. 

(1978 Code, § 201.09) (Ord. 86-8A, passed 9-15-1986; Ord. 91-10, passed 7-1-1991; Ord. 
2008-15, passed 8-12-2008; Ord. 2013-04, passed 3-26-2013; Ord. 2014-15, passed 10-14-
2014) 

 

§ 31.10 VACANCY. 

   (A)   Filling vacancy. Vacancies on the City Council must be filled pursuant to M.S.§ 412.02, 
Subd. 2a, as it may be amended from time to time. 

   (B)   Appointment to vacancy. Pursuant to M.S.§ 412.02, Subd. 2a, as it may be amended 
from time to time, a person shall be appointed to fill the vacancy until the special election is 
held and the winner of the special election is qualified to take office. 

   (C)   Special election timing. If a vacancy occurs and a special election to fill the unexpired 
term is required pursuant to M.S. § 412.02, Subd. 2a, as it may be amended from time to 
time, then the special election to fill the vacancy shall be held at and along with the next 
scheduled city election. 

(Ord. 2014-13, passed 10-14-2014; Ord. 2021-15, passed 7-27-2021) 

177


	05-27-25 Agenda
	Sheet1

	A. 05-13-2025 CC minutes
	CALL TO ORDER
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	Presentation Of Fire Poster Winner (Third Grader)
	CONSENT AGENDA
	OPEN FORUM
	STAFF, CONSULTANT, AND COUNCIL UPDATES
	COUNCIL BUSINESS
	New Business
	N. Audit Presentation (moved in approval of agenda)
	K. Easement Discussion on Lawndale (from last meeting)
	L. Quarterly Report for Q1 2025
	M. Bernens Concept Plan

	COUNCIL BUSINESS
	Action Items
	O. Resolution 30-2025; Supporting the Placing of Land in the Metropolitan Ag Preserve for Salonek and Ordinance 2025-13; Amending Zoning District
	P. Approval to Post for Full Time Fire

	Adjournment

	B. CC worksessions minutes
	Call to Order
	Work Session on Fire Department Staffing Model
	Current Staffing Model and Challenges
	Proposed Staffing Model
	Call Volume and Demographics
	Proposed Duty Crew Model
	Discussion on Call Types and Response
	Consideration of Full-Time Positions
	Financial Considerations
	Next Steps

	Adjournment

	C. 05-27-2025 Payment of Claims
	05.27.2025 cover
	05-27-2025

	05.27.2025 claims
	InvoiceRegister


	D. Renewal Liquor Licenses
	F. Wellhouse #5-Pay Req #9
	G1. 2025 Full-Time Hire Christian McCarty
	G2. 2025 Full-Time Hire Josiah Needham
	G3.2025 Part-Time Hire Marlan Salazar
	H. TRPD and resolution
	H 00 TRPD purchase of 17060 Dayton River Road
	H resolution  TRPD purchase of 17060 Dayton River Road

	I. EDA resignation
	staff report EDA Resignation
	Juan resignation

	J. ESP NORTH PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE, PAY APPLICATION 1
	K. PARK IRRIGATION WELL DRILLING PAY INVOICES
	L. WATER TRAIL CONTRACT AMENDMENT #3
	M. PARK IRRIGATION INSTALLATION PAY APPLICATION 1
	N. WELL HEAD TREATMENT PAY APP 12
	O. Resolution34-25;  John D'Agostini Gym Equipment donation to PD
	P. Staff Report - 2026 Budget Kickoff Discussion
	Q. Pkwy Neighborhood Infrastructure Imps_Auth P&S
	R. 01 113th Ave French Lake Rd Moratorium Concept Plans
	S. Dayton Parkway Signalization_Auth P&S
	T. Ord 25-14; chapter 31
	t ord 2025-14; chapter 31
	chapter 31 




